ACUTE BRONCHODILATOR EFFECTS OF TOLL-LIKE RECEPTOR 7 AGONISTS

by

Elad H. Kaufman

A DISSERTATION

Presented to the Department of Physiology and Pharmacology and the Oregon Health & Science University School of Medicine in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy January 2011 School of Medicine

Oregon Health & Science University

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

This is to certify that the Ph.D. dissertation of Elad H. Kaufman Has been approved

David Jacoby, M.D., Mentor/Advisor

Allison Fryer, Ph.D., Advisor

George Giraud, M.D., Ph.D., Member

Jeff Gold, M.D., Member

Mary Stenzel-Poore, Ph.D., Member

Steve Hall, M.D., Ph.D., Member

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION		PAGE
IND	INDEX OF FIGURES	
ACK	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS PUBLICATIONS	
PUE		
ABS	STRACT	xiv
<u>CH</u> A	APTER I.	
INT	RODUCTION	1
A.	AIRWAY ANATOMY	2
	1. Lung architecture and function	2
	2. Airway nerves	3
	3. Airway smooth muscle	6
	4. Airway epithelium	7
	5. Submucosal glands	9
	6. Immune cells and structures	9
B.	AIRWAY SMOOTH MUSCLE	9
	1. Contractile mechanism	10
	2. Excitation-contraction coupling	10
	3. Calcium signaling and calcium sensitivity	11
	4. Signaling pathways regulating airway smooth muscle	

	contractility	14
	5. Inflammation	21
С.	ASTHMA	27
	1. Characteristics	27
	2. Causes of disease development and exacerbations	35
	3. Therapies	41
	4. Animal models	46
D.	INNATE IMMUNITY AND TOLL-LIKE RECEPTOR 7	54
	1. The innate immune system	54
	2. Toll-like receptors (TLRs)	56
	3. Toll-like receptor 7 and Toll-like receptor 8	59
E.	HYPOTHESIS AND RESEARCH AIMS	70
<u>CHAI</u>	PTER II.	
GENI	ERAL METHODS	73
A.	ANIMALS AND TISSUES	74
	1. Choice of animals versus humans	74
	2. Guinea pigs	74
	3. Mice	74
	4. Human tracheas	76

В.	MEASUREMENTS OF AIRWAY PHYSIOLOGY	76
	1. <i>In vivo</i> guinea pig bronchoconstriction	76
	2. In vitro contraction of isolated guinea pig trachea	77
	3. In vitro contraction of isolated human trachea	78
	4. In vitro contraction of isolated mouse trachea	78
C.	MATERIALS	83
D.	STATISTICS	83
<u>CHA</u> TOI	PTER III.	
BRO	NCHODILATION WITHIN MINUTES OF	
ADM	INISTRATION IN GUINEA PIGS, MICE, AND HUMANS.	84
ABS'	TRACT	85
INTRODUCTION		86
EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN		89
RES	RESULTS	
DISCUSSION 1		

CHAPTER IV.

THE MECHANISM OF TOLL-LIKE RECEPTOR 7 AGONIST-		
MEDIATED BRONCHODILATION INVOLVES		
PROSTAGLANDINS, A LARGE CONDUCTANCE CALCIUM-		
GATED POTASSIUM CHANNEL, AND NITRIC OXIDE.	105	
ABSTRACT	106	
INTRODUCTION	108	
EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN	112	
RESULTS	113	
DISCUSSION	133	

CHAPTER V.

THE EFFECT OF TOLL-LIKE RECEPTOR 7 AGONISTS		
ON BRONCHODILATION IN ANIMAL MODELS OF ASTHMA.	144	
ABSTRACT	145	
INTRODUCTION	147	
EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN	151	
RESULTS	156	
DISCUSSION	171	
<u>CHAPTER VI.</u>		
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	177	
REFERENCES	198	

INDEX OF FIGURES

	PAGE
Schematics of airway smooth muscle contraction	
and relaxation mediated by intracellular calcium and	
membrane potential.	22
Signaling mechanisms regulating airway smooth	
muscle contraction and relaxation.	24
The asthmatic human airway is obstructed by	
inflammation and hyperreactive airway smooth	
muscle contraction, making breathing difficult.	51
Inhibitory M2 muscarinic receptors and airway	
hyperreactivity mediated by M2 dysfunction	
following virus-induced eosinophil activation.	52
Canonical Toll-like receptor ligands and signaling.	68
	Schematics of airway smooth muscle contraction and relaxation mediated by intracellular calcium and membrane potential. Signaling mechanisms regulating airway smooth muscle contraction and relaxation. The asthmatic human airway is obstructed by inflammation and hyperreactive airway smooth muscle contraction, making breathing difficult. Inhibitory M2 muscarinic receptors and airway hyperreactivity mediated by M2 dysfunction following virus-induced eosinophil activation. Canonical Toll-like receptor ligands and signaling.

FIGURE 2.1.	<i>In vivo</i> measurement of bronchoconstriction.	80
FIGURE 2.2.	<i>In vitro</i> measurement of tracheal contraction.	81

CHAPTER III.

FIGURE 3.1.	A TLR7 agonist, R837, inhibits bronchoconstriction	
	in guinea pigs <i>in vivo</i> .	94
FIGURE 3.2.	A TLR7 agonist, R837, relaxes isolated guinea pig	
	trachea <i>in vitro</i> .	95
FIGURE 3.3.	R837-mediated inhibition of guinea pig airway	
	smooth muscle contraction is not dependent on	
	airway epithelium.	96
FIGURE 3.4.	Other TLR7 agonists also relax isolated guinea pig	
	trachea <i>in vitro</i> , but not TLR2 or TLR5 agonists.	97
FIGURE 3.5.	TLR7 agonists inhibit contraction of isolated	
	human and mouse trachea <i>in vitro</i> .	99

CHAPTER IV.

FIGURE 4.1.	The TLR7 antagonist, IRS661, partially reverses	
	R837-mediated relaxation and completely reverses	
	PolyUs- and PolyAs-mediated relaxations, but does	
	not reverse β 2-AR mediated relaxation of isolated	
	guinea pig trachea <i>in vitro.</i>	121
FIGURE 4.2.	The MyD88 inhibitor peptide does not block	
	R837-mediated relaxation of guinea pig trachea in	
	vitro, but it also does not block R837-mediated	
	NF-κB signaling <i>in vitro</i> .	122

FIGURE 4.3.	R837-mediated relaxation of isolated guinea pig	
	trachea in vitro is partially reversed by	
	indomethacin, an inhibitor of prostaglandin	
	synthesis.	123
FIGURE 4.4.	R837-mediated relaxation of isolated guinea pig	
	trachea in vitro is partially reversed by paxilline,	
	a MaxiK potassium channel blocker.	124
FIGURE 4.5.	R837- but not PolyUs-mediated relaxation of	
	isolated guinea pig trachea in vitro is partially	
	reversed by L-NMMA, a nitric oxide synthase	
	inhibitor.	125
FIGURE 4.6.	The effect of inhibition of prostaglandin synthesis	
	or the MaxiK potassium channel, but not inhibition	
	of nitric oxide synthesis, is additive with TLR7	
	blockade.	126
FIGURE 4.7.	Adenosine receptor antagonists do not induce	
	relaxation and partially reverse the effect of	
	R837-mediated relaxation of isolated guinea pig	
	trachea in vitro, and adenosine agonist-mediated	
	bronchodilation is not reversed by a TLR7	
	antagonist.	127

FIGURE 4.8.	The TLR7 antagonist, IRS661, and the nitric oxide	
	synthase inhibitor, L-NMMA, almost completely	
	reverse R837-mediated relaxation of human trachea	
	in vitro, but not PolyUs-mediated relaxation of	
	human trachea.	129
FIGURE 4.9.	R837 and PolyUs relax contraction of tracheas	
	from wildtype and TLR7-deficient mice, but the	
	TLR7 antagonist, IRS661, only reverses relaxation	
	of wildtype mouse tracheas in vitro.	130
FIGURE 4.10.	The nitric oxide synthase inhibitor L-NMMA	
	reverses R837-mediated relaxations in both	
	wildtype and TLR7-deficient mouse tracheas	
	in vitro.	132
FIGURE 4.11	Proposed model of TLR7-dependent and TLR8-	
	dependent airway smooth muscle relaxant effects	
	of TLR7/8 agonists in humans.	143

CHAPTER V.

FIGURE 5.1.	R837 is less potent in allergen-sensitized guinea	
	pigs <i>in vivo</i> due to the absence of a high-potency	
	relaxant phase of the R837 dose-response.	164

FIGURE 5.2.	Isolated human eosinophils express TLR7, and expression is	
	potentiated by pretreatment with interferon- γ .	166
FIGURE 5.3.	Depletion of eosinophils with an antibody to IL-5	
	does not rescue the potency of R837-mediated	
	bronchodilation in allergen-sensitized guinea pigs	
	in vivo.	167
FIGURE 5.4.	There is no difference in the relaxant potency of	
	R837 in mouse tracheas in vitro from allergen	
	sensitized, allergen sensitized and challenged,	
	and transgenic models with overexpression of	
	IL-5 or eosinophils in the lungs.	168
FIGURE 5.5.	The relaxant potency of R837 is reduced in	
	Sendai virus-infected guinea pigs <i>in vivo</i> , but not	
	Sendai virus-infected mouse tracheas in vitro.	168
FIGURE 5.6.	Hypothesized effect of TLR7-mediated	
	bronchodilation in the presence of TLR7-mediated	
	eosinophil activation by the agonist R837.	176

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank the members of my thesis committee: Dr. Allison Fryer, Dr. George Giraud, Dr. Jeff Gold, Dr. Steve Hall, Dr. David Jacoby, and Dr. Mary Stenzel-Poore. I have greatly appreciated the intellectual discourse, patience, and flexibility of all of the esteemed members on my committee, who made our meetings productive, and contributed so much to my dissertation.

I would like to thank especially my mentor, Dr. David Jacoby. From the moment I joined the lab, he made himself available at all hours of the day for advice or encouragement. He gave me the latitude to explore my interests and ideas while not letting me stray too far from the main goal. His wit and sense of humor filled my graduate school experience with fun and laughter. I learned something new every day from his bottomless cache of scientific and clinical knowledge. His patience was especially well-tailored for dealing with my personality. I gained valuable insight from his hilarious anecdotes about everything from child rearing to manuscript writing. Since I joined the lab, I have never taken for granted the amazing situation in which I found myself owing to Dr.Jacoby – working at the cutting-edge of the profession. I feel very lucky to have had the opportunity to work with such an amazing scientist and person as Dr. Jacoby.

I would also like to thank Dr. Allison Fryer for her mentorship and support. Dr. Fryer is an amazing scientist and excellent administrator. Despite her busy schedule,

Х

she always stayed in touch with my work, and never failed to give excellent advice. She taught me the valuable *in vivo* technique I used in my thesis, a skill I never thought I could master. This is a tribute to her skill and patience. Together with Dr. Jacoby, Dr. Fryer made the lab feel like a family, and I also felt warmly welcomed at frequent celebrations at their home.

I am very grateful to all the members of the Fryer and Jacoby laboratories during my time in the lab. Together, we have a unique combination of personalities that complement each other well both scientifically and socially. I consider them all as great friends with whom I hope to remain in touch. In particular, Elizabeth Bivins-Smith who is a talented scientist kept the lab running smoothly day to day, including the animal husbandry and genotyping, the eosinophil isolation, and the PCR that were critical to my dissertation work. Also essential to the function of the lab, Jesse Lorton had superb technical expertise and patience, particularly regarding the microscopy and organ bath setup I needed for the thesis. I thank all my fellow graduate students in the lab for their camaraderie, and particularly Kalmia Buels, Erin Foster, and Greg Scott for their scientific consultations and friendship. I was also lucky to work with the experienced Drs. Becky Proskocil and Jane Nie, who shared their vast experimental and scientific knowledge.

I am grateful to all the excellent scientists I have met in academia and industry, who have contributed greatly to shaping my identity as a scientist during my relatively long journey. My gratitude goes first to the late Dr. Elizabeth W. Jones, a prestigious geneticist and my first scientific mentor when I was a biology undergraduate at

xi

Carnegie Mellon University. At the time I met Dr. Jones, I had not yet found my career direction. She recognized my abilities, and took the unique step of reaching out and asking me to work with her, although many others were hoping for this privilege. She gave me the confidence I needed to persevere in science. I think of her often and still marvel at how she changed my life for the better.

I would like to thank my parents Drs. Miron and Sanda Kaufman for their continued support and encouragement. Coming from difficult circumstances they worked to provide a better life for us, becoming leaders in their respective fields, while nurturing my goals. Their life stories are a source of constant inspiration. They never let me give up and I feel their guidance every day of my life. I would also like to thank my brother Ygal Kaufman for being a great friend and support.

Finally, I would like to thank my beautiful, talented, and amazing wife Dr. Katherine Kaufman. Meeting her was the most positive turning point in my life. She is my best friend, support, cheerleader, and inspiration. Any day now, she will give birth to our daughter. I know our parenting journey together will be more difficult than our graduate school journey together, and I cannot wait to face every challenge with her for the rest of my life.

Thank you all.

1/07/2011

PUBLICATIONS

Manuscripts:

 Kaufman EH, Fryer AD, Jacoby DB. Toll-like receptor 7 agonists are potent and rapid bronchodilators in guinea pigs. *J. Allergy Clin Immunol*, 2010. DOI information: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.10.029

Abstracts:

- Kaufman EH, Fryer AD, Jacoby DB. Stimulation of Toll-Like Receptor 7 Relaxes Airway Smooth Muscle - A Break Against Virus Induced Bronchoconstriction. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 181; 2010:A5341.
- 2. **Kaufman EH**, Fryer AD, Jacoby DB. A TLR7 agonist inhibits bronchoconstriction in vivo and in vitro. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 179; 2009:A281.
- Bivins-Smith E, Kaufman E, Lee JJ, Fryer AD, Jacoby DB. Activation of Eosinophils by Airway Viruses. Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society, 2008, #111.

ABSTRACT

Asthma exacerbations are caused by respiratory virus infections. Toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7) of the innate immune system recognizes single-stranded RNA viruses and mounts an immune response to clear the infection. TLR7 polymorphisms are associated with asthma. While its role in innate immune defense in the lung is appreciated, little is known about the acute effects of TLR7 signaling on airway physiology.

The results in this thesis demonstrate that TLR7 agonists are rapid bronchodilators in guinea pigs, mice, and humans, abolishing airway smooth muscle contraction within minutes of administration (Chapter III). Depending on species and ligand, the bronchodilating effect is mediated in part by TLR7, and in part by another target, most likely TLR8 (Chapter IV). TLR7-dependent bronchodilation is mediated by nitric oxide, and TLR7-independent bronchodilation is mediated by prostaglandins and large conductance calcium-gated potassium channels (Chapter IV). There is dysfunction in the bronchodilating effect with reduced ligand potency in allergensensitized and virus-infected guinea pigs *in vivo*, which may account in part for the more severe response to respiratory virus infections in humans with asthma (Chapter V). It may also explain why TLR7 polymorphisms are closely associated with asthma. Though the bronchodilators, suggesting that TLR7 may serve as a valuable therapeutic target in asthma.

xiv

This novel finding represents an endogenous protective mechanism to maintain breathing during the inflammation necessary to clear respiratory virus infections. It also suggests that TLR7 agonism may be a potent rescue therapy during active bronchoconstriction associated with asthma attacks. Others have proposed TLR7 agonists as prophylactic therapy for asthma by harnessing the immunomodulatory capabilities of this receptor in skewing the immune system in the airways away from T_h2-type and towards T_h1-type immunity (a form of anti-allergic inflammation). Combined with their prophylactic capabilities, the acute bronchodilation mediated by TLR7 agonists demonstrated here suggests a novel and unique combined prophylactic and rescue therapy for asthma in one medication. Current standard of therapy for asthma uses one medication to prevent airway inflammation, and a second medication to limit bronchoconstriction. As these are often combined into one formulation, it is not uncommon for these patients to have a third rescue medication for acute bronchoconstriction during asthma attacks. As individual medications are all associated with some side effects, reducing the number of medications administered may potentially reduce side effects.

CHAPTER I.

INTRODUCTION

INTRODUCTION

This thesis addresses the association of respiratory virus infections with asthma attacks, by investigating the involvement of Toll-like receptor 7 function in airway physiology, pharmacology, and pathology.

A. AIRWAY ANATOMY

Because this thesis addresses airway dysfunction, this section describes the anatomy and normal function of the lung from its overall architecture to the individual cell types that contribute to its overall function. As will be discussed further in this section, the lung functions to oxygenate the blood, and the unobstructed passage of air through the airways within the lung. Section C describes the asthmatic condition in which the passage of air is obstructed, limiting breathing essential for life.

1. Lung architecture and function

Beginning at the trachea, the airways undergo multiple divisions into progressively smaller generations of bronchi and bronchioles, terminating at alveolar sacs. Alveoli are small air sacs at the distal end of the branching airways in the lungs. Oxygen and carbon dioxide are exchanged between inhaled air and blood in capillaries in the alveolar walls. The millions of alveoli provide a large surface area for gas exchange. Deoxygenated blood is pumped by the right heart into pulmonary circulation

through the pulmonary artery into the capillaries, where it is oxygenated.

Oxygenated blood moves from the capillaries through the pulmonary veins back to the left heart, where it is pumped into systemic circulation providing oxygen to the whole body (West, 2000). The pulmonary circulation is distinct from bronchial circulation, arising from the systemic circulation and providing oxygenated blood to the airway tissues.

2. Airway nerves

The autonomic nervous system controls functions in the lung including airway smooth muscle tone and contraction, cough, mucus secretion, vascular permeability, and blood flow.

Sensory afferent nerves

Sensory afferent nerve fibers branch and spread throughout the subepithelium, between the epithelial cells, and reach the airway lumen (Jeffery, 1995). Sensory nerves relay sensation to stimuli including mechanical, pH, temperature, allergen, cigarette smoke, and pollutants (Lee et al., 1989; Coleridge et al., 1993; Giesbrecht et al., 1993; Coleridge and Coleridge, 1994). The vast majority of these sensory afferents have cell bodies in the nodose or jugular ganglia, while the others have cell bodies in thoracic and cervical dorsal-root ganglia (Jeffery, 1995). They project to the central nervous system and, after central processing of information, send information to efferent parasympathetic, sympathetic, and non-adrenergic non-

cholinergic nerves that innervate the airways (Kalia, 1987). Reflex responses include changes in airway caliber, cough, and mucus secretion (Coleridge and Coleridge, 1994). Importantly, airway smooth muscle tone at rest is also mediated by a reflex arc from tonic sensory afferent nerve activity to the central nervous system (O'Donnell et al., 1978; Kesler and Canning, 1999).

In addition neuropeptides released from sensory nerves in the airways can mediate local reflexes without relay to the central nervous system. Airway smooth muscle contraction, mucus secretion, and vasodilation can be regulated locally by neuropeptides, such as substance P, neurokinin A, and calcitonin gene-related peptide (Lundberg et al., 1983; Maggi et al., 1991; Ollerenshaw et al., 1991; Lou et al., 1993). These sensory neuropeptides can also induce inflammation that can affect airway function (Barnes, 2001). The function of local mediator release by sensory nerves in the airway is discussed further below in the section on non-adrenergic non-cholinergic innervation.

Parasympathetic efferent nerves

The myelinated preganglionic parasympathetic nerves project from the brain stem, travelling in the vagus nerve to the airway tissue, where they synapse with unmeylinated postganglionic parasympathetic nerves in various airway effector structures. For control of the trachea and bronchi, the preganglionic nerves synapse with clusters of postganglionic cell bodies arranged in chains along the smooth muscle. In all species, parasympathetic nerves provide the dominant autonomic

control of the airways, mediated by the neurotransmitter acetylcholine. Stimulation of airway parasympathetic nerves causes release of the neurotransmitter acetylcholine, which results in bronchoconstriction, mucus secretion, and vasodilation by activating post-junctional M₃ muscarinic receptors (Belvisi, 2002).

Sympathetic efferent nerves

The preganglionic sympathetic nerves are shorter than the parasympathetic preganglionic nerve fibers. They project from the first four or five thoracic vertebrae and synapse onto paravertebral postganglionic nerves that travel to the airway along, but separate from, the vagus nerve. The postganglionic sympathetic nerve fibers innervate submucosal glands and bronchial blood vessels (Belvisi, 2002).

Human airway smooth muscle has little or no sympathetic innervation (Richardson and Beland, 1976), in contrast to other species, such as guinea pig (O'Donnell et al., 1978; Oh et al., 2006). Sympathetic innervation exerts a relaxant effect on airway smooth muscle mediated by the neurotransmitter norepinephrine.

Non-adrenergic non-cholinergic efferent nerves

The non-adrenergic non-cholinergic innervation of the airway smooth muscle is the only relaxant innervation in human airways, which do not have significant sympathetic relaxant innervation (Richardson and Beland, 1976). The nonadrenergic non-cholinergic nerves were identified when blockade of sympathetic and parasympathetic innervation in airway smooth muscle strips unveiled a neural component (tetrodotoxin-sensitive) of relaxation upon electrical field stimulation (Coburn and Tomita, 1973; Richardson and Beland, 1976). The neurotransmitters mediating this effect were identified to include stimulatory transmitters, such as substance P, as well as inhibitory transmitters, such as nitric oxide or vasoactive intestinal peptide (Matsuzaki et al., 1980; Stewart and Fennessy, 1986; Belvisi et al., 1992). This non-adrenergic non-cholinergic innervation is provided by the efferent arm of the sensory nerves in the airway.

3. Airway smooth muscle

Airway smooth muscle controls airway diameter, which affects the resistance to airflow and ultimately gas exchange. In the trachea and extrapulmonary bronchi, incomplete rings of supportive cartilage are connected dorsally by transverse bands of airway smooth muscle. The intrapulmonary bronchi are encircled by opposing spirals of airway smooth muscle internal to the cartilage, so that when the smooth muscle contracts, the airways both shorten and constrict (Jeffery, 1995). This is accomplished by bundles of individual long and narrow smooth muscle cells arranged in a parallel orientation.

Airway smooth muscle is neither of the single unit classification, in which cells have little or no innervation with spontaneous myogenic contraction, nor is it purely multiunit, where every cell is individually innervated. Rather airway smooth muscle is of an intermediate classification, with sparse innervation of the cells in the

outermost layer that controls contraction of multiple airway smooth muscle cells (Stephens, 2001). Parasympathetic nerves, which provide the major motor control of the airway smooth muscle, run in the connective tissue between airway smooth muscle bundles. Gap junctions between the smooth muscle cells within bundles allow for coordinated contraction (Daniel et al., 1986).

Airway smooth muscle function and signaling mechanisms regulating contraction and relaxation will be discussed in section B of this introduction.

4. Airway epithelium

Epithelial cells line the bronchial and alveolar lumen. In the alveoli, attractive forces between the water molecules in the liquid lining increase surface tension and decrease surface area of the air-liquid interface. This surface tension would collapse the alveoli, but type II pneumocytes secrete pulmonary surfactant that disrupts attractive forces between water molecules, decreasing surface tension and preventing alveolar collapse (West, 2000).

The enormous surface area of the lung is directly exposed to inhaled air from the environment. To protect the lung from inhaled particles, mucus secreted from submucosal glands and goblet cells in the airway walls traps the potential irritants and together they are propelled upwards out of the lung by the rhythmic movement of cilia on bronchial epithelial cells. Because the alveolar epithelial cells do not have cilia, cells of the immune system, particularly alveolar macrophages, are required

for protection of the alveoli (West, 2000). Alveolar macrophages engulf the particles for destruction and trafficking away from the lung.

The airway epithelium also mediate sodium secretion and chloride absorption to control the movement of water through paracellular pathways down the hydrostatic pressure gradient (Jeffery, 1995). Mucus function depends on proper hydration from the movement of water to the airway lumen.

The airway epithelial cells are directly exposed to pathogens and hazardous particles from the environment, so they also serve an important barrier function to prevent systemic exposure and disease. Furthermore, epithelial cells express many receptors of the innate immune system, including Toll-like receptors, to detect these pathogens and respond accordingly to prevent or clear infections (Bals and Hiemstra, 2004). In addition to inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, airway epithelial cells produce a number of antimicrobial substances, such as defensins, secretion of which is upregulated in response to infection (Hiratsuka et al., 1998; Hiemstra, 2001; Ashitani et al., 2002). Because of its important function in host defense, the airway epithelium itself can be considered an immune organ. Damage to the airway epithelium from virus infections, toxins, or environmental oxidants reduces its very important barrier function and can lead to disease. The innate immune system and Toll-like receptors will be discussed in more detail in section D of this introduction.

5. Submucosal glands

Throughout the human airways there are submucosal glands. These glands secrete neutral and acidic mucus and serous fluid, to maintain fluid dynamics and remove foreign particles and pathogens from the airway. There are also mucus secreting goblet cells interspersed with the epithelium (Jeffery, 1995).

6. Immune cells and structures

Macrophages, dendritic cells, T and B lymphocytes, mast cells, eosinophils, and neutrophils are all resident in the airway tissues. Encapsulated lymph nodes are present in peribronchial tissue of the large bronchi (Jeffery, 1995). In addition, lymphoepithelial nodules termed bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue, resembling Peyer's patches, are present in the bronchial mucosa (Bienenstock et al., 1973).

B. AIRWAY SMOOTH MUSCLE

The airway smooth muscle surrounding the lower airways and on the dorsal side of the trachea control airway caliber, the diameter of the airway lumen. Thus, airway smooth muscle regulates the passage of air into the airways for gas exchange in the alveoli. Furthermore, airway smooth muscle can secrete inflammatory mediators that contribute to host defense in the airways. This section describes what is known about how contraction and relaxation are regulated within the airway smooth

muscle, as well as its inflammatory functions. An understanding of these mechanisms is particularly important when considering pathology and therapy of obstructive pulmonary diseases, such as asthma.

1. Contractile mechanism

The crux of the contractile mechanism is the adenosine triphosphate (ATP)dependent sliding of smooth muscle myosin filaments on actin filaments, by the cross bridging and stepping of globular heads of myosin filaments (Gabella, 1984). Contraction is triggered by phosphorylation of myosin-light chain by myosin lightchain kinase, and is terminated by dephosphorylation by myosin light-chain phosphatase (Kamm and Stull, 1985, 1986; Word et al., 1994). Myosin light chain kinase is activated by calcium-calmodulin complexes, therefore, calcium is a central trigger of airway smooth muscle contraction in response to a wide range of stimuli (Figure 1.1A).

2. Excitation-contraction coupling

Contraction of airway smooth muscle can occur from electromechanical mechanisms, as there are a number of voltage-gated calcium channels in the smooth muscle membrane that can respond to slight changes in membrane potential. Airway smooth muscle contraction can also occur from direct pharmacological agents that trigger signal cascades with little or no dependence on membrane depolarization. Acetylcholine-induced contraction of smooth muscle evokes a slight

depolarization, but repolarizing currents and blockade of voltage-gated calcium channels do not reverse contraction (Coburn and Yamaguchi, 1977). Contractile agonists induce slight depolarization of airway smooth muscle cells, probably through the action of calcium-gated chloride channels, but an action potential is not detected due to rectification from increased potassium conductance through voltage-gated potassium channels. This can be mimicked experimentally in the absence of contractile agonists by direct chemical depolarization of the airway smooth muscle membrane using KCl (Stephens, 2001). The trigger of signal cascades in response to depolarization of the cell membrane, and the induction of membrane depolarization in response to contractile agonists, suggests an interdependence of the electromechanical and pharmacologically evoked signal cascades. These mechanisms might cross regulate each other to generate sustained muscle contraction, particularly due to the transient and oscillatory nature of intracellular calcium signals.

3. Calcium signaling and calcium sensitivity

Calcium signaling is an important component of contractile mechanisms. Though electromechanical coupling requires extracellular calcium for influx through voltage-gated calcium channels, pharmacomechanical coupling operates even in the absence of extracellular calcium. Rather, their action results in calcium release from intracellular stores (Stephens, 2001). Contraction evoked from electromechanical coupling only occurs independently in experimental conditions by direct electrical stimulation of the smooth muscle (as opposed to the nerves) or chemical

depolarization with KCl. Physiologically, changes in electrical characteristics of the smooth muscle membrane are induced by the pharmacological action of neurotransmitters like acetylcholine or serotonin released by the prejunctional nerve on receptors in the airway smooth muscle membrane.

Agonist-induced contraction of airway smooth muscle most-frequently occurs through G-protein coupled receptors that couple to G_q, activating phospholipase C. The action of phospholipase C generates the second messenger inositol trisphosphate (IP₃) from the membrane phospholipid phosphatidylinositol 4,5,bisphosphate (PIP₂), which initiates calcium release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum via IP₃-gated calcium channels (Baba et al., 1989; Baron et al., 1989). Calcium-release triggers further calcium release from the opening of calcium-gated calcium channels on the sarcoplasmic reticulum, such as ryanodine receptors, propagating a calcium wave across the cell (Collier et al., 2000). There is an initial rise in calcium within 10 to 15 seconds that rapidly declines to a lower plateau or oscillations of increasing and decreasing intracellular calcium (Murray and Kotlikoff, 1991; Murray et al., 1993). The sustained calcium signal is required for sustained contractions. It is clear that the initial rise in calcium comes from IP₃-gated intracellular stores, but the sustained calcium plateau or oscillations are maintained by influx of extracellular calcium (Murray and Kotlikoff, 1991). It is unclear whether extracellular calcium influx is through store-operated calcium channels that open in response to elemental calcium, ligand-gated calcium channels activated by

diacylglycerol another product of phospholipase C activity, or voltage-gated calcium channels activated in response to slight depolarization.

Sustained airway smooth muscle contraction is probably achieved by a combination of all of these mechanisms, where agonist-induced intracellular calcium release induces membrane depolarization through calcium-gated chloride efflux and calcium-gated calcium influx, which in turn amplifies calcium influx through voltage-gated calcium channels. Calcium then repolarizes the smooth muscle membrane by potassium efflux through calcium-gated potassium channels, allowing the reuptake of intracellular calcium into the sarcoplasmic reticulum through the sarco-endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase (SERCA), to restart the whole contractile cycle (Berridge, 2008) (Figure 1.1B). Because not all of the airway smooth muscle cells are innervated to receive the contractile neurotransmitter agonist signal, changes in intracellular ion concentrations are propagated through gap junctions to synchronize the airway smooth muscle cells.

Calcium sensitivity describes the difference in contractile responses to the same levels of intracellular calcium (Sanderson et al., 2008). Though the initiation of contraction of airway smooth muscle is dependent on intracellular calcium, the degree of tension does not always correlate with intracellular calcium levels (Perez and Sanderson, 2005). This is due to a number of mechanisms that change the sensitivity of the contractile mechanism to intracellular calcium levels. A striking example of this phenomenon was demonstrated when airway smooth muscle was able to relax although the intracellular calcium concentration was held at contractile

levels, and addition of contractile agonists induced further contraction without changing intracellular calcium concentration (Bai and Sanderson, 2006). Differences in calcium sensitivity most often reflect changes in the activity of myosin light chain phosphatase, which exerts an inhibitory effect on contraction (Somlyo and Somlyo, 2003). For example, increased myosin light chain phosphatase activity at equivalent intracellular calcium levels will decrease contractility. Changes in myosin light chain phosphatase activity are frequently regulated by Rho kinase and protein kinase C, both of which can be activated by G protein coupled receptor agonists (Chiba and Misawa, 2004). In this way, different G protein coupled receptor agonists can induce different levels of contraction to equivalent calcium signals. While a number of mechanisms are proposed to explain airway hyperreactivity characteristic of asthma, some propose a model in which increased calciumsensitivity in airway smooth muscle of asthmatics accounts for the increased responsiveness to equivalent stimuli (Sanderson et al., 2008).

4. Signaling pathways regulating airway smooth muscle contractility

The number of signaling entities that regulate airway smooth muscle contraction is ever increasing. This section focuses on some of the more well-characterized pathways.

G-protein coupled receptors

Parasympathetic innervation provides the dominant autonomic control of the airway smooth muscle, and specifically acetylcholine released from nerve terminals activates the M₃ muscarinic receptors on smooth muscle. These receptors are G_q-coupled, and trigger a signal cascade resulting in intracellular calcium release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum as described above. Histamine, a well-characterized transmitter of allergic airway contraction, is released by mast cells onto histamine H₁ receptors expressed on the smooth muscle, which are also coupled to IP₃-mediated calcium release. Other bronchoconstrictive agonists that signal through G_q include bradykinin, substance P, leukotriene D₄, and serotonin (Panettieri et al., 1989; Farmer et al., 1991; Abela and Daniel, 1994; Yang et al., 1994) (Figure 1.2A).

Interestingly, not all G_q-coupled receptors induce contraction. It was recently shown that bitter taste receptors expressed on airway smooth muscle can mediate airway relaxation in response to bitter tastants (Deshpande et al., 2010). This is due to a localized calcium response near the smooth muscle cell membrane that activates large-conductance calcium-gated potassium channels resulting in membrane hyperpolarization. This surprising finding suggests that not all calcium signaling is the same even within the same cell type, and subcellular localization of signaling components determined by organelles and scaffolding structures may be critical to the function of the calcium signal.

In general, G_s -coupled receptors in airway smooth muscle mediate relaxation (Figure 1.2A). Beta agonists, which bind to G_s -coupled β_2 -adrenergic receptors on airway smooth muscle, are used as rescue therapy for bronchoconstriction in

asthma. Other G_s-coupled relaxant receptors in the airways include the prostaglandin E₂ receptors, vasoactive intestinal peptide receptors, and adenosine A_{2B} receptors (Hall et al., 1992; Maruno et al., 1995; Mundell et al., 2001). Agonists at G_s-coupled receptors induce generation of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) via activation of adenylyl cyclase. cAMP in turn activates protein kinase A, which regulates many downstream proteins by phosphorylation. Some of these downstream targets have relaxant effects. IP₃ production can be inhibited by protein kinase A, limiting calcium release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum and subsequent contraction (Hall and Hill, 1988). Calcium release or reuptake through channels can be inhibited by protein kinase A, again limiting the propagation of calcium oscillations and contraction (Volpe and Alderson-Lang, 1990). The largeconductance calcium-activated potassium channels described above are activated by protein kinase A, which hyperpolarizes the membrane and limits contraction (Kume et al., 1994). Myosin light-chain kinase can be inactivated by phosphorylation at a protein kinase A regulatory domain, limiting myosin light-chain activation and contraction (Anderson, 2006). These protein kinase A-mediated mechanisms explain the relaxant effects of agonists at G_s-coupled receptors (Figure 1.2A).

G_i-coupled receptors generally mediate contraction in airway smooth muscle (Figure 1.2A). Activation of these receptors inhibits adenylyl cyclase and counteracts relaxant effects of G_s-coupled receptors. G_i can also directly inhibit the large-conductance calcium-activated potassium channels, inhibiting hyperpolarization and relaxation (Kume et al., 1992). G_i can also promote

contraction via activation of RhoGTPase, which mediates actin polymerization and contractility (Hirshman and Emala, 1999) (Figure 1.2A). The M_2 muscarinic receptors and A1 adenosine receptors are G_i -coupled receptors that contribute to contraction (Widdop et al., 1993; Mundell et al., 2001).

Nitric oxide

The mechanisms listed above are all mediated by G-protein coupled receptors, but the membrane permeant gas nitric oxide mediates airway smooth muscle relaxation independent of surface receptors. Nitric oxide is generated in the airway epithelium, as well as in parasympathetic and non-adrenergic non-cholinergic neurons, from Larginine by the enzyme nitric oxide synthase (Fischer et al., 1993; Yoshihara et al., 1998; Kesler et al., 2002). Nitric oxide diffuses into the smooth muscle where it activates guanylyl cyclase, in turn generating cyclic GMP (cGMP). Similar to protein kinase A activation by cAMP, cGMP activates protein kinase G which phosphorylates a number of downstream targets to induce smooth muscle relaxation (Hamad et al., 2003). Furthermore, myosin light chain phosphatase activity is potentiated, also exerting a relaxant effect (Figure 1.2B). Nitric oxide synthase activity can be inhibited with N-methyl-L-arginine (L-NMMA) (Salerno et al., 2002).

Potassium channels

As stated above, other than small fluctuations, the airway smooth muscle membrane potential is relatively stable. Small changes in membrane potential are due to the

activity of ion channels, including calcium, chloride, and potassium channels. Delayed rectifier potassium channels contribute to the membrane potential stability (Boyle et al., 1992). In general, potassium channel activity repolarizes or hyperpolarizes the airway smooth muscle membrane by outward potassium currents, exerting an inhibitory or relaxant effect (Figure 1.2C). The largeconductance calcium-activated potassium channel (MaxiK or BK) mediates a part of the relaxant effects of the G_s-coupled receptors described above (Kume et al., 1989). This channel is activated both by membrane depolarization and intracellular calcium (Ghatta et al., 2006), in effect only opening under contractile conditions to induce relaxation. Further regulation of MaxiK is contributed by protein kinase A activity in response to Gs-coupled receptor agonists (Kume et al., 1992; Kume et al., 1994). MaxiK potassium channels can be blocked with paxilline (Knaus et al., 1994) (Figure 1.2C).

Prostaglandins

Prostaglandins are eicosanoid lipid mediators with potent effects on airway physiology and inflammation. They are metabolites of the essential fatty acid arachidonic acid (Bergstroem et al., 1964). Arachidonic acid is released from the cell membrane by phospholipase A₂, and in turn is converted into prostaglandin H₂ (PGH₂) by the cyclooxyegenase-1 and -2 enzymes. PGH₂ is further converted by a family of metabolic enzymes into the other prostaglandin subtypes. The prostaglandins are an autocrine or paracrine molecule, signaling at or close to their location of synthesis respectively, through G-protein coupled receptors (Funk,

2001). Multiple cell types in the airways can synthesize prostaglandins, including epithelium, smooth muscle, neurons, and inflammatory cells. Additionally, these cell types also contain specific prostaglandin receptors to respond to these molecules (Coleman et al., 1994). As described above, the downstream physiological effects of prostaglandins depend on the G-protein to which the prostaglandin receptor couples. In general, airway smooth muscle relaxation results from the G_s-coupled prostaglandin receptors (Figure 1.2D), while contraction results from those coupled to G_q or G_i (Clarke et al., 2009). Prostaglandin signaling results in constrictive and relaxant effects on airway vasculature and airway smooth muscle, but they are also involved in fever, edema, and chemotaxis of various immune cells in the inflammatory response, which in turn can affect airway smooth muscle function (Funk, 2001). Prostaglandin E_2 (PGE₂) is the predominant prostaglandin generated in airway smooth muscle, and the EP_2 prostaglandin receptor coupled to G_s is the predominant receptor expressed by airway smooth muscle, exerting a relaxant effect on contracted airway smooth muscle (Delamere et al., 1994; Belvisi et al., 1997; Penn et al., 2001). Prostaglandin synthesis can be inhibited by the cyclooxygenase-1 and -2 inhibitor indomethacin (Sharma and Sharma, 1997) (Figure 1.2D). There are a number of other eicosanoids, such as leukotrienes, generated from arachidonic acid with potent inflammatory and physiological effects that are not discussed further here.

Of particular importance to this thesis is that prostaglandin signaling can regulate the activity of the large-conductance calcium-activated (MaxiK) potassium channels
described above (Moreau et al., 1996; Lee et al., 1999). Some prostaglandins, such as prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂) and prostaglandin I₂, relax airway smooth muscle (Tamaoki et al., 1993; Hartney et al., 2006), as does opening of the MaxiK potassium channel. In human corporal smooth muscle, PGE₁ induces relaxation mediated by MaxiK, accounting for the increased blood flow and pro-erectile effects of PGE₁ (Lee et al., 1999). In human osteoblast bone cells, PGE₂ activates MaxiK (Moreau et al., 1996). Though not directly shown, it is possible that MaxiK mediates some of the relaxant effects of prostaglandins on airway smooth muscle (Figure 1.2E).

Nucleotides

Nucleotides also modulate airway smooth muscle function. Adenosine acts through a number of adenosine receptor subtypes, G-protein coupled receptors coupled to G_s, G_i, and G_q (Wilson, 2008). Depending on the tone of the airway smooth muscle, adenosine can exert either contractile or relaxant effects. Adenosine A₁ receptors are expressed on airway smooth muscle cells, and mediate contraction through G_icoupling (Ethier and Madison, 2006). Adenosine A_{2a} receptors are also expressed on airway smooth muscle, but mediate relaxation through Gs-coupling (Wilson, 2008). The resulting airway tone is probably due to complex regulation by multiple receptor subtypes with opposing effects, and the role of individual subtypes might change with airway tone. For example adenosine has been shown to contract airway smooth muscle at rest, but relax precontracted airway smooth muscle (Caparrotta et al., 1984; Krzanowski et al., 1987; Farmer et al., 1988). Another level of complexity arises when considering all of the cell types in the lung that express adenosine

receptors, including immune cells, which may mediate indirect effects of adenosine on airway smooth muscle function. Additionally, the purine ATP can bind to P2X and P2Y receptors in the airway to further affect airway function (Bergner and Sanderson, 2002; Mounkaila et al., 2005).

5. Inflammation

While the primary function of the airway smooth muscle is to regulate airway caliber, the airway smooth muscle cells are capable of generating and responding to inflammatory signals in response to infection (Halayko and Amrani, 2003; Hirst, 2003; Chung, 2005). Inflammatory cytokines, such as interferon- γ and tumor necrosis factor- α , act directly on receptors expressed by airway smooth muscle, to stimulate the release of more inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, and matrix metalloproteinases, as well as to stimulate increased intercellular adhesion molecule expression (Amrani et al., 1999; Chung, 2005; Tliba and Amrani, 2008). These mediators induce recruitment of immune cells and remodeling of the airway wall (Hirst, 2003). These can have both beneficial effects, such as protection from infection, but also deleterious effects, such as asthma. Airway smooth muscle cells also express IgE receptors to respond to IgE released from B cells during allergic inflammation (Gounni et al., 2005).

In the next sections, inflammation in the airways will be discussed in greater detail with regards to both pathology, such as in asthma, as well as innate host defense.

FIGURE 1.1. Schematics of airway smooth muscle contraction and relaxation mediated by intracellular calcium and membrane potential.



Figure 1.1. (A) In general, airway smooth muscle cells contract in response to global increases in intracellular calcium, and relax in response to decreases in intracellular calcium. The phosphorylation state of myosin light chain in response to intracellular calcium concentration is the primary control for airway smooth muscle contraction and relaxation. (B) In addition to calcium mechanisms, small changes in the airway smooth muscle membrane potential contribute to contraction and relaxation. These changes in membrane potential are controlled by ligand-gated (IP3) and voltage-gated ion channels, but are also regulated by intracellular calcium released from and taken back up in intracellular stores. Red arrows denote contractile contributions and green arrows denote reset contributions of an oscillatory response. Dashed arrows denote membrane potential contributions. SERCA is the sarcoplasmic endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase for calcium reuptake and replenishing of the intracellular calcium storage.

FIGURE 1.2. Signaling mechanisms regulating airway smooth muscle contraction and relaxation.





Figure 1.2. (A) Schematic of the main G-protein coupled receptor-mediated mechanisms through G_s, G_i, and G_q of airway smooth muscle contraction and relaxation. Acetylcholine (ACh) induces contraction through G_i-coupled M₃ muscarinic receptors. Norepinephrine (NE) induces relaxation through G_s-coupled β_2 adrenergic receptors (β_2 -AR). Adenosine (Aden) induces contraction through A₁ adenosine receptors. Cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP); protein kinase A (PKA); inositol trisphosphate (IP₃). (B) Schematic of nitric oxide mediated relaxation of airway smooth muscle. L-NMMA is a NOS inhibitor. Nitric oxide synthase (NOS); Cyclic guanine triphosphate (GMP). (C) Schematic of the large conductance calcium-activated potassium channel (MaxiK) mediated relaxation of airway smooth muscle. Activation results in potassium efflux and repolarization or hyperpolarization of the membrane. Paxilline is a MaxiK blocker. Membrane potential (V_{mem}). (D) Schematic of prostaglandin E_2 (PGE₂) mediated relaxation of airway smooth mucle. Indomethacin (indometh) is a cyclooxygenase inhibitor that inhibits prostaglandin synthesis. Prostaglandin E_2 receptor (EP_2). (E) Schematic of potential relaxant mechanism of prostaglandin E₂ regulating MaxiK function.

C. ASTHMA

The work in this thesis contributes to the understanding of asthma and potential therapeutics. The previous sections detailed the function and cellular components of the normal lungs with particular emphasis on the function and signaling mechanisms in airway smooth muscle. It is important to understand the dysfunction in the lung contributing to asthma pathology. This section describes what is known about the characteristics, causes, existing therapies, and animal models used to investigate asthma.

1. Characteristics

As of 2008, the Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA), a collaboration of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, National Institutes of Health, USA, and the World Health Organization with asthma experts from around the world, reported 300 million cases of asthma worldwide (Bateman et al., 2008). By estimating disabilityadjusted life years, 1% of the global disease burden is attributed to asthma (Masoli et al., 2004). The majority of asthma starts early in childhood and may remit later in life, though relapses are frequent (Sears et al., 2003; Sly et al., 2008). GINA provides an operational description of asthma as follows:

Asthma is a chronic inflammatory disorder of the airways in which many cells and cellular elements play a role. The chronic inflammation is associated with airway hyperresponsiveness that leads to recurrent episodes of wheezing, breathlessness, chest tightness, and coughing, particularly at night or in the

early morning. These episodes are usually associated with widespread, but variable, airflow obstruction within the lung that is often reversible either spontaneously or with treatment.

From the operational description above, the hallmarks of asthma can be broken down to two main interdependent components, airway inflammation and airway hyperreactivity, defined as excessive airway narrowing in response to stimuli that have little effect in healthy individuals. The end result is airway obstruction that makes breathing difficult (Figure 1.3). This airway obstruction can be uncomfortable or limit the range of physical activity, but it can also be lethal, with approximately 250,000 asthma-associated deaths yearly worldwide. The burden of the disease extends to school and work absences, hospital admissions, and health care costs. There are 2 million asthma-related emergency room visits and 5 hundred-thousand hospital admissions in the United States each year (Mallia et al., 2007). The following subsections describe the airway inflammation and hyperreactivity components of the asthmatic condition.

Inflammation

Many immune cells coordinate the inflammatory response including eosinophils, mast cells, and CD4+ T lymphocytes. The CD4+ T lymphocytes are usually of the T_h2 phenotype associated with allergic inflammation (Anderson, 2002). In response to crosslinking of their high affinity IgE receptors, mast cells release airway smooth muscle contractile agonists, such as histamine and leukotrienes, as well as mediators of airway remodeling, such as tryptase and matrix metalloproteinases

(Bradding et al., 2006). Upon activation, eosinophils release a number of cytokines, chemokines, and preformed granule proteins and tissue-damaging superoxides that mediate inflammation and combat helminth worm infections (Kariyawasam and Robinson, 2006). Eosinophils play a key role in airway hyperreactivity that will be discussed further below in the section on airway hyperreactivity. Consequences of the asthmatic inflammatory response include excessive mucus secretion and edema, epithelial cell damage, remodeling and thickening of the airway wall, and immune cell infiltration (Holgate, 2008). These are all factors causing airway obstruction, resulting in difficulty breathing.

 T_h2 -type immunity describes a specific immune environment characterized in large part by a subtype of CD4+ T helper lymphocytes and the specific cytokines they produce. This immune environment is well suited for host immunity to extracellular parasites, such as helminths (Paul and Zhu, 2010). The T_h2 phenotype of T helper lymphocytes is characterized by T cells that express the CCR4 chemokine receptor and release the cytokines interleukin (IL)-4, IL-5, IL-9, and IL-13. Among other effects, IL-4 and IL-13 facilitate class switching of B cell antibodies to IgE (Larche et al., 2003). IL-5 recruits eosinophils to the lungs (Robinson et al., 1999), and IL-9 is involved in mast cell recruitment to the lungs (Paul and Zhu, 2010). Though the environment is categorized by T helper cell subtype, other immune cells, epithelial cells, nerves, and smooth muscle cells in the airways can release cytokines contributing to the T_h2 immune environment. Allergy and asthma are often correlated and both are categorized as T_h2 diseases. It should be noted that the distinction of asthma as a purely T_h2 disease is an oversimplification, as the immune

system is a complex network of regulatory systems. In fact, T lymphocytes of the $T_h 1$ subtype that secrete TNF- α and interferon- γ contribute significantly to tissue damage associated with severe asthma, particularly in response to virus infection (O'Sullivan, 2005). Overall, however, airway environments with $T_h 2$ -polarized immune responses are characterized by allergy, eosinophilia, mucus secretion, goblet cell hyperplasia, airway hyperreactivity, and airway remodeling, characteristics also attributed to asthma (Kim et al., 2010).

The T_h1 immune environment is characterized by cytokines secreted by T helper type 1 lymphocytes, such as type I interferons, TNF- α , and IL-10. The T_h1 immune environment is particularly suited for combating virus or intracellular microbe infections, as opposed to the extracellular parasites for which the T_h2 immune environment is suited. By the action of cytotoxic CD8+ T cells and interferon- γ and TNF- α secreting T_h1-type CD4+ T helper lymphocytes, virus infected cells in the airways are recognized and killed (Papadopoulos et al., 2007). Some consider asthma and allergic disease to be a problem in the balance in the Th2 and Th1 immune environments, with skewing towards a more Th2-dominated environment (Vandenbulcke et al., 2006). In fact proponents of the 'hygiene hypothesis' attribute the increase in allergic diseases and asthma with increased cleanliness and sterilization due to a lack of exposure to infectious pathogens (Hertzen, 1998). The result is skewing away from a T_h1-type and towards a T_h2-type immune environment. This is in some contradiction to others who believe that early-life virus infections predispose individuals to asthma development discussed later in

this section (Mallia and Johnston, 2002). However, these theories can be unified by contributions from other genetic and environmental factors.

In response to tissue damage from a wide range of insults from microbial to environmental, the airway tissue needs to repair itself. Tissue repair is a beneficial result of normal inflammation in response to tissue damage. There is excessive damage and shedding of the airway epithelium in the asthmatic condition (Carroll et al., 1993). The subsequent airway repair, however, is dysfunctional, and aberrant repair leads to airway remodeling, resulting in a different airway composition compared to prior to the damage (Holgate, 2008). T_h2 cytokines are associated with aberrant tissue repair. As these cytokines are often upregulated in asthmatic airways, they are an explanation for the excessive airway remodeling. Persistent inflammation in response to these cytokines leads to the release of a number of growth factors leading to airway remodeling (Holgate et al., 2001). As the name "airway remodeling" implies, the lung was originally modeled in development, and many growth factors that are over- or aberrantly expressed are the same growth factors that guide development of the fetal lung (Jeffery, 2001). They are, furthermore, characteristic of wound healing that is necessary in response to airway tissue injury, but it is the persistence of the remodeling components that is pathogenic in asthma (Jeffery, 2001).

In asthmatics, aberrant airway remodeling results in mucus gland, airway smooth muscle, goblet cell, and epithelial hypertrophy and hyperplasia, as well as increased deposition of extracellular matrix components, resulting in thickening of the airway

wall and thinning of the airway lumen, contributing to the severity of the disease (Bumbacea et al., 2004). Subepithelial fibrosis from the increased deposition of extracellular matrix components alters the integrity and function of the overlying epithelium (Jeffery, 2001). Goblet cell metaplasia from dedifferentiated preexisting epithelial cells increases the number of goblet cells and subsequently increases mucus secretion (Curran and Cohn, 2009). Airway smooth muscle mass is increased in asthmatic airways due to hyperplasia and hypertrophy (Ebina et al., 1993), but also potentially due to migration of dedifferentiated fibromyocytes and reduced apoptosis of smooth muscle cells (Gizycki et al., 1997; Martin and Ramos-Barbon, 2003). Neuroplastic changes are also observed with potential physical increases in sensory nerve innervation as well as changes in the phenotype and function of the efferent nerves (Fryer and Jacoby, 2002; Nassenstein et al., 2006). An increase in sensory nerve innervation may result in excessive mucus secretion and bronchoconstriction.

As stated above, inflammation and hyperreactivity are interdependent components of asthma, and the persistent influx of immune cells and constant exposure to inflammatory mediators contribute to the physical and functional remodeling of the lungs that result in airway hyperreactivity and airflow obstruction.

Airway hyperreactivity

I humans with asthma, a number of mechanisms contribute to airway hyperreactivity, defined by airway narrowing in response to stimuli that evoke little or no airway narrowing in healthy subjects. These include thickening of the airway

wall, which changes the contractile properties of the airway; smooth muscle hypertrophy or increased calcium sensitivity, which increase smooth muscle contraction to equivalent stimuli; increased sensitivity of sensory nerves, which subsequently increases the activity of the efferent reflex parasympathetic contractile innervation; or direct changes in efferent parasympathetic or nonadrenergic non-cholinergic nerve function (Fryer and Jacoby, 2002; McParland et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2003; Black, 2004). Symptoms of acute exacerbations of airway hyperreactivity include shortness of breath, cough, wheezing, and chest tightness (Mallia et al., 2007).

Eosinophils and airway hyperreactivity

Because of its direct application to work in this thesis, the rest of this section will focus on eosinophil-mediated changes in efferent parasympathetic nerve function as a mechanism that results in airway hyperreactivity. The work in this thesis will add a new proposed mechanism of airway hyperreactivity in asthmatic airways, while contributing to what is already known about normal airway physiology and maintaining a role for eosinophil-mediated airway hyperreactivity. It should be stated, however, that a large number of asthmatics are refractory to antiinflammatory therapies, suggesting mechanisms of airway hyperreactivity inherent to non-immune resident cells in the lung (Brusasco et al., 1998; Crimi et al., 1998).

Airway parasympathetic nerves induce contraction of airway smooth muscle by the release of acetylcholine onto M3 muscarinic receptors on the airway smooth muscle. In a self-regulatory system of autoinhibition, acetylcholine also acts through

inhibitory M2 muscarinic receptors on the airway parasympathetic neurons, limiting further acetylcholine release from the nerve terminal, in effect limiting contraction of the airway smooth muscle (Fryer and Maclagan, 1984, 1987a, b) (Figure 1.4A). Airway eosinophilia is a hallmark of asthma. Increased eosinophil numbers are found in the sputum or biopsies of the majority of asthma cases, and around the airway nerves of humans who died of asthma (Costello et al., 1997; Kay, 2005; Lemiere et al., 2006). The eosinophils chemotax to the airway nerves in response to chemokines that bind CCR3 on the eosinophils (Fryer et al., 2006). Upon reaching the nerve and binding to ICAM, the airway eosinophil is activated and releases preformed granule proteins, such as major basic protein (Sawatzky et al., 2002; Nie et al., 2007). Major basic protein is found deposited throughout the airways of humans who died of asthma (Costello et al., 1997). Eosinophil activation at the nerve can be triggered by virus infection, antigen inhalation in pre-sensitized airways, or ozone exposure, all known causes of asthma exacerbations discussed in the next section (Evans et al., 1997; Adamko et al., 1999; Yost et al., 2005; Proskocil et al., 2008). Major basic protein released by the activated eosinophils is an allosteric M2 muscarinic receptor antagonist. Its action at airway parasympathetic nerves results in more acetylcholine release and more bronchoconstriction (Jacoby et al., 1993). Eosinophil-mediated airway dysfunction can be inhibited with an antibody against IL-5, a cytokine for eosinophil recruitment and maturation, as well as by antibody or heparin-mediated charge neutralization of major basic protein (Fryer and Jacoby, 1992; Jacoby et al., 1993; Adamko et al., 1999) (Figure 1.4B). IL-5

is a $T_h 2$ cytokine, again emphasizing the role of this type of immune environment in asthma pathology.

2. Causes of disease development and exacerbations

Factors contributing to the pathogenesis of asthma include genetic factors, such as predisposition to allergy or obesity, as well as environmental factors, such as allergens, infections, pollutants, cigarette smoke, occupational exposures, and diet. These factors probably operate in distinct mechanisms but converge on final common pathways that result in the airway inflammation, bronchoconstriction, and airflow obstruction of asthma. For example, some pathogens might trigger a more neutrophilic inflammation and allergens a more eosinophilic inflammation, while oxidant pollution directly inflames airway epithelium. All of these pathways can converge on asthmatic airway inflammation and hyperreactivity. While this is an oversimplification, it is in this way that asthma is considered a very heterogeneous disease. This section will briefly discuss some of the known triggers of asthma exacerbations, with particular attention given to respiratory virus infections.

Allergy

Allergy plays a central role in asthma. More than 80% of children with asthma are sensitized to environmental allergens (Singh and Busse, 2006). Again in support of an association of the T_h2-type immune environment in the lungs with asthma, allergy is categorized as a T_h2 disease, and prolonged exposure to aerosolized allergens results in T_h2-driven allergic inflammation of the airways (Peden, 2001). Common allergens include pollen, fungi, mites, dust, and pets. Following an allergen

challenge, the asthmatic airway is characterized by eosinophilic inflammation and elevated levels of the T_h2 cytokines IL-5 and IL-13 (Singh and Busse, 2006). The role of eosinophils in the exacerbation of asthma was described above. The role of allergy in asthma might be to set the immune environment that amplifies the effects of other asthma exacerbating insults, so that the inflammatory effects are more severe. The subsequent insult could be exposure to the sensitizing allergen, virus infection, or pollutants.

Respiratory viruses

In a study of asthma in 9 to 11 year old children, up to 85% of exacerbations defined by excessive wheezing, cough, and fall in peak expiratory airflow, had upper respiratory virus infections as determined by polymerase chain reaction (Johnston et al., 1995). These infections were predominantly attributed to rhinovirus, a picornavirus, which is associated with the common cold. In studies in adults that experienced an asthma exacerbation, as defined as a decrease in peak expiratory flow rates, 57% of the patients had virus upper respiratory infections, mostly attributed to rhinovirus (Nicholson et al., 1993). Furthermore, the rate of hospital admission for asthma attacks closely correlates with the seasonal pattern of rhinovirus infections (Johnston et al., 1996). Other studies suggest that as many as 80% of adult asthma exacerbations are likely associated with respiratory virus infections (Minor et al., 1976). Though these studies focused on respiratory virus infections of the upper airways, rhinovirus infection can spread to the lower airways, and it is proposed that this might account for more sever asthma

symptoms (Mosser et al., 2002; Singh and Busse, 2006). Other respiratory viruses associated with asthma exacerbations include coronavirus, influenza, parainfluenza, and respiratory syncytial virus (Johnston et al., 1995). These are all viruses that have a single stranded RNA (ssRNA) genome.

The airway epithelium is the primary site of entry for respiratory viruses (Papadopoulos et al., 2000). The viruses continue to replicate with virus shedding and infection of neighboring cells. The epithelial cells release cytokines and signal the presence of the virus infection, triggering an immune response to combat and clear the infection (Jacoby, 2002). Respiratory viruses can also enter and replicate in alveolar macrophages contributing further immune surveillance and releasing cytokines to signal the presence of a virus infection (Cirino et al., 1993).

Both healthy humans and humans with asthma are infected by and clear respiratory virus infections, but the symptoms are much more severe in humans with asthma. In support of the skewing of the airway immune environment towards a T_h2 allergic environment as a factor in asthma severity, it was found that rhinovirus shedding and symptom severity were directly correlated with the T_h2 -type cytokine IL-5, but inversely correlated with the T_h1 -type cytokine interferon- γ (Gern et al., 2000; Parry et al., 2000). This supports the idea that while both allergy and viruses exacerbate asthma, exacerbation by a virus infection might be more potent in an already allergic environment. Conversely, the virus infection might potentiate subsequent allergic responses (Lemanske et al., 1989). This tells us the importance of the cytokines and cell types in the immune environment, but tells us little about

the direct mechanisms mediating the asthma symptoms. Answering the question of why the symptoms are so much more severe and result in exacerbations in the asthmatic conditions is a focus of the work in this thesis.

Some of the proposed mechanisms of virus-mediated airway hyperreactivity in asthma are described here. Neutral endopeptidase activity in the epithelium is reduced during respiratory virus infection. Neutral endopeptidase in the airways inactivates tachykinins, such as substance P, which are non-adrenergic noncholinergic peptide transmitters released from sensory nerves that induce airway smooth muscle contraction, recruit lymphocytes, and stimulate mucus secretion through neurokinin receptors. As activity of this enzyme is reduced during respiratory virus infection, there is reduced inactivation of contractile tachykinins, allowing their effects to persist (Jacoby et al., 1988; Dusser et al., 1989). Histamine also induces reflex bronchoconstriction. Virus infections can reduce the activity of histamine N-methyltransferase, which inactivates histamine (Nakazawa et al., 1994). The result is increased histamine persistence in the airway and increased bronchoconstriction. Viruses can potentiate IgE-mediated histamine release from basophils and mast cells in the airways (Ogunbiyi et al., 1988; Clementsen et al., 1991). Virus-mediated potentiation of 5-lipoxygenase increases the production of contractile leukotrienes lipid mediators described earlier (Seymour et al., 2002). Decreased non-adrenergic non-cholinergic nerve function in response to virus infection can reduce the bronchodilating effects of nitric oxide and vasoactive intestinal peptide (Folkerts et al., 1998). Epithelial damage in response to virus infection can occlude the airways with cellular debris, as well as expose sensory

nerve endings, increasing the sensory-mediated reflex bronchoconstriction described earlier (Papadopoulos et al., 2007).

As previously described, asthma is associated with a pathological skewing of the immune environment away from an antiviral T_h1 -type towards a T_h2 -type. Regardless of other T_h2 -type allergic symptoms, the reduced ability to combat virus infections in the T_h2 -type environment is also proposed for the more severe and longer sustained symptoms of respiratory virus infections (Wark et al., 2005). For example, viruses could persist due to reduction of interferons characteristic of the T_h1 -type immune response (Graham et al., 1994). Interferons are particularly well suited to combat virus infection by priming cells to inhibit infection and replication of the virus (Contoli et al., 2006).

In a previous section, a mechanism of eosinophil-mediated airway hyperactivity was described. A virus-induced increase in intercellular adhesion molecule expression on airway effector structures can increase eosinophil recruitment (Papi and Johnston, 1999; Grunberg et al., 2000). Virus-induced eosinophil activation can trigger airway hyperreactivity by causing dysfunction of prejunctional M2 muscarinic receptor on parasympathetic nerve terminals (Adamko et al., 1999). Reduced M2 muscarinic receptor function might also occur by reduced M2 receptor expression in response to virus infection or interferon signaling, or direct modification of the receptor by the activity of viral neuraminidase (Fryer et al., 1990; Fryer and Jacoby, 1991; Jacoby et al., 1998).

Although eosinophils can be activated by virus to mediate airway hyperreactivity, it is important to note that eosinophils also exert potent antiviral properties (Adamko et al., 1999). This presents an interesting conundrum that emphasizes the complexity of the immune system and the limitations of oversimplified interpretations. Eosinophilia and asthma are associated with Th2-type immune responses, but eosinophils themselves are potent antiviral effector cells, which is a property of a T_h1-type immune response. Furthermore, allergic eosinophil activation, responsible for M2 muscarinic receptor dysfunction, is associated with Th2 responses, but virus infections induce interferon production associated with Th1 responses that can also reduce M2 muscarinic receptor function (Fryer et al., 1990; Jacoby et al., 1998). This emphasizes the need to consider a more complex spectrum of immune phenotypes rather than absolute definitions of immune environments. It further emphasizes the need to consider functional changes in immune cells, such as the eosinophils, under different conditions, rather than attributing the presence of a particular cell type to an absolute type of immune response, suggesting that eosinophil subtypes may mediate different responses.

Bacterial infections of the respiratory tract, such as *Mycoplasma pneumoniae* and *Chlamydia pneumoniae*, are also associated with asthma exacerbations, but are not the focus of this work (Johnston and Martin, 2005).

Pollution

Pollutants associated with asthma exacerbations include tobacco smoke, ozone, and organophosphorus pesticides (Bernstein et al., 2004; Brims and Chauhan, 2005).

Occupational exposures to a number of chemical and animal products add to the growing list of agents that exacerbate asthma (Mapp et al., 2005). As they are not the focus of the work in this thesis, they will not be discussed further. However, it should be stated again that asthma is a heterogeneous disease with common symptoms in part driven by ubiquitous mechanisms of airway physiology, so proposed therapies that arise from the work in this thesis, though discovered in a context of virus-induced asthma, might extend to multiple types of asthmatic airway dysfunction. Furthermore, as the effects of virus infection might be amplified in an allergic immune environment, the effects of virus infections can be amplified in airways also exposed to pollutants, and the effect of pollutants can be more severe in an allergic airway environment (Chauhan et al., 2003; Proskocil et al., 2008).

3. Therapies

A large and ever growing number of asthma therapeutics are marketed or in preclinical and clinical testing phases. Because asthma is a heterogeneous disease, there are numerous signaling pathways and cell types that therapeutic interventions can target. None of these completely treat all the symptoms of asthma, and all are associated with side effects. Furthermore, due to the frequency of administration or fear of side effects, resistance, or addiction, compliance with treatment regiments are low (Horne et al., 2007; Haughney et al., 2008). Despite numerous therapies, prohibitive costs and inadequate diagnosis in lower income countries results in higher morbidity and mortality of the disease (Mendis et al., 2007). For virus-induced asthma specifically, vaccination remains insufficient due

to the large number of viruses and high rate of mutation conferring resistance (Mallia et al., 2007). Asthma medications fall into two main categories: those for rescue from acute exacerbations and those for chronic prevention against future attacks. This section describes some of the available asthma therapies, future proposed therapies, and highlights the need for new and improved medicines.

Chronic prevention

The standard chronic prophylactic treatment for asthma is inhaled corticosteroid (fluticasone, budesonide) treatment. Among the many benefits of corticosteroid steroid therapy are reduced inflammation, eosinophilia, and airway hyperreactivity (Pauwels et al., 2003; Sin et al., 2004). These effects are mediated by glucocorticoid nuclear receptors that both up- and downregulate the expression of a number of genes. ICAM-1 expression is reduced, preventing the adhesion of immune cells in the airways. M2 muscarinic receptor expression and function is increased on parasympathetic nerves, limiting acetylcholine release and limiting bronchoconstriction (Jacoby et al., 2001). Because of the immunosupressive effects of corticosteroids, a side effect is an increased susceptibility to infection. Furthermore, a subpopulation of asthmatic patients are resistant to glucocorticoid therapy (Drazen et al., 2000). A less standard anti-inflammatory treatment are leukotriene receptor antagonists (montelukast), and these have the added benefit of being acute bronchodilators for rescue during ongoing attacks (Drazen et al., 1999; Camargo et al., 2003).

Acute rescue

Acute and severe asthma attacks are treated with rescue medications that relax the airway smooth muscle almost immediately upon administration. The most widely used rescue therapies are β_2 -adrenergic receptor agonists and muscarinic receptor antagonists. β_2 -adrenergic receptor agonists (salmeterol, fomoterol, albuterol) activate protein kinase A-mediated airway smooth muscle relaxant mechanisms discussed previously. Side effects include tachycardia due to activity at adrenergic receptors in cardiac muscle (Mallia et al., 2007). Although β_2 -adrenergic receptor agonists have anti-inflammatory effects during chronic therapy, they are recommended for use in combination therapy with an inhaled corticosteroid for its anti-inflammatory properties (Mallia et al., 2007). Furthermore, corticosteroid treatment upregulates β_2 -adrenergic receptor expression, increasing airway responsiveness to combined agonists, and β_2 -adrenergic receptor agonists increase sensitivity to glucocorticoids, providing synergistic effects from combined therapy (Edwards et al., 2006). At the very least, combination therapies allow a multipronged approach to treat the two main components of asthma, bronchoconstriction due to airway hyperreactivity and inflammation.

Muscarinic receptor antagonists (ipratropium, tiotropium) acutely antagonize M3 muscarinic receptor on airway smooth muscle, inhibiting G_q-mediated intracellular calcium signaling, resulting in decreased airway smooth muscle contraction. The administration of these rescue medications reduces hospital admissions and duration of hospitalization (Brophy et al., 1998; Rodrigo and Rodrigo, 2000).

Though acute effects of muscarinic receptor antagonists are beneficial, chronic use of these medicines has mixed results, and can potentially worsen asthma symptoms. This is in part due to the blockade of inhibitory M2 muscarinic receptors on parasympathetic nerves, which increases bronchoconstriction, and in part due to blockade of inhibitory muscarinic receptors on immune cells, altering their function (Jacoby and Fryer, 2001; Verbout et al., 2007; Verbout et al., 2009). Other side effects include dry mouth due to blockade of M3 muscarinic receptors on salivary glands and tachycardia due to blockade of M2 muscarinic receptors on cardiac muscle.

Antiviral

Virus-specific treatments for asthma are few. Only influenza is successfully managed with vaccination (Bridges et al., 2001). Other antiviral approaches that have undergone clinical trials include capsid-binding inhibitors that prevent the attachment of the virus to it receptor, viral protease 3C inhibitors that inhibit the processing of viral proteins, and ICAM-1 blockers that block the rhinovirus receptor for cellular entry (Mallia et al., 2007).

Other therapies

The association of asthma and its propensity for skewing towards T_h2 -type immunity makes targeting the mechanisms determining the immune environment a novel and intriguing therapy. As cytokines released from multiple cell types define the architecture and composition of the airway immune environment, cytokinebased therapies are one approach at attempting to counteract the effects of T_h2 -type

immunity. A humanized monoclonal antibody to IL-5 (mepolizumab), a T_h2 cytokine for eosinophil recruitment and maturation, reduced sputum eosinophil numbers, but was of limited benefit in the allergic asthmatic response, though in a separate trial there was a prednisone sparing effect of this therapy, suggesting that it had beneficial anti-inflammatory effects (Leckie et al., 2000; Flood-Page et al., 2007; Nair et al., 2009). The beneficial effects of this therapy are more pronounced when trials are designed in patients with refractory eosinophilic asthma (Haldar et al., 2009). Anti-IgE therapy with a human monoclonal antibody (omalizumab) reduces the effects of IgE-mediated asthma symptoms in severe allergic asthma (Scheinfeld, 2005). Though it has few side effects, this therapy is cost prohibitive and only used in severe cases of asthma. Anti-TNF- α therapy (etanercept) with a soluble receptor to deplete TNF- α and inhibit inflammation has shown promise in clinical trials, but increased susceptibility to infection is a serious side effect (Palladino et al., 2003). An opposite approach is to stimulate T_h1 immunity by the administration of T_h1 cvtokines. In clinical trials, administering a human recombinant T_b1 promoting cytokine IL-12 reduced sputum eosinophil counts, but did not improve airway hyperreactivity (Mallia et al., 2007). The success of any individual therapy can be masked by the heterogeneous nature of asthma. Though all patients are suffering from airway obstruction, the causes of this obstruction can be different. When asthma is the only prerequisite for patient entry into a clinical trial, the beneficial effects in subpopulations of asthmatics may be lost in the overall population tested. It is therefore important to properly design trials to focus on the types of asthmatic subpopulations for whom that therapy could be beneficial. Along those lines, it is

also important not to over interpret failures of clinical trials, as they might not have been designed with the power necessary to unveil beneficial effects.

The newest therapeutic approach to skewing the immune environment in the airways away from T_h2 and towards T_h1 is the use of immunomodulatory drugs that stimulate Toll-like receptors of the innate immune system and induce the production of interferons and T_h1 cytokines (Agrawal and Kandimalla, 2002). The work in this thesis contributes to the body of knowledge of the therapeutic benefit of targeting Toll-like receptors in asthma. Toll-like receptors will be described in greater detail in the next section.

Other existent and proposed therapies target all aspects of signaling associated with both normal and pathological airway physiology. These include phosphodiesterase inhibitors that inhibit cAMP breakdown and allow PKA-mediated relaxant effects to persist, blocking of chemokine receptors to block the recruitment of immune cells, transcription factor inhibitors to inhibit inflammatory transcription, cell proliferation inhibitors to inhibit airway remodeling, and ion channel modulators that increase relaxant repolarization of airway smooth muscle (Barnes, 2004). Even with many available medications, due to resistant subpopulations of asthmatic patients, numerous side effects, and unsatisfactory maintenance of symptoms, the need for new medications is clear.

4. Animal models

Human asthma is predominantly investigated by histological analysis of postmortem or biopsied tissue and minimally invasive techniques, such as

spirometry and whole body plethysmography, in asthmatic patients. Measurements provided by these types of methods include forced vital capacity (VC), which is the total volume of air that can be exhaled or inhaled during a respiratory maneuver, the forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁), a measure of how quickly the lungs can be emptied, and peak expiratory flow (PEF), a measure of flow rate (Mallia et al., 2007). These measurements are used to diagnose and study asthma. Rhinovirus infection of the airways of mild asthmatic humans is an approved model and recapitulates many of the features of virus-induced asthma exacerbations (Bardin et al., 1996; Bardin et al., 2000). This is an important model, because it allows for measurements at baseline before virus infection, and for separate measurements following virus infection. Because of the ethical, cost prohibitive, access, and availability issues surrounding human research, a number of animal models of airway physiology and asthma pathophysiology are used.

The quality of an animal model depends on which aspect of disease the research is investigating, be it acute exacerbations, chronic inflammation, pathogenesis, or lung development. The main disease characteristics for asthma that need to be addressed by the model are airway inflammation and airway hyperreactivity. However, an animal model in which airway inflammation is recapitulated, but airway smooth muscle physiology and innervation are completely irrelevant to the human condition is of limited utility. In the same way, an animal model in which the airway physiology is identical to humans, but the allergic response is dominated by a different cytokine or immune effector cell is also of limited utility. Developmental differences must also be considered when studying asthma in different age

populations or in pathogenesis. Asthma has been modeled in large animals, such as cats and pigs, but pertaining to work in this thesis, this section will focus on guinea pig and mouse models of airway physiology and asthma.

Guinea pig

Guinea pigs are commonly used as animal models for studying asthma. This is because guinea pig airway physiology is dominated by receptors whose pharmacology is the closest to that of humans (Canning and Chou, 2008). Furthermore, guinea pig airway anatomy is similar to humans, as opposed to mice. For example, mice lack subepithelial vasculature and have very few mucus glands, rather they depend more on goblet cells for mucus production (Choi et al., 2000). Guinea pigs also have similar airway smooth muscle anatomy and physiology to humans, as opposed to mice which have very little airway smooth muscle (Canning and Chou, 2008). Guinea pig airway smooth muscle has spontaneous tone controlled by autocrine and paracrine signaling very similar to humans, and it also secretes the chemokine eotaxin for eosinophil chemotaxis as in humans (Lambley and Smith, 1975; Ellis and Undem, 1994; Li et al., 1997; Ghaffar et al., 1999). Similar to humans, the autonomic innervation of airway smooth muscle in guinea pig is dominated by cholinergic nerves releasing acetylcholine onto postjunctional contractile M3 muscarinic receptors, with sparse adrenergic relaxant innervation of the intrapulmonary airways (Roffel et al., 1990; Preuss and Goldie, 1999). Nonadrenergic non-cholinergic relaxant innervation, as opposed to adrenergic relaxant innervation, is mediated by nitric oxide and vasoactive intestinal peptide and is the

more dominant form of relaxation of airway smooth muscle in both guinea pigs and humans (Li and Rand, 1991; Ward et al., 1995). The reflex responses in the airway triggered by sensory afferents are also similar in guinea pigs and humans, particularly the cough reflex, which some argue is absent in mice (Canning, 2006; Canning et al., 2006). Finally, histamine is the allergic mediator released by mast cells in response to cross linking of their high affinity IgE receptors in humans and guinea pigs, but in mice it is serotonin (Martin et al., 1988; Bjorck and Dahlen, 1993). This makes the guinea pig a more relevant model of allergic sensitization. While the guinea pig airway models many of the important features of human airway physiology, pharmacology, and disease, there are some differences from humans. For example, the sensory axon reflex of local tachykinin release without relay to the central nervous system is a hallmark of guinea pig responses, but is largely absent in humans (Canning and Chou, 2008). Beyond the similarities in the guinea pig and human airways, the larger size of the guinea pig relative to the mouse makes both in vivo and in vitro measurements of airway physiology more feasible. Models of asthma in the guinea pig used in the work presented in this thesis include allergen sensitization and respiratory virus infection.

Mouse

The mouse is a widely used laboratory animal model. Its advantages are numerous from size to rapid breeding, as well as widespread availability of reagents for research. The particular advantage that makes mouse indispensible is the widespread generation of transgenic strains with genes knocked out or

overexpressed to study the function of all aspects of biological functions, by the presence, absence, or overexpression of a gene product. For this reason, despite differences in airway physiology, the mouse model is still an important tool for understanding the airways. The development of tools for the generation of more transgenic species holds promise that similar studies will one day be carried out in a more pertinent animal model for airway physiology. The mouse has shortcomings beyond those described in the previous section, particularly with regards to modeling allergic asthma. Accumulation of eosinophils in the epithelium of allergen sensitized and acutely challenged mice is lacking, and the eosinophils present are not readily degranulated upon activation (Korsgren et al., 1997; Malm-Erjefalt et al., 2001). The consequences of inflammation are also very different, with less inflammation of the airway wall, subepithelial fibrosis, and epithelial cell proliferation (Kumar and Foster, 2002). Nonetheless, the positive contributions from transgenic strains outweigh the negative, and work in this thesis is also carried out in allergen sensitization and challenge, virus infection, and transgenic mouse models.

FIGURE 1.3. The asthmatic human airway is obstructed by inflammation and hyperreactive airway smooth muscle contraction, making breathing difficult.



Figure 1.1. Inflammation of the airways in the human lungs combined with hyperreactive contraction of the airway smooth muscle, results in narrowing of the airway lumen and airway obstruction. In the lower left is a normal airway and on the right, an obstructed airway. The increased swelling, mucus secretion, airway smooth muscle contraction, and immune cell infiltration indicated in the schematic all contribute to narrowing the airway diameter. By courtesy of Encyclopaedia Britannica, Inc., copyright 2001; used with permission.

FIGURE 1.4. Inhibitory M2 muscarinic receptors and airway hyperreactivity mediated by M2 dysfunction following virus-induced eosinophil activation.

Α





Airway smooth muscle

Figure 1.4. (A) This schematic shows the parasympathetic innervation of airway smooth muscle around the airway lumen of a normal airway. Acetylcholine released from the nerve terminals induces contraction via M3 muscarinic receptors on the airway smooth muscle. Acetylcholine also feeds back onto inhibitory M2 muscarinic receptors limiting further acetylcholine release and limiting bronchoconstriction. (B) This schematic shows the effects of virus, allergen, or pollutant induced eosinophil activation around parasympathetic nerves in an asthmatic airway. Major basic protein (MBP) released from the eosinophils antagonizes the inhibitory M2 muscarinic receptors. The result is increased acetylcholine release and increased bronchoconstriction. This effect can be inhibited by depleting eosinophils with an antibody to IL-5 or neutralizing major basic protein with an antibody.

D. INNATE IMMUNITY AND TOLL-LIKE RECEPTOR 7

This thesis focuses on virus-induced exacerbations of asthma, described in the previous section. Asthma and allergy may be part of a defective immune response. Furthermore, some of the deleterious effects of asthma, such as airway remodeling, arise from aberrant tissue damage due to overactivity or autoactivity of the immune system. This section describes mechanisms by which the lungs detect respiratory virus infections and the subsequent immune response to clear the infections. Because the experimental body of this work addresses the role of Toll-like receptor 7, particular attention is given to the detection of viruses by this receptor of the innate immune system.

1. The innate immune system

The adaptive immune system provides protection from invading pathogens in the form of memory from the first encounter, with specificity towards that pathogen to mount the appropriate response to combat subsequent encounters. The adaptive immune response, even after the first encounter, requires several days of clonal expansion of the specific lymphocytes involved in the response. Before the recruitment of T and B lymphocytes to the site of infection for cytotoxic or antibody-mediated protection, pathogens are first recognized by receptors of the innate immune system which mount an early immune response to fight the pathogen and recruit the adaptive immune system (Janeway and Medzhitov, 2002). These receptors recognize conserved molecular patterns against whole classes of pathogens. Their ability to recognize these patterns is genetically encoded and not

the result of somatic recombination, as is the case for antibodies. For example, a molecular structure from a highly conserved component of a virus genome will trigger a general antiviral response, in spite of not recognizing which specific virus subtype it is. In spite of its lack of specificity, the innate immune system has the ability to distinguish between pathogens and self on resident cells and structures.

Allergy arises from the triggering of a T_h2-type immune response to allergens. The innate immune system is responsible for initially recognizing the allergen and mounting this defense. This comes in the form of an IgE dominated antibody response, and as discussed previously, crosslinking of high affinity IgE receptors on mast cells resulting in their degranulation and release of allergic mediators. These are the same mediators required to fight extracellular parasites like helminth worm infections, so there is an evolutionary basis for maintaining this seemingly pathological immune response (Medzhitov, 2010). Some allergens contain proteases that mimic proteases found in parasites that trigger T_h2 responses, so the recognition of these allergens might come from the misinterpretation of enzymatic activity as that of a parasite (Sokol et al., 2008). Allergens may have structures that resemble parasitic structures, or alternatively adjuvant properties of microbial pathogens encountered at the same time as sensitizing allergens could mount a response against those allergens (Akira et al., 2001). Regardless how the response is initiated, the immune environment in the lung is set by the cytokines released by various resident and immune cells in response to the antigens breathed into the airways and by the signaling cascades triggered by pattern recognition receptors of the innate immune system. Pathogenic imbalance of the immune system skewing it
towards T_h2 away from T_h1 is the result of these signal cascades triggering the production of T_h2-type cytokines, such as IL-5 and IL-13, or the absence of signal cascades that trigger the production of T_h1-type cytokines, such as IL-10 and interferon-γ. The pattern recognition receptors that trigger these signal cascades include protein kinase R, 2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthase, Nod-like receptors, RIG-1, and Toll-like receptors (Janeway and Medzhitov, 2002). Interferon production in response to innate recognition of a virus infection results in many antiviral responses including development of a stronger more specific adaptive immune response, upregulation of major histocompatibility complex type I for presentation of intracellular virus antigens, induction of CD8+ cytotoxic T cells to kill virus infected cells, and the inhibition of virus RNA replication and protein synthesis (Iwasaki and Medzhitov, 2004; Theofilopoulos et al., 2005).

2. Toll-like receptors (TLRs)

Toll-like receptors were first identified for their role in dorso-ventral axis formation in *Drosophila* development (Hashimoto et al., 1988). It was recognized that the *Drosophila* TLR and the human IL-1 receptor have homologous cytoplasmic adaptor domains now termed Toll-interleukin 1 receptor (TIR domains), and both receptors induced nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-κB) signaling (Belvin and Anderson, 1996). It was later found that *Drosophila* Toll mutants were susceptible to fungal infection (Lemaitre et al., 1996), and the association of mammalian TLRs and immunity became increasingly clear.

Structurally, TLRs are single pass type I transmembrane proteins with extracellular leucine-rich repeats that participate in ligand recognition, and an intracellular TIR domain for signal transduction (Kawai and Akira, 2010).

TLRs recognize pathogen associated molecular patterns including lipids, proteins and nucleic acids from bacteria, funguses, parasites, and viruses (Janeway and Medzhitov, 2002) (Figure 1.5). Though differences exist based on the specific cell type and TLR, canonical TLR signaling proceeds through the TIR domain containing adaptor molecule MyD88, and the assembly of a signal scaffold that triggers the downstream activation of transcription factors (Figure 1.5). These transcription factors, including NF- κ B, interferon regulatory factors, and AP-1 from the MAPK pathway, regulate the expression of a wide range of inflammatory genes, including those for cytokines, chemokines, antigen presentation, antimicrobial peptides, and costimulatory molecules. These products are involved in mounting an immediate host defense and the induction of an adaptive immune response against the invading pathogen (Janeway and Medzhitov, 2002). Of note, TLR3 for double stranded (ds) virus RNA, does not signal through MyD88, but instead the TIR domain containing TRIF (TIR domain containing adaptor inducing interferon- β), and TLR4, for bacterial lipopolysaccharide, can signal through both MyD88 and TRIF (Diebold et al., 2003; Yamamoto et al., 2003).

The TLRs that recognize viral products predominantly recognize virus nucleic acids, though other TLRs might recognize molecular patterns of the virus coat. TLR7 and TLR8 recognize virus ssRNA, TLR3 recognizes virus dsRNA, and TLR9 recognizes

virus or bacterial DNA. Because viruses are intracellular pathogens, TLR3, TLR7, TLR8, and TLR9 predominantly signal intracellularly in acidic endosomes (Ahmad-Nejad et al., 2002; Heil et al., 2003; Matsumoto et al., 2003; Funami et al., 2004). They translocate from the endoplasmic reticulum to the endosome upon ligand stimulation (Kim et al., 2008). The current thought is that this localization prevents the recognition of self-RNA and DNA to prevent autoimmunity (Barton et al., 2006; Diebold et al., 2006). This subcellular localization and translocation, however, has been characterized in immune cells, and other subcellular or cell surface localization cannot be ruled out at this time. Importantly, the subcellular localization is controlled by coordinated signaling of a number of components (Figure 1.5), so defects in any of these components could result in TLR dysfunction.

TLR dysfunction is associated with a number of human diseases, as it perturbs the delicate balance of the immune system's protective and deleterious functions. TLR4 polymorphisms in humans are associated with reduced responsiveness to gram-negative bacteria and respiratory syncytial virus, both ligands for TLR4 (Kadowaki et al., 2001; Agnese et al., 2002; Lorenz et al., 2002; Zarember and Godowski, 2002; Child et al., 2003; Tal et al., 2004). These infections result in severe health problems including bacterial sepsis and bronchiolitis. TLR2 mutations in humans are associated with increased susceptibility to tuberculosis and leprosy (Kang and Chae, 2001; Ben-Ali et al., 2004).

Exposure to lipopolysaccharide early in life is associated with decreases in asthma and allergy (Michel et al., 1996; Braun-Fahrlander et al., 2002). TLR4 activity

induces T_h1 -type cytokine signaling skewing the airway towards this immune environment. The early exposure in life to lipopolysaccharide might result in strong induction of T_h1 cytokine production, reducing the occurrence of asthma and allergy.

Because of their immunomodulatory capability, TLRs are a therapeutic target of growing interest. Tumors have been targeted with TLR ligands to induce the production of cytokines to initiate an immune response that will kill as well as to induce apoptosis in the tumor cells and protect against future recurrence (Carpentier et al., 2006; Quirk et al., 2010). TLR agonists have also been studied for their potential neuroprotective effects from stroke and cerebral ischemia (Bsibsi et al., 2006; Marsh and Stenzel-Poore, 2008). TLR ligands have been proposed for protection against lupus, rheumatoid arthritis, Chrohn's disease, and atherosclerosis, to reduce the autoinflammation associated with the diseases (Andreakos et al., 2004; Barrat et al., 2005).

3. Toll-like receptor 7 and Toll-like receptor 8

The work in this thesis focuses on TLR7 signaling. TLR7 recognizes virus ssRNA as well as synthetic molecules of the imidazoquinoline and guanosine analog structural classes (Hemmi et al., 2002; Heil et al., 2003; Lee et al., 2003). One of the imidazoquinoline compounds, R837 (Imiquimod), is marketed as Aldara for the treatment of genital warts and other virus induced lesions, including cancers (Chang et al., 2005). The mechanism of action is the induction of interferons and the infiltration of immune cells to destroy the virus infection. The ability of the innate

immune system to recruit the adaptive immune system provides future protection and limits recurrence of these virus-induced lesions. Because TLR7 recognizes virus ssRNA, synthetic ssRNA ligands have been developed based off virus nucleotide sequences derived from human immunodeficiency virus, vesicular stomatitis virus, and influenza virus (Diebold et al., 2004; Heil et al., 2004; Lund et al., 2004). There is, however, much species-dependence on which synthetic ligands and virus sequences are recognized by TLR7, TLR8, or both. Though it will not be discussed further here, TLR9 recognizes viral CpG DNA from Herpes simplex viruses, and induces interferon production to combat the virus infection (Lund et al., 2003; Krug et al., 2004).

TLR7 and TLR8 both recognize virus ssRNA and induce interferon production for antiviral immunity (Hoshino et al., 2002; Hemmi et al., 2003). This overlapping or redundant function probably exists for a reason. Perhaps the difference lies in the specific virus ssRNA sequences they recognize. Some propose that the guanine and uridine (G/U) content of the virus ssRNA sequence confers specificity to TLR8, but there are contradictions in this claim across groups (Heil et al., 2004; Hornung et al., 2005; Meier et al., 2007). Another possibility is the differential expression allows specific responses from different cell types. For example, human plasmacytoid dendritic cells express TLR7 and myeloid dendritic cells express TLR8 in humans (Diebold, 2008). With the recent development of a TLR8-deficient mouse, it was shown that TLR8 serves a role in regulating TLR7 function, with hyperreactive TLR7 responses in dendritic cells deficient in TLR8 (Demaria et al., 2010). However, a compensatory TLR7 upregulation cannot be ruled out as the reason for this

observation. TLRs dimerize in response to ligand binding, and TLR2 has been shown to heterodimerize with TLR1 and TLR6 to differentiate between diacyl and triacyl bacterial lipopeptides respectively (Takeuchi et al., 2001; Takeuchi et al., 2002). Potentially, TLR7 and TLR8 heterodimerize to make a unique signaling species from TLR7 or TLR8 homodimers. When cotransfected into HEK293 cells physical interactions cross regulating function were shown between TLR7, 8, and 9 (Wang et al., 2006a). Many of the problems differentiating the roles for these receptors might arise from their expression alone in recombinant cell lines or their individual knockout in deficient mouse strains. The absence of a response to specific ligands might not be due to the absence of a single receptor, rather the absence of the ability to form heterodimers. For example the basis for the redundant recognition of the imidazoquinoline compound R848 by both TLR7 and TLR8 comes from the lone recombinant expression of either TLR7 or TLR8 in HEK293 cells (Jurk et al., 2002). Furthermore, the presence of thymidine homopolymer oligodeoxynucleotides induced plasticity in ligand recognition between human TLR7 and TLR8, suppressing TLR7 function and promoting TLR8 function, again demonstrating a lack of a simple distinction as redundant receptors (Jurk et al., 2006).

Another example of the poor characterization of ligand recognition by TLR7 and TLR8 is that TLR8 was identified as nonfunctional in mice (Heil et al., 2004). This is a dubious claim due to the evolutionary pressure necessary in the maintenance of a vestigial receptor. This citation is frequently referenced to demonstrate that TLR8 is nonfunctional in mice, but is based on unpublished results claiming a lack of response to ssRNA in murine TLR8-deficient dendritic cells. This TLR8-deficient

mouse is not available in strain banks and no other publications exist from this mouse. To put to rest the concept of nonfunctional mouse TLR8, it was shown that coincubating TLR7 ligands with thymidine homopolymer oligodeoxynucleotides potentiates the function of mouse TLR8 and abrogates the function of mouse TLR7 expressed in HEK293 cells (Gorden et al., 2006). More recently it was shown that TLR8 mediates the activation of mouse plasmacytoid dendritic cells by vaccinia viral DNA, a non-ssRNA pathogen molecule (Martinez et al., 2010). As of recently, a new TLR8-deficient mouse strain was generated (Demaria et al., 2010). Responses to TLR7 and TLR8 ligands in these mice compared to TLR7-deficient and TLR7/8 double-deficient mice will be important for understanding the differences or similarities between these receptors and their potential interactions.

When considering how viruses interact with the airways, it is important to determine in which organs and cells TLR7 and TLR8 are expressed. Based on mRNA pooled from whole immune organs, it was determined that the highest TLR7 and TLR8 expression levels are in the lung and spleen (Chuang and Ulevitch, 2000; Nishimura and Naito, 2007). Because its original mammalian functional identification was in the innate immune system, TLR7 expression has been highly characterized in immune cells. TLR7 is expressed in eosinophils and mast cells, and functions in the activation of these allergy-related immune cells (Nagase et al., 2003; Kulka et al., 2004; Heib et al., 2007; Phipps et al., 2007; Wong et al., 2007). This activation is rapid, and is an example of a non-canonical TLR7 signaling mechanism probably not involving gene regulation to be discussed later with regards to the work in this thesis. Human eosinophils from atopic donors are hyperreactive in

response to TLR7 ligands (Mansson and Cardell, 2009). There are conflicting reports in the literature about whether TLR7 is expressed in neutrophils, but consensus exists that they express TLR8 (Francois et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2008; Janke et al., 2009). Consistent with their primary function as antigen presenting cells, pulmonary plasmacytoid dendritic cells express TLR7 and pulmonary myeloid dendritic cells express TLR8 (Demedts et al., 2006). TLR7 expression in B cells is critical for driving the appropriate antibody isotype switching in response to influenza virus infection (Heer et al., 2007).

TLR7 is also expressed in a wide range of nonimmune cell types. TLR7 expression was identified in cultured airway smooth muscle, which was upregulated by incubation with IL-1β and TNF-α (Sukkar et al., 2006). Though they are not airway cells, the expression of TLR7 and TLR8 in cardiac muscle further supports the ability of contractile muscle cells to express these TLRs (Triantafilou et al., 2005). As airway epithelial cells are among the first exposed to inspirated respiratory viruses, they also express TLR7. TLR7 is expressed in endothelial cells affecting immune cell extravasation into the tissue (Gunzer et al., 2005). Though it has yet to be shown in airway neurons, the precedence of TLR7 and TLR8 expression and function in peripheral and central neurons and microglial cells has been established (Olson and Miller, 2004; Su et al., 2005; Ma et al., 2006; Butchi et al., 2010; Goethals et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2010). It is clear that TLR7 and TLR8 are expressed in a wide range of cell types, suggesting their importance in mediating antiviral protection, particularly in the lung.

Almost all of the effects of TLR7 described above arise from canonical signaling via modulation of gene expression. The work in this thesis focuses on non-canonical signaling mechanisms of TLR7 that can result in faster effects on airway physiology. Non-canonical TLR7 signaling remains largely uncharacterized. Some of the signaling pathways described in an earlier section on airway smooth muscle have been implicated at some level with TLR signaling and will be discussed here.

The TLR4 ligand lipopolysaccharide can induce prostaglandin E₂-dependent relaxation of isolated mouse trachea *in vitro* (Balzary and Cocks, 2006). Though the maximum relaxant effect of lipopolysaccharide was achieved in 60 minutes, acute relaxation was measured within 15 minutes of administration to the organ bath. In human neutrophils, the TLR7 and TLR8 agonist R848 primes the cells for release of prostaglandin E₂ in response to N-Formylmethionyl-leucyl-phenylalanine (fMLP) stimulation within 10 minutes of administration (Hattermann et al., 2007). These data suggest that TLR7 signaling can induce prostaglandin E₂ release, a mediator with fast signaling effects through G-protein coupled receptors as described earlier.

TLR4 and TLR2 ligands can amplify MaxiK potassium channel activity to activate human macrophages within minutes of administration (Scheel et al., 2006). If this mechanism is conserved in the context of airway smooth muscle membrane repolarization and relaxation, it demonstrates the ability of TLRs to signal through this critical regulator of smooth muscle physiology.

The relaxant effect of lipopolysaccharide mentioned above also occurs in isolated guinea pig tracheas, and is partially dependent on nitric oxide (Fedan et al., 1995).

The TLR7 agonist R837 induces nitric oxide production in B cells (Tumurkhuu et al., 2009). These data suggest that nitric oxide signaling is functionally coupled to TLR signaling in smooth muscle and that a TLR7 agonist can also induce nitric oxide production. Therefore, the possibility exists that TLR7 signaling in airway smooth muscle cells can result in the production of nitric oxide, a rapid regulator of airway smooth muscle physiology. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase, which can be activated by TLR7 agonists, is involved in the activation of the nitric oxide synthase enzyme for the production of nitric oxide (Francois et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2006b; Hazeki et al., 2007). Perhaps the regulation of nitric oxide production is accomplished through phosphoinositide 3-kinase, which is involved in the recruitment of a number of signal scaffolding molecules to the cell membrane, affecting a number of pathways regulating airway smooth muscle physiology.

Mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways, though primarily involved in the regulation of gene expression, also have targets along their signal cascades that can mediate acute changes in airway physiology. MAPK is also a pathway involved in canonical TLR7 signaling. Focal adhesion kinase is involved in MAPK activation of eosinophil migration in response to microbial infection, and the TLR7 agonist R837 activates eosinophils through focal adhesion kinase (Cheung et al., 2008). Focal adhesion kinase regulates actin polymerization and depolymerization during contraction and relaxation in airway smooth muscle, as well as rapid changes in the cytoskeleton of the smooth muscle in response to changes in airway inflation (Smith et al., 1997; Gunst et al., 2003). If the focal adhesion kinase signaling pathway is

functionally coupled to TLR7 signaling in airway smooth muscle cells, it too could have rapid effects on airway smooth muscle function.

Adenosine receptors are G-protein coupled receptors whose signaling can have bronchoconstrictive or bronchodilatory affects on airway smooth muscle, as described earlier (Smith and Broadley, 2008). The TLR7 agonist R837 has been shown to interact with adenosine receptors as an off target effect, but synergy between adenosine A2a receptors and TLR7 has also been reported (Pinhal-Enfield et al., 2003; Schon et al., 2006).

Canonical TLR7 signaling involving regulation of gene expression is not the only effect of TLR7 stimulation. Non-genomic fast signaling mechanisms implicated in airway smooth muscle physiology might also be involved.

TLR7 and TLR8 polymorphisms are associated with asthma. This was determined by linkage analysis in families with high asthma prevalence, as well as reduced TLR7 responsiveness to R837 in blood mononuclear cells from adolescents with asthma (Moller-Larsen et al., 2008; Roponen et al., 2010). The reduced responsiveness might result in defective immunity against viruses, or it might result in skewing towards T_h2 type immunity due to the reduced production of T_h1 cytokines.

Asthma and allergy are associated with T_h2-type immunity, which results in reduced resistance to virus infections and increased inflammation and airway remodeling mediated by T_h2 cytokines. TLR7 signaling is associated with upregulation of cytokines for T_h1-type immunity skewing away from T_h2-type immunity. Therefore, many groups have shown that administration of TLR7 ligands in animal models of

allergic inflammation results in reduced airway remodeling, IgE production, airway hyperreactivity, and inflammation (Stokes et al., 1998; Quarcoo et al., 2004; Napolitani et al., 2005; Moisan et al., 2006; Camateros et al., 2007; Sel et al., 2007; Xirakia et al., 2010). These characteristics have led to the proposal of TLR7 agonists as prophylactic therapeutics for humans with asthma, providing chronic protection from T_h2-type inflammation, virus infection, and asthma. Little is known about the acute effects of these ligands on airway physiology in short time frames irrelevant to most inflammatory processes. The work in this thesis addresses the rapid effects of TLR7 signaling in airway physiology, and proposes a further therapeutic use of TLR7 agonists as rescue medications from acute bronchoconstriction during an active asthma attack.



FIGURE 1.5. Canonical Toll-like receptor ligands and signaling.

Figure 1.5. Upon recognition of their cognate pathogen associated molecular pattern or synthetic agonist, TLR signaling propagates through a scaffold of TIR-domain containing proteins for the downstream activation of transcription factors. The end result is upregulation of genes involved in inflammation and those involved in a direct antiviral response for the clearance of the infection. TLR is Toll-like receptor; LPS is lipopolysaccharide; MyD88 is myeloid differentiation factor 88; TIR

is Toll interleukin 1- β receptor homology domain; TRIF is TIR domain-containing adaptor inducing interferon- β ; TIRAP is TIR domain-containing adaptor protein; TRAM is TRIF-related adaptor molecule.

E. HYPOTHESIS AND RESEARCH AIMS

Because of the close association of respiratory viruses and asthma attacks, it is important to understand why the symptoms of respiratory viruses in subjects with asthma are more severe and longer lasting than in healthy humans who are also subject to the same respiratory virus infections. When considering how viruses can mediate or trigger the asthmatic response, the mechanisms through which viruses can be recognized must be considered. The innate immune system is involved in early detection of virus infection to mount an acute antiviral inflammatory response in the lungs. The main symptoms of asthma, airway hyperreactivity and inflammation, are interdependent. Polymorphisms of Toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7), a receptor of the innate immune system for virus ssRNA that is expressed at the highest levels in the lungs, are associated with human asthma. Perhaps the innate immune response to the virus infection is defective in humans with asthma, contributing to a hyperreactive bronchoconstrictor response.

Eosinophils found in the airways of many humans with asthma and allergen sensitized guinea pigs express TLR7 and can be activated by synthetic TLR7 ligands and ssRNA viruses *in vitro*. Eosinophil activation by respiratory viruses is associated with airway hyperreactivity mediated by postganglionic prejunctional M2 muscarinic receptor dysfunction *in vivo*. My original hypothesis, therefore, was that TLR7 agonist-mediated activation of eosinophils in the airways of allergensensitized guinea pigs is responsible for virus-induced airway hyperreactivity. My preliminary data, however, suggested otherwise. I was surprised to find that

intravenous (i.v.) administration of a TLR7 agonist, R837, abolished vagal and i.v. acetylcholine-induced bronchoconstriction in guinea pigs *in vivo* within minutes of administration. This finding was surprising not only because the TLR7 agonist was a bronchodilator instead of a bronchoconstrictor. It was also surprising because the effect was rapid occurring in seconds and minutes, while canonical TLR7 signaling is associated with the regulation of expression of genes whose products contribute to the appropriate antiviral inflammatory response, effects that take place over hours and days.

An acute bronchodilator effect mediated by TLR7 is interesting both because of the novel non-canonical signaling pathways mediated by TLR7, as well as the potential therapeutic benefit of acute bronchodilators as rescue medications for asthma attacks. Furthermore, the bronchodilatory effect of a TLR7 agonist might represent a bronchoprotective mechanism to maintain unobstructed breathing during a respiratory virus infection. An inflammatory response is beneficial for clearing the respiratory virus infection, but symptoms of disease are often due to the deleterious effects of this inflammatory response. The mucus secretion, sloughing off epithelium, edema, swelling, and immune cell infiltration contribute to clearance of the virus infection, but if these effects remain unopposed, the resulting airway obstruction limits breathing essential for the host to live. While much is known about how the immune system contributes to inflammation, less is known about how the deleterious effects of the immune system are controlled. Perhaps a mechanism has evolved so that the airways dilate in response to respiratory viruses

to maintain airflow and breathing during the inflammation associated with the clearance of the infection. *The overall hypothesis tested in this thesis is that noncanonical TLR7 signaling mediates rapid bronchodilation within minutes, an effect that is defective in asthma.* Specifically, these studies will determine if TLR7 mediates the bronchodilatory effects of TLR7 agonists, at which cell types in the airway this effect is mediated, the signaling mechanisms involved, if the effect translates to humans for therapeutic potential, and if this relaxant effect is intact in animal models of asthma.

CHAPTER II.

GENERAL METHODS

A. ANIMALS AND TISSUES

1. Choice of animals versus humans

As described in the introduction, the guinea pig airway is a good model for the human airway with high similarity in innervation, pharmacology, and inflammation. Though the mouse has many differences in airway physiology than humans, the availability of TLR7-deficient mice made it necessary to characterize effects in mouse including wildtype, TLR7-deficient, and models of asthma.

1. Guinea pigs

Specific pathogen-free female Hartley guinea pigs (300 – 350 g; Elm Hill Breeding Labs Chelmsford, MA) were shipped in filtered crates, kept in high-efficiency particulate-filtered air, and fed a normal diet.

Animals were handled in accordance with NIH guidelines. Protocols were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Oregon Health and Science University.

2. Mice

C57BL/6 mice (approximately 6 week-old; The Jackson Laboratory Sacramento, CA) were shipped in filtered crates, kept in high-efficiency particulate-filtered air, and a

fed a normal diet. Mice used for virus infections and corresponding uninfected controls were kept in a BSL-2 facility prior to infection.

TLR7-deficient mice (B6.129S1-Tlr7tm1Flv/J; The Jackson Laboratory Sacramento, CA) were generated as previously described, with a LacZ cassette disrupting TLR7 from upstream nucleotide (291 bp) corresponding to the promoter of the TLR7 gene to the downstream nucleotides corresponding with amino acid 803 of the TLR7 gene (Lund et al., 2004). Homozygotes for the knockout construct were used in experiments, however they were not successful breeders. Therefore heterozygous females were mated to hemizygous males (TLR7 is on the X chromosome, so males only have one copy).

NJ1726 mice were a generous gift from Jamie and Nancy Lee (Mayo Clinic, Scottsdale, AZ) and generated as previously described (Lee et al., 1997). Briefly, these mice have IL-5 expressed under a Clara cell-specific promoter resulting in IL-5 overexpression in the lungs and increased eosinophil numbers in the lungs.

PHIL mice were a generous gift from Jamie and Nancy Lee (Mayo Clinic, Scottsdale, AZ) and generated as previously described (Lee et al., 2004). Briefly, these mice have diptheria toxin expressed under an eosinophil-specific promoter, depleting eosinophils.

NJ1726/PHIL mice were generated by mating NJ1726 with PHIL mice.

Animals were handled in accordance with NIH guidelines. Protocols were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Oregon Health and Science University.

3. Human trachea

Human tracheas were obtained from the Pacific Northwest Transplant Bank (Portland, OR).

B. MEASUREMENTS OF AIRWAY PHYSIOLOGY

1. In vivo guinea pig bronchoconstriction

Guinea pigs were anaesthetized with urethane (1.9 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.), a non-depolarizing drug with little effect on respiratory and cardiovascular systems. They were chemically sympathectomized with guanethidine (5 mg kg⁻¹ i.v.), to deplete norepinephrine and limit adrenergic input. They were paralyzed with a constant infusion of succinylcholine (10 µg kg⁻¹ min⁻¹ i.v.), to prevent breathing patterns controlled by the animal. Animals were tracheostomized and mechanically ventilated (tidal volume 2.5 ml, 100 breaths per minute). Both vagi were cut and distal portions attached to platinum electrodes submerged in liquid paraffin. Drugs were administered through cannulas in both jugular veins. Heart rate and blood pressure were measured by a transducer connected to a cannula in one carotid artery. Pulmonary inflation pressure was measured by a transducer connected to a

side arm of the tracheal cannula. Bronchoconstriction was induced by electrical stimulation of the vagi (10 V, 10 Hz, 0.2 msec pulse duration, 5 sec on, 60 sec off) or administration of acetylcholine (2ug kg⁻¹). See Figure 2.1 for schematic representation.

2. In vitro contraction of isolated guinea pig trachea

Contractions of isolated tracheas were measured *in vitro* as previously reported (Murray and Jacoby, 1992). Guinea pigs were killed with an overdose of pentobarbital (150mg/kg). The trachea was removed and cut between tracheal rings into segments. 0.5 cm rings of trachea were suspended in a 5 ml organ bath (Radnoti Glass Technology Inc., Monrovia, CA) that contained Kreb's solution (117.5 mM NaCL, 5.0 mM KCl, 1.18 mM MgSO₄, 1.47 mM NaH₂PO₄, 25 mM NaHCO₃, 5.54 mM D-glucose, bubbled with a $95\%O_2$ - $5\%CO_2$ gas mixture). The segments were supported by loops of silk through the tracheal lumen, with the lower thread tied to a hook at the bottom of the bath and the upper thread tied to a Grass FT03 isometric force transducer (Grass Instrument Co, Quincy, MA). Except for studies involving isoproterenol, propranalol (1 μ M) was added to the Kreb's solution. Segments were equilibrated in the bath at 1 g tension for 60 min, and washed with Krebs solution every 15 min. Tracheal contractions were induced with methacholine (10 μ M), histamine (10 µM), KCl (20 mM or 100 mM), or electrical field stimulation (EFS; 100 V, 20 Hz, 0.2 msec pulse duration, 15 sec on, 150 sec off). Tension recordings were made on a Powerlab/8SP (ADinstruments, Castle Hill, Australia). Except for EFS experiments, drugs were administered cumulatively to the bath following induction

of sustained contractions. For EFS drugs were administered between contractions, as it induces transient contractions. 100% maximum contraction is defined as the maximum contraction induced by the indicated contracting stimulus after administration of vehicle and before the administration of bronchodilating drugs. Values are normalized to a time-control corresponding to each dose. For guinea pig trachea, a single animal can provide six to eight tracheal segments, each in its own bath. See Figure 2.2 for picture and schematic.

3. In vitro contraction of isolated human trachea.

The procedure is the same as in guinea pig, but instead of the trachea being cut into rings, the trachea segments are suspended as strips due to the large size of the trachea and inability for rings to fit in 5 ml organ baths. Briefly, the human trachea is cut ventrally through the cartilage to open it. Excess cartilage is removed leaving only 0.5 cm on both sides of the trachealis muscle on the dorsal side of the trachea. Strips are cut perpendicular to the trachealis muscle, and strung up in the organ bath with a loop of silk thread going through the cartilage on both sides of the trahchealis muscle. Depending on the size of trachea obtained, four to eight 1 cm wide tracheal strips can be obtained from a single donor, each strip in its own bath.

4. In vitro contraction of isolated mouse trachea.

The procedure is the same as in guinea pig, though due to the small size of the trachea it is not cut into segments. Instead, a whole trachea removed from a single

mouse is cut just above the bifurcation into the main bronchi, and below the 4th tracheal ring after the larynx. Therefore, a single mouse provides tissue for a single organ bath.

FIGURE 2.1. In vivo measurement of bronchoconstriction.



Figure 2.1. Schematic representation of an anaesthetized and paralyzed guinea pig on its back. Shown in the schematic are the canulated trachea through which the animal is mechanically ventilated and pulmonary inflation pressure is measured. Also shown is the electrical stimulation of the vagus nerve to induce bronchoconstriction. Drugs are administered i.v. through a canula in the jugular vein, not shown here. Figure adapted from (Fryer, 1986).

FIGURE 2.2. *In vitro* measurement of tracheal contraction.



Figure 2.2 (A) Picture of a full organ bath system with four baths and one buffer reservoir feeding the individual baths. (B) Picture of an individual bath, in which a tracheal segment is suspended. Buffer enters through the tube on the bottom right, and leaves through the top right tube during washout. A mixture of 95% O₂ and 5%CO₂ is bubbled into the bath through the back tube. A 37°C water jacket circulates around the bath through the upper left tube. Electrical stimulation is delivered through the electrodes visible in the bath. (C) Schematic of the setup of the trachea segment within an individual bath and how changes in tension are measured.

C. MATERIALS

TLR agonists R837, R848, CLO97, gardiquimod, peptidoglycan, and flagellin, and the MyD88 inhibitor peptide were obtained from Invivogen (San Diego, CA). The previously described TLR7 antagonist IRS661 (Barrat et al., 2005), and the 21-mer phosphorothioated ssRNA oligonucleotides, PolyUs and PolyAs, were custom synthesized by Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA). Sendai virus stock was obtained from ATCC. All other drugs and chemicals were obtained from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO).

D. STATISTICS

Two-way ANOVA analysis with repeated measures and Bonferroni's multiple comparison post-test was used to compare multiple means across groups. One-way ANOVA analysis with repeated measures and Bonferroni's multiple comparison post-test was used for the effect of dose within a single group. Analysis was done using GraphPad Prism software. Significance is indicated as *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01 and ***P < 0.001. All error bars represent the s.e.m.

CHAPTER III.

TOLL-LIKE RECEPTOR 7 AGONISTS INDUCE ACUTE BRONCHODILATION WITHIN MINUTES OF ADMINISTRATION IN GUINEA PIGS, MICE, AND HUMANS

ABSTRACT

Respiratory virus infections result in asthma exacerbations. TLR7 is a receptor for virus single-stranded RNA and is expressed at high levels in the lungs. Because TLR7 polymorphisms are associated with asthma, I examined effects of TLR7 agonists in guinea pig airways *in vivo*, as well as in isolated guinea pig, mouse, and human tracheas *in vitro*. I induced bronchoconstriction in guinea pigs *in vivo* by electrical stimulation of the vagus nerve or by i.v. administration of acetylcholine and measured the effect of a TLR7 agonist administered i.v. I induced contraction of airway smooth muscle in segments of isolated guinea pig, mouse, and human trachea in vitro with electrical field stimulation, methacholine, histamine, and potassium chloride, and measured the effect of TLR7 agonists administered directly to the bath. TLR7 agonists dose-dependently and acutely inhibited bronchoconstriction in vivo and relaxed contraction of airway smooth muscle in vitro within minutes of administration. These data demonstrate a novel protective mechanism to limit bronchoconstriction and maintain airflow during respiratory virus infections. The fast time frame is inconsistent with canonical TLR7 signaling, suggesting a previously undescribed nontranscriptional component to TLR7 signaling. TLR7 is an attractive therapeutic target for its ability to reverse bronchoconstriction within minutes.

INTRODUCTION

Viruses have been detected in 80% of acute exacerbations of asthma in children and 50% of acute exacerbations in adults (Johnston et al., 1995; Atmar et al., 1998). These airway viruses induce inflammatory responses in lungs via multiple signaling pathways, including protein kinase R, retinoid inducible gene-I (and related helicases), and multiple toll-like receptors.

Toll-like receptors (TLRs) respond to multiple viruses as an early and rapid defense. TLR signaling results in an immediate inflammatory response and induction of an adaptive immune response to clear viral infections (Kawai and Akira, 2006). Most respiratory viruses have a single-stranded RNA (ssRNA) genome. Upon recognition of viral ssRNA (Diebold et al., 2004), TLR7 signals through the adaptor molecule MyD88, activating transcription factors that induce production of antiviral cytokines, such as interferons, and inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α (Kawai and Akira, 2006). While necessary to clear infection, the resulting inflammation may also impair airway function and participate in virus induced asthma attacks. The highest TLR7 expression level is found in the lungs (Chuang and Ulevitch, 2000), most likely in multiple cell types including inflammatory cells (Demedts et al., 2006), epithelial cells(Uehara et al., 2007), and human airway smooth muscle cells (Sukkar et al., 2006). Furthermore, expression in human smooth muscle cells is potentiated by IL-1 β and TNF α , cytokines commonly found in lungs in response to infection (Sukkar et al., 2006). TLR7 polymorphisms have been associated with asthma, although the functional effects of these polymorphisms are not known

(Roponen et al.; Moller-Larsen et al., 2008), so it is important to understand contributions of TLR7 signaling to airway physiology.

To address whether TLR7 directly affects respiratory physiology, I tested the effects of a synthetic TLR7 agonist, R837 (imiquimod), in guinea pigs in vivo. I was surprised to find that R837 rapidly and completely abolished bronchoconstriction induced by electrical stimulation of the vagus nerve or by intravenous administration of acetylcholine. The inhibition of bronchoconstriction was rapid, occurring within minutes of administration, a time frame inconsistent with canonical TLR7 signaling. This was reproduced in isolated guinea pig tracheas, mouse tracheas, and human tracheas in vitro. R837 inhibited contractions of guinea pig tracheas induced by electrical field stimulation to stimulate the nerves in the tissue, as well as contractions induced by administration of methacholine, histamine, or potassium chloride. This indicates that the bronchodilating effect of TLR7 agonists is not limited to neuronally evoked or cholinergic contractions, nor is it limited to contractions induced by G-protein coupled receptors on the smooth muscle membrane. Several structurally related imidazoquinoline ligands, as well as structurally unrelated single stranded RNA ligands, which are known TLR7 agonists, all dose-dependently inhibited methacholine-induced contractions of guinea pig trachea. That multiple TLR7 ligands of different structural classes all showed similar relaxant effects, suggests that TLR7 may be mediating these effects. This may represent a potent, physiological mechanisms of bronchodilation in the presence of respiratory virus RNA by which airflow may be maintained during virus-induced

inflammation and counteract virus induced airway occlusion. TLR7 polymorphisms, if associated with loss of expression or function, might predispose to asthma by eliminating this compensatory bronchodilation during viral infections. The rapid bronchodilation observed within minutes makes TLR7 an attractive, novel target for the treatment of asthma.

EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN

In vivo measurements of bronchoconstriction

See Chapter II General Methods.

In vitro measurements of tracheal contraction

See Chapter II General Methods.

Epithelial removal

Airway epithelium was removed from guinea pig tracheas by gentle abrasion with a cotton swab.

RESULTS

A TLR7 agonist, R837, inhibits bronchoconstriction in guinea pigs in vivo.

Electrical stimulation of the vagus nerves (10 V, 10 Hz, 0.2 msec pulse duration, 5 sec on, 60 sec off) or i.v. administration of acetylcholine (2 μ g kg⁻¹) caused reproducible bronchoconstriction in anesthetized guinea pigs *in vivo*. R837 (0.003 – 10 mg kg⁻¹) dose-dependently inhibited subsequent bronchoconstriction induced by both vagal stimulation and by i.v. acetylcholine (Figure 3.1; vagal stimulation IC₅₀ = 0.19 mg kg⁻¹; acetylcholine IC₅₀ = 0.49 mg kg⁻¹). The effect occurred within 1 minute of administration of R837, and at higher doses bronchoconstriction was completely inhibited. The effect of R837 was rapidly reversed, with recovery of bronchoconstriction within 20 minutes.

A TLR7 agonist, R837, reverses contraction of isolated guinea pig trachea *in vitro*.

Electrical field stimulation of isolated guinea pig tracheas in organ baths. (EFS; 100 V, 20 Hz, 0.2 msec pulse duration, 15 sec on, 150 sec off) caused reproducible contractions that are blocked by atropine indicating that they are mediated via release of acetylcholine. R837 (3 – 1000 μ M) acutely reduced subsequent contractions induced by EFS (IC₅₀ = 40 μ M; Figure 3.2A), confirming *in vivo* inhibition of bronchoconstriction induced by electrical stimulation of the vagus nerves (Figure 3.1).

To determine whether R837 also relaxed contractions induced directly at airway smooth muscle, reproducible contractions were induced by methacholine (3 μ M) or histamine (10 μ M), both of which signal through G-protein coupled receptors. R837 relaxed established and sustained contractions induced by methacholine and histamine in a concentration-dependent manner (IC₅₀ = 32 μ M for tissues contracted with methacholine and 7.2 μ M for tissues contracted with histamine; Figure 3.2A).

To bypass surface receptors on smooth muscle, I used KCl (20 mM and 100 mM) to directly depolarize the membrane and contract tracheal smooth muscle. R837 also relaxed KCl-induced contraction (Figure 3.2B). The R837-mediated relaxation of contractions induced by 20 mM KCl (IC₅₀ = 113 μ M) was more potent and complete than the relaxation of contractions induced by 100 mM KCl (IC₅₀ = 779 μ M), suggesting a mechanism that may involve K⁺ channels.

As seen *in vivo*, relaxation of airway smooth muscle by R837 *in vitro* was reversible and the full contractile response recovered within 15 minutes of washing R837 from the bath, demonstrating that relaxation of contracted airways is not due to toxic effects at airway smooth muscle.

Because I was able to replicate the *in vivo* bronchodilatory effect of R837 *in vitro*, all of the subsequent experiments were carried out *in vitro*.

R837-mediated reversal of guinea pig airway smooth muscle contraction is not dependent on airway epithelium.
To determine whether R837 relaxes smooth muscle contraction by bronchodilators released from the epithelium (Freed et al., 1987), I removed the epithelium from guinea pig tracheal segments with a cotton swab. Epithelial removal was confirmed by microscopic evaluation of tracheal segments used in the bath (Figure 3.3A). Removal of airway epithelium had no effect on the ability of R837 to relax airway smooth muscle precontracted with methacholine (3 μ M) *in vitro*, indicating that R837 does not act through the epithelium to induce relaxation (Figure 3.3B).

Other TLR7 agonists also relax guinea pig airway smooth muscle *in vitro*, but not TLR2 or TLR5 agonists.

Other TLR7 agonists, CL097, R848, and gardiquimod also relaxed isolated guinea pig tracheal smooth muscle contracted with methacholine (3 μM) in a concentrationdependent manner (Figure 3.4A). Since R837 and these three other agonists are structurally related imidazoquinolines, I also tested a reported TLR7 ligand of a different structural class, a 21mer polyU ssRNA oligonucleotide on a phosphorothioate backbone (PolyUs) (Diebold et al., 2006). PolyUs partially relaxed contraction induced by methacholine (3 μM) in a concentration-dependent manner (Figure 3.4B). Mixed polyU oligonucleotides of various lengths on a phosphodiester backbone (PolyUo), did not induce relaxation, suggesting the relaxant effect is specific to TLR7 ligands. Another related compound, 21mer polyA ssRNA oligonucleotide on a phosphorothioate backbone (PolyAs) also partially relaxed methacholine-contracted trachea (Figure 3.4B). The TLR2 agonist, peptidoglycan,

and the TLR5 agonist, flagellin, did not relax contraction induced by methacholine in the dose ranges tested (Figure 3.4C).

TLR7 agonists reverses contraction of isolated human and mouse trachea *in vitro*.

If TLR7 agonists were to be used for therapeutic purposes, the bronchodilating effect must translate to human tissue as well. To address whether TLR7 agonists have a relaxant effect in human airway smooth muscle, I measured the effect of R837 and PolyUs on contraction of isolated human trachea *in vitro*. Reproducible sustained contractions were induced by methacholine (3 μ M) and cumulative increasing doses of R837 or PolyUs were added directly to the bath. R837 (0.1 – 100 μ M) and PolyUs (0.3 – 300 μ g/ml) dose-dependently inhibited contraction (IC₅₀ = 15 μ M for R837, and IC₅₀ = 1.3 μ g/ml for PolyUs; Figure 3.5A). The inhibition of contraction by R837 was more complete than that by PolyUs.

For future genetic studies and disease models in mice, it is necessary to replicate the relaxant effect of TLR7 agonists in mice as well. To address whether TLR7 stimulation has a relaxant effect in mouse airway smooth muscle, I measured the effect of R837 and PolyUs on contraction of isolated mouse trachea *in vitro*. Reproducible sustained contractions were induced by methacholine (3 μ M) and cumulative increasing doses of R837 or PolyUs were added directly to the bath. R837 (0.1 – 100 μ M) and PolyUs (10 – 300 μ g/ml) dose-dependently inhibited contraction (IC₅₀ = 3.4 μ M for R837, and IC₅₀ not determined for PolyUs; Figure 3.5B).

FIGURE 3.1. A TLR7 agonist, R837, inhibits bronchoconstriction in guinea pigs *in vivo*.



Figure 3.1. Bronchoconstrictions were induced by electrical stimulation of the vagus nerves (circles) or by i.v. administration of acetylcholine (squares), and the effect of cumulative increasing doses of R837 administered i.v. was measured. Data are expressed as the mean ± SEM. (n=9 for vagal stimulation, maximum=93.0±21.5 mm H₂0; n=4 for acetylcholine, maximum=70.5±32.2 mm H₂0; p≤0.001 for effect of dose).

FIGURE 3.2. A TLR7 agonist, R837, relaxes isolated guinea pig trachea in vitro.



Figure 3.2. (A) Contraction of tracheal segments was induced by electrical field stimulation (EFS; circles), methacholine (squares), and histamine (triangles), and the effect of cumulative increasing doses of R837 was measured. Data are expressed as the mean ± SEM. (n=3 for EFS, maximum=0.53±0.08 g; n=6 for methacholine, maximum=1.98±0.31 g; n=6 for histamine, maximum=1.04±0.13 g; p≤0.001 for effect of dose). (B) Contraction of tracheal segments was induced by KCl (20 mM circles; 100 mM - squares), and the effect of cumulative increasing doses of R837 was measured. Data are expressed as the mean ± SEM. (n=3 for 20 mM KCl, maximum=0.78±0.23 g; n=6 for 100 mM KCl, maximum=1.47±0.30 g; 20 mM KCl vs. 100 mM KCl p≤0.01 at 100 µM R837 and p≤0.001 at 300 µM and 1000 µM R837; p≤0.001 for effect of dose).

FIGURE 3.3. R837-mediated inhibition of guinea pig airway smooth muscle contraction is not dependent on airway epithelium.



Figure 3.3. (A) 4X magnification of hematoxylin and eosin stain stained sections of trachea segments with and without the epithelium, with a 20X magnification of the region in the black box. The removal of epithelium can be viewed as the absence of purple nuclei lining the airway lumen. (B) The effect of cumulative increasing doses of R837 on contraction was measured in intact tracheal segments (circles) or tracheal segments with the epithelium removed (squares). Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. (*n*=2; maximum with epithelium=1.48 \pm 0.1 g; maximum without epithelium=0.76 \pm 0.28g; p≤0.001 for effect of dose).

FIGURE 3.4. Other TLR7 agonists also relax isolated guinea pig trachea *in vitro*, but not TLR2 or TLR5 agonists.



Figure 3.4. (A) Contraction of tracheal segments was induced by methacholine (3 μ M), and the effect of cumulative increasing doses of R837 (circles), CL097 (squares), R848 (triangles), and gardiquimod (diamonds) was measured. Data are expressed as the mean ± SEM. (R837 *n*=8; R848 *n*=4; gardiquimod *n*=3; CL097 *n*=2; maximum=1.64±0.17 g; p≤0.001 for effect of dose). (B) Contraction of tracheal segments was induced by methacholine (3 μ M), and the effect of cumulative increasing doses of 21mer PolyU on a phosphorothioate backbone (PolyUs; circles)

mixed lengths of PolyU on a phosphodiester backbone (PolyUo; squares), and 21mer PolyA on a phosphorothioate backbone (PolyAs; triangles) was measured. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. (n=3; maximum=1.27\pm0.14 g; 300 µg ml⁻¹ and 1000 µg ml⁻¹ PolyUo vs. PolyUs and PolyUo vs. PolyAs $P \le 0.001$; for effect of dose of PolyUs $P \le 0.001$, PolyAs $P \le 0.01$). (C) Contraction of tracheal segments was induced by methacholine (3 µM), and the effect of cumulative increasing doses of R837 (circles), peptidoglycan (squares), or flagellin (triangles) was measured. (R837 n=1; peptidoglycan and flagellin n=3).

FIGURE 3.5. TLR7 agonists inhibit contraction of isolated human and mouse trachea *in vitro*.



Figure 3.5 (A) Contraction of human tracheal segments was induced by methacholine (3 μ M), and the effect of cumulative increasing doses of R837 (circles) or PolyUs (squares) was measured. Data are expressed as the mean ± SEM. (R837 n=3; PolyUs n=2; maximum=± g). (B) Contraction of mouse tracheal segments was induced by methacholine (3 μ M), and the effect of cumulative increasing doses of R837 (circles) or PolyUs (squares) was measured. Data are expressed as the mean ± SEM. (R837 n=3; PolyUs n=3; maximum=0.52±0.27 g).

DISCUSSION

Because of the association of ssRNA respiratory viruses with asthma attacks (Johnston et al., 1995; Johnston et al., 1996; Atmar et al., 1998), the relatively high expression of TLR7 in the lungs (Chuang and Ulevitch, 2000), and the association of TLR7 polymorphisms with asthma (Roponen et al.; Moller-Larsen et al., 2008), I investigated the effects of acute TLR7 signaling on airway physiology. I was surprised to find that the TLR7 agonist, R837, completely and potently abolished bronchoconstriction *in vivo* and trachealis muscle contraction *in vitro*, both effects occurring within minutes. This drug clearly has direct potent effects on airway smooth muscle, as seen by its ability to relax contractions induced by methacholine and histamine, although additional effects on airway nerves cannot be excluded. It is also possible that other cells, including leukocytes, which are known to express TLR7, may be contributing bronchodilating mediators.

The effect is not specific to GPCR-mediated contractions, as R837 relaxed contraction induced by chemical depolarization of the smooth muscle membrane with KCl. The mechanism of R837 induced relaxation is independent of epithelium, as removal of the epithelium did not change the relaxant response to R837 *in vitro.*

Other structurally related TLR7 agonists, R848, CL097, and gardiquimod, as well as structurally unrelated TLR7 agonists PolyUs and PolyAs, also relaxed guinea pig trachea *in vitro*. Unlike R837, these latter two compounds only partially relaxed contraction. PolyAs was originally selected as a negative control for PolyUs, based on reports that PolyAs is not a TLR7 ligand. The bronchodilation induced by the negative control was inconsistent with claims that the effect is TLR7-mediated. In the interim, however, it was shown in a new TLR8-deficient mouse, that PolyAs is a TLR8 agonist (Demaria et al.; Martinez et al.). This leaves open the possibility that both TLR7 and TLR8 can mediate rapid relaxation of airway smooth muscle.

Bacterial TLR ligands peptidoglycan from *Bacillus subtilis*, a TLR2 ligand, and flagellin from *Bacillus subtilis*, a TLR5 ligand, did not relax the contracted trachea. This might be an interesting distinction that bacterial TLR ligands do not induce bronchodilation, but viral ligands do. Seemingly contradictory evidence exists in the literature that the bacterial TLR4 ligand lipopolysaccharide induces relaxation of airway smooth muscle (Fedan et al., 1995; Balzary and Cocks, 2006). This might not be inconsistent with the distinction of the relaxant effect to viral TLR ligands, as TLR4 is the primary detector of respiratory syncytial virus, a virus highly associated with asthma (Haynes et al., 2001; Tal et al., 2004; Cyr et al., 2009). It will be interesting to test a whole panel of bacterial and viral TLR ligands to determine if there is a distinction in this acute bronchodilatory property to viral TLR ligands.

TLR7 agonist-mediated relaxation occurred in minutes *in vivo* and *in vitro*. The speed of this effect is important, but is not consistent with typical TLR signaling via induction of gene expression, which requires new synthesis, processing, and trafficking of mRNA and protein.

Because of the rapid bronchodilation in response to TLR7 agonists observed in guinea pig both *in vivo* and *in vitro*, these drugs are attractive for their therapeutic potential in diseases marked by airway contraction, particularly asthma. For therapeutic value, however, the same bronchodilatory effect must be replicated in human tissue. Because R837 and PolyUs were able to rapidly relax isolated human trachea *in vitro*, these ligands remain an interesting rescue therapy for acute bronchoconstriction. PolyUs is reported as a TLR8 agonist in humans, again supporting a bronchodilating role for TLR8 in addition to TLR7 (Heil et al., 2004).

Others have explored TLR7 as a therapeutic target for asthma (Stokes et al., 1998; Moisan et al., 2006; Camateros et al., 2007; Camateros et al., 2009; Xirakia et al., 2010), but in a context of chronic protection from airway inflammation rather than rescue from an acute asthma attack. This is shown not by the inhibition of bronchoconstriction as I show here, but by the inhibition of airway hyperreactivity and allergic inflammation characteristic of asthma. This is thought to be a consequence of canonical TLR7 signaling, resulting in increased expression of T_h1 cytokines, such as IL-12 and interferon- γ (Tomai et al., 1995; Fogel et al., 2002), skewing the airway response away from a T_h2 immune environment (Holgate, 2008). My data show there is also a fast bronchodilating action of these drugs that is too rapid in onset to occur via modulation of the immune environment via changes in gene expression. In sum, this class of compounds may provide both chronic protection against airway hyperreactivity, and rapid bronchodilation in the event of an exacerbation, indicating that they might be successful as both prophylactic and

rescue medications. Furthermore, the data emphasize the need to test shorter incubation times when conducting studies with TLR7 ligands, and to consider noncanonical TLR7 signaling as well as off-target effects of these ligands.

Because the mouse provides opportunities for genetic manipulation of the TLR7 pathway, and because of available mouse models of allergy and asthma, I wanted to determine if there was also a relaxant effect of TLR7 agonists in mouse. R837 and PolyUs both reversed contraction of isolated mouse trachea *in vitro*. Because mouse airway physiology is very different from that in human and guinea pig, this was not a trivial finding and indicates a highly conserved mechanism across three mammalian species.

The TLR7 agonist-mediated bronchodilation suggests this conserved mechanism might limit airway obstruction resulting from inflammation, edema, and sloughing of dead cells associated with clearance of respiratory virus infections. TLR7 polymorphisms are associated with asthma (Roponen et al.; Moller-Larsen et al., 2008), and it is tempting to speculate that these may result in a defective bronchodilator response to respiratory viruses, leaving bronchoconstrictive effects of viral infection unopposed in asthma.

In summary, TLR7 agonists are potent bronchodilators *in vivo* and *in vitro*, a rapid effect inconsistent with the time frame of canonical TLR signaling. The rapid and potent bronchodilatory effects of TLR7 agonists, along with their longer-term effects of biasing the immune response away from $T_h 2$ and towards $T_h 1$, make these

compounds attractive candidates for treatment of asthma. Regardless of the target mediating the bronchodilating effects of these molecules, their therapeutic potential is clear. Interestingly, R837 (Imiquimod), was approved for topical treatment of genital warts solely based on its efficacy and safety profile before the target mediating the effects was known (Medzhitov et al., 1997; Beutner et al., 1998; Gupta et al., 2002). It was only known to be an immune-response modifier for its ability to upregulate alpha-interferon, tumor necrosis factor alpha, and interleukin-6 (Kono et al., 1994; Reiter et al., 1994). However, for further development and improvement of these drugs, it is important to know the target and mechanism mediating the bronchodilating effect. Furthermore, if the bronchodilating effect is TLR7-mediated, the fast time-frame suggests a new mode of TLR7 signaling, which would be of great interest to the field. In Chapter IV, I address the target and mechanism mediating the bronchodilating effects of TLR7 agonists.

Data in this chapter have been published as:

Kaufman EH, Fryer AD, Jacoby DB. Toll-like receptor 7 agonists are potent and rapid bronchodilators in guinea pigs. *J. Allergy Clin Immunol*, 2010. Article in press.

CHAPTER IV.

THE MECHANISM OF TOLL-LIKE RECEPTOR 7 AGONIST-MEDIATED BRONCHODILATION INVOLVES PROSTAGLANDINS, A LARGE CONDUCTANCE CALCIUM-GATED POTASSIUM CHANNEL, AND NITRIC OXIDE

ABSTRACT

Because of the association of respiratory viruses and asthma, I examined the effects of TLR7 agonists on airway physiology. Canonical TLR7 signaling is associated with changes in gene expression, involving new synthesis, processing, and trafficking of mRNA and protein in a time frame of hours and days. I previously showed that TLR7 agonists cause rapid bronchodilation within minutes of administration, a time frame inconsistent with the known effects of TLR7 signaling. Here, I have taken several approaches to determine whether TLR7 is mediating the rapid relaxing effects of TLR7 agonists. These include pharmacological approaches with a TLR7 antagonist, as well as genetic approaches using TLR7-deficient mice. In guinea pigs, airway relaxation induced by the TLR7 agonist, R837, was partially blocked with a TLR7 antagonist. Another TLR7 agonist, PolyUs, mediated relaxation that was completely blocked by a TLR7 antagonist. This suggests that R837-mediated bronchodilation is partially TLR7-dependent, while PolyUs-mediated relaxation is completely TLR7dependent. In mice, I found that R837 and PolyUs inhibited contraction of airway smooth muscle from both wildtype and TLR7-deficient mice, suggesting a non-TLR7 mediated mechanism of relaxation. However, in the presence of a TLR7 antagonist, the relaxant effect of R837 in the wildtype, but not the TLR7-deficient mice was significantly reversed. This suggests there are TLR7-dependent and -independent relaxant effects of R837 in the mouse, but that the effective dose range of both targets are very close together. In human tissue, I found that R837 and PolyUs inhibited contraction of airway smooth muscle, but only the R837-mediated effect

was reversed by a TLR7 antagonist. I also undertook studies to understand the mechanism of both TLR7-dependent and –independent R837-mediated bronchodilation. Candidate targets for mechanistic studies were selected from Tolllike receptor associated signaling pathways that also serve a role in rapid bronchodilation. These include prostaglandins, the large conductance calcium-gated potassium channels (MaxiK), and nitric oxide. Using combinations of inhibitors of these pathways along with the TLR7 antagonist in guinea pig trachea *in vitro*, I have determined that TLR7-independent bronchodilation is mediated by prostaglandins and MaxiK, while TLR7-dependent bronchodilation is partially mediated by nitric oxide. Finally, adenosine receptors, known to bind R837, are ruled out as mediating the majority of relaxant effects of R837.

INTRODUCTION

Respiratory virus infections are closely associated with asthma exacerbations. A receptor of the innate immune system, TLR7, signals in response to virus ssRNA (Diebold et al., 2004; Heil et al., 2004). Furthermore, TLR7 polymorphisms are associated with asthma (Roponen et al.; Moller-Larsen et al., 2008). To understand how viruses interact with and affect airway physiology, I previously tested the effects of TLR7 agonists on bronchoconstriction in guinea pigs in vivo, and on contraction of isolated trachea from guinea pig, mouse, and human in vitro. I was surprised to find that a number of TLR7 agonists of two structural classes all inhibited bronchoconstriction or reversed contraction of airway smooth muscle. This was surprising both because it has never been shown and because of the fast time-frame in which the effect took place. TLR7 signaling is known to upregulate various proinflammatory and antiviral cytokines over hours and days for the clearance of virus infections. Little is known, however, about fast effects of TLR7 signaling within minutes. That TLR7 agonists act as bronchodilators is a novel finding, and, if it is mediated by TLR7, is one of few examples of fast TLR signaling. If TLR7 mediates bronchodilation, it may represent a protective mechanism to maintain airflow during the inflammation and airway occlusion associated with respiratory virus infections. TLR7 would effectively adjust airway physiology to compensate for TLR7-mediated inflammation. The rapid bronchodilation is an important characteristic of a rescue medication for an ongoing asthma attack. Both claims of an endogenous protective mechanism, as well as therapeutic value require

an understanding of the receptor mediating the relaxant effects of TLR7 agonists and the mechanism by which they relax airway smooth muscle. That multiple TLR7 agonists of different structural classes all show a bronchodilatory effect supports TLR7 as the receptor mediating the bronchodilation, but other receptors cannot be ruled out, particularly as this is a finding with little precedent.

To determine if TLR7 mediates the relaxant effects of TLR7 agonists in guinea pig, humans, and mice, I took both pharmacological and genetic approaches. Pharmacologically, I measured the effect of two structurally distinct TLR7 agonists in the presence of a TLR7 antagonist *in vitro*. If TLR7 mediates the relaxant effects of the agonists, then it would be expected that an antagonist would block the receptor and reverse these relaxant effects. For the genetic approach, the availability of a TLR7-deficient strain of mice allowed me to measure the effect of TLR7 agonists on airway smooth muscle contraction *in vitro* in the absence of TLR7. If TLR7 exclusively mediates the relaxant effects of TLR7 agonists in mice, then these effects should be abrogated when there is no available receptor. I was also able to combine these approaches using the TLR7 antagonist in TLR7-deficient mice. Even if there are multiple targets mediating the relaxant effects only when the receptor is present in wildtype, but not in TLR7-deficient mice.

I show here that in the presence of a TLR7 antagonist the relaxant effects were partially or completely reversed depending on the agonist and species tested. Together, that multiple TLR7 agonists caused bronchodilation and that a TLR7

antagonist could reverse the bronchodilating effect, suggests the effect is at least partially mediated by TLR7 in guinea pigs and mice, but that TLR7-independent relaxant effects also exist. The almost complete reversal of R837-mediated relaxation in human tracheas, suggests the relaxant effects R837 are completely TLR7-mediated in humans. The relaxant effect of PolyUs was not reversed by a TLR7 antagonist in human tracheas, so this might not be mediated by TLR7.

I also conducted studies to determine the mechanism of TLR7-agonist mediated bronchodilation. Candidates were selected from pathways known to have fast bronchodilating effects and that are somehow associated with TLR signaling, including prostaglandins, the large conductance calcium-gated potassium channel (MaxiK), and nitric oxide. Using inhibitors to block these pathways I tested the relaxant effect of R837 *in vitro*. I also measured the effects of R837 in the presence of these inhibitors combined with a TLR7 antagonist, to determine if they were part of the TLR7-dependent pathway or the TLR7-independent pathway.

I found that the mechanism of TLR7-dependent bronchodilation in guinea pigs involves nitric oxide, while the TLR7-independent bronchodilation involves prostaglandins and MaxiK potassium channels.

R837 has been reported as an antagonist at adenosine A_1 and A_{2a} receptors (Schon et al., 2006), thus it is important to determine whether R837 elicits its relaxant effects by adenosine receptor signaling. Adenosine receptors can modulate airway physiology with both contractile and relaxant effects depending on conditions and

concentrations used (Farmer et al., 1988; Ali et al., 1992; Ethier and Madison, 2006). To address the role of adenosine receptors in R837-mediated relaxation of airway smooth muscle, I measured the effect of adenosine ligands alone or when coincubated with R837 or a TLR7 antagonist in isolated guinea pig trachea *in vitro*. I found that R837 could not be acting as an adenosine receptor antagonist to cause bronchodilation. Furthermore, it does not elicit the majority of its effects by acting as an adenosine receptor agonist or partial agonist.

Others are also testing the effects of imidazoqinoline TLR7 agonists in chronic models of allergic asthma through canonical TLR7 signaling and upregulation of T_h1 cytokines, skewing away from an allergic immune environment (Stokes et al., 1998; Quarcoo et al., 2004; Napolitani et al., 2005; Moisan et al., 2006; Camateros et al., 2007; Sel et al., 2007; Xirakia et al., 2010). Together with the data presented here, this suggests that these molecules may be useful as both prophylactic therapies against future asthma attacks and as a rescue medication for ongoing attacks.

EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN

In vitro measurements of tracheal contraction

See Chapter II General Methods.

Treatments

TLR7 agonists (R837, R848, CL097, gardiquimod, PolyUs, and PolyAs), the β_2 adrenergic receptor agonist, isoproterenol, and the adenosine receptor agonist, NECA, were added cumulatively in increasing concentrations to tracheas precontracted with methacholine (MCh; 3 μ M). Before the agonist dose responses *in vitro*, some tracheal segments were treated for one hour with the TLR7 antagonist IRS661 (100 μ M), the MyD88 inhibitor peptide (64.4 μ M), or the β_2 -adrenergic receptor antagonist propranolol (1 μ M), for 15 minutes with the cyclooxygenase inhibitor indomethacin (1 μ M), the MaxiK K⁺ channel blocker paxilline (20 μ M), the general K⁺ channel blocker TEA (20 mM), the adenosine A₁ receptor antagonist DPCPX (2 μ M), the adenosine A_{2A} receptor antagonist SCH58261 (2 μ M), or for 30 minutes with the nitric oxide synthase inhibitor L-NMMA (100 μ M).

RESULTS

The TLR7 antagonist, IRS661, partially blocks R837-mediated relaxation of guinea pig airway smooth muscle and completely blocks PolyUs- and PolyAsmediated relaxation.

While multiple TLR7 agonists had bronchodilatory effects, whether these effects are TLR7-mediated or mediated by another target remains unknown. If the relaxant effects are TLR7-mediated, they should be reversed by a specific TLR7 antagonist. The TLR7 antagonist, IRS661 (100 μ M), partially and significantly blocked smooth muscle relaxation by R837 (100 μ M) (Figure 4.1). IRS661 (100 μ M) was able to completely block the relaxation by PolyUs and PolyAs (300 μ g ml⁻¹) (Figure 4.1). The ability of IRS661 to block relaxation was specific to TLR7 agonists since it did not block relaxations induced by the β_2 -adrenergic receptor agonist, isoproterenol (right bars; Figure 4.1). The β_2 -adrenergic receptor antagonist, propranolol, blocked relaxation by isoproterenol, but did not block R837-mediated relaxation of airway smooth muscle (Figure 4.1), demonstrating that R837 is not mediating relaxation through β_2 -adrenergic receptors. Together, these data indicate that R837-induced relaxation is partially mediated by TLR7, while relaxation by PolyUs and PolyAs is completely mediated by TLR7.

The MyD88 inhibitor peptide does not block R837-mediated relaxation of guinea pig trachea *in vitro*, but also does not block R837-mediated NF-κB signaling *in vitro*.

Because the mechanism of canonical TLR7 signaling proceeds directly downstream through the adaptor molecule MyD88, I measured the effect of a MyD88 inhibitor peptide to determine if R837-mediated relaxation proceeds through the canonical TLR7 signaling pathway. Neither a MyD88 inhibitor peptide (64 μ M) nor a MyD88 control peptide (64 µM) had any effect on R837-mediated relaxation of isolated guinea pig trachea in vitro (Figure 4.2A). To test whether the MyD88 inhibitor peptide worked, I removed the tracheas from the organ bath experiments and measured NF-KB activation by ELISA. NF-KB activation serves as a readout for the canonical TLR7 signaling pathway involving regulation of gene expression. R837 induced NF- κ B activation (Figure 4.2B), as expected by canonical TLR7 signaling. The MyD88 inhibitor did not inhibit R837-induced NF-kB activation (Figure 4.2B), suggesting that the MyD88 inhibitor does not work in guinea pig tracheas under the conditions used. To confirm that I could detect inhibition of canonical TLR7 signaling by this method, I also included trachea pretreated with the TLR7 antagonist, IRS661. IRS661 (300 μM) blocked R837-induced NF-κB activation to unstimulated levels (Figure 4.2B), confirming the ability to measure blockade of this pathway.

R837-mediated relaxation of guinea pig airway smooth muscle involves prostaglandins, large conductance Ca²⁺-activated potassium (MaxiK) channel, and nitric oxide synthase.

Because the known effects of TLR7 signaling involve changes in gene expression, the TLR7-mediated relaxation is too fast to occur by these signaling mechanisms. To

address the unexpected rapid nature of TLR7 signaling, I investigated the involvement of pathways implicated in TLR signaling that are also able to rapidly modify airway physiology,. These include prostaglandins(Balzary and Cocks, 2006; Hattermann et al., 2007), MaxiK potassium channels(Scheel et al., 2006), and nitric oxide (Hammadi et al., 2008; Tumurkhuu et al., 2009).

Cyclooxygenase is an enzyme involved in the synthesis of prostaglandins. The cyclooxygenase inhibitor, indomethacin (1 μ M), partially blocked R837-mediated relaxation of contractions induced by methacholine (3 μ M; Figure 4.3), indicating that prostaglandins are partially responsible for R837-mediated relaxation.

To determine if MaxiK potassium channels are involved in the relaxing mechanism, a specific MaxiK channel blocker was used. To determine if other potassium channels are involved, a general potassium channel blocker was used. Both TEA (Nakajima, 1966) (a general potassium channel blocker; 20 mM) and paxilline(Knaus et al., 1994) (a selective MaxiK channel blocker; 20 µM) partially and equivalently blocked relaxation induced by either 30 µM or 100 µM R837 (Figure 4.4). This indicates that MaxiK channels are involved in the relaxation, as there is no additional blockade when all K⁺ channels are blocked by TEA.

Nitric oxide is synthesized from L-arginine by the enzyme nitric oxide synthase. The nitric oxide synthase inhibitor N-monomethyl-L-arginine (L-NMMA) (100 μ M) partially blocked relaxation induced by either 30 μ M or 100 μ M R837 (Figure 4.5A), indicating that nitric oxide is involved in R837-mediated relaxation. However, L-NMMA had no effect on PolyUs-mediated relaxations (Figure 4.5B), suggesting that a

different mechanism and possibly receptor mediate the effect of PolyUs. The complete reversal of PolyUs-mediated relaxation by the TLR7 antagonist is inconsistent with a different receptor, but it is possible that the specificity of IRS661 is not limited to TLR7 in the guinea pig.

To test whether TLR7 receptors, prostaglandins, MaxiK channels, and nitric oxide synthase are part of the same or parallel pathways of R837 mediated relaxation, I used combinations of inhibitors *in vitro*. Indomethacin, paxilline, L-NMMA, and IRS661 (TRL7 antagonist) each blocked R837 induced relaxation to the same extent. Blockade of R837-mediated relaxation by IRS661 was significantly greater in the presence of either indomethacin or paxilline compared to IRS661, indomethacin, or paxilline alone. However, blockade by IRS661 was not significantly greater in the presence of L-NMMA (Figure 4.6). There was no additive effect of indomethacin with paxilline (Figure 4.6). Together, these data indicates that R837 induced relaxation through two different pathways, one that is mediated through TLR7 and nitric oxide synthase, and a separate bronchodilator pathway that signals through prostaglandins and the MaxiK channels.

Adenosine antagonists do not relax guinea pig airway smooth muscle, and a TLR7 antagonist does not block adenosine receptors *in vitro*.

I tested whether relaxing effects of R837 are via adenosine receptors since it is a reported antagonist at A_1 and A_{2A} adenosine receptors (Schon et al., 2006). Neither the A_1 receptor antagonist 1,3-dipropyl-8-cyclopentylxanthine (DPCPX) nor the A_{2a} receptor antagonist SCH58261 relaxed contractions induced by methacholine

(Figure 4.7A). Therefore, R837 does not relax airway smooth muscle by acting as an antagonist at A_1 or A_{2A} receptors.

To address whether the adenosine antagonists bind and compete at the same receptor as R837, but fail to relax contraction, I measured the ability of R837 to relax methacholine-induced contractions when co-incubated with adenosine receptor antagonists. When coincubated with DPCPX, R837-mediated relaxation was partially reversed (Figure 4.7B left). Due to the minimal reversal, it is unlikely that these receptors are mediating the majority of the R837-mediated relaxation. I also tested whether PolyUs induced relaxation through adenosine receptors, and found no effect of coincubation with both the adenosine receptor antagonists, suggesting PolyUs does not relax airway smooth muscle through adenosine receptors (Figure 4.7B right).

To test whether R837 could be acting as a partial adenosine receptor agonist rather than an antagonist, I measured the effect of the general adenosine receptor agonist NECA in guinea pig trachea *in vitro*. NECA caused a dose-dependent partial relaxation (Figure 4.7C). However, the TLR7 antagonist IRS661 (100 μ M) did not reverse the relaxation of tracheal segments induced by 30 μ M or 100 μ M NECA (a general adenosine receptor agonist; Figure 4.7D), indicating that IRS661 is not blocking adenosine receptors and specifically reverses the relaxant effects of TLR7 agonists. The relaxant effect of NECA was completely reversed by coincubation with the adenosine receptor antagonists DPCPX and SCH58261 (10 μ M each; Figure

4.7D) confirming both that NECA-induced relaxation can be reversed and that it is mediated by adenosine receptors.

The TLR7 antagonist, IRS661, and the nitric oxide synthase inhibitor, L-NMMA, reverse R837-, but not PolyUs-mediated relaxation of isolated human tracheas *in vitro*.

As previously stated, for therapeutic purposes it is important to determine if the relaxant effects of TLR7 agonists translate to humans. While these drugs are bronchodilators regardless of the target, the further development of more efficacious or longer lasting drugs would benefit from understanding of structure-activity relationships, and this depends on the specific receptor mediating the drugs' effects. To address whether the relaxant effect of TLR7 agonists is TLR7-dependent in humans, I used the TLR7 antagonist, IRS661, to determine if it reverses the effects of TLR7 agonists. Methacholine (3 μ M)-induced contraction was dose-dependently inhibited by R837 and PolyUs (Figure 4.8A). IRS661 (40 μ M) almost completely reversed R837-mediated bronchodilation (Figure 4.8A), but did not reverse PolyUs-mediated bronchodilation. This suggests that in humans R837-mediated bronchodilation is completely TLR7-dependent, while PolyUs-mediated bronchodilation is TLR7-independent.

Because of the complete TLR7-dependence of R837 and apparent TLR7independence of PolyUs in relaxation of human trachea, and our hypothesis that the TLR7-dependent pathway involves nitric oxide synthase, I measured the effect of the nitric oxide synthase inhibitor, L-NMMA (100 μ M) on R837 and PolyUs-

mediated relaxation of human trachea. Consistent with the TLR7 antagonist, L-NMMA almost completely reversed the relaxant effect of R837, but had no effect on PolyUs-mediated relaxation (Figure 4.8B). Together, this suggests that the TLR7dependent relaxant pathway involves nitric oxide as seen with R837, while a TLR7independent relaxant pathway does not involve nitric oxide as seen with PolyUs. PolyUs has been reported to be a TLR8 agonist in humans (Heil et al., 2004), and we have shown that PolyUs fails to activate the canonical TLR7 pathway in a human TLR7 expressing cell line with a secretable alkaline phosphatase reporter under a NF-κB sensitive promoter (data not shown).

The TLR7 antagonist, IRS661, partially reverses R837 and PolyUs-mediated relaxation of isolated wildtype mouse tracheas *in vitro*, but not in tracheas from TLR7-deficient mice.

Using a pharmacological approach, I have shown that a TLR7 antagonist can partially reverse TLR7 agonist-mediated relaxation of both guinea pig and human tracheas. Though multiple TLR7 agonists showed the same relaxant effect and an antagonist reversed that effect in guinea pigs and humans, there was only a partial reversal in guinea pigs, leaving open the possibility that another target mediates the relaxant effects. To address whether there is TLR7-independent relaxation to TLR7 agonists, I used a genetic approach with a TLR7-deficient strain of mice. Methacholine (3 µM)-induced contraction was dose-dependently inhibited by R837 and PolyUs in both wildtype and TLR7-deficient mice (Figure 4.9A and B). This suggests that in mouse the relaxant effects of TLR7 agonists are not mediated by

TLR7, but by another target. However, in the presence of the TLR7 antagonist IRS661 (100 μ M), the relaxant effect of R837 (10 μ M) and PolyUs (300 μ g/ml) was partially and significantly reversed only in the wildtype mouse tracheas and not in the TLR7-deficient mouse tracheas (Figure 4.9C and D). This suggests a TLR7-dependent and -independent pathway in mice, but the effective dose ranges are so close that it is not possible to see the difference between wildtype and TLR7-deficient mice. The only difference that can be detected is when the TLR7 component in the wildtype is blocked, whereas in the TLR7-deficient mice there is no difference with the TLR7 antagonist, because there is no TLR7.

The nitric oxide synthase inhibitor L-NMMA reverses R837-mediated relaxations in both wildtype and TLR7-deficient mouse tracheas *in vitro*.

Though R837 appears to exert relaxant effects through both TLR7-dependent and – independent pathways, as it relaxes tracheas from both wildtype and TLR7-deficient mice, I wanted to determine if the TLR7-dependent component is also nitric oxidedependent. I, therefore, measured the effect of the nitric oxide synthase inhibitor L-NMMA (100 μ M) on R837-mediated relaxation of tracheas from wildtype and TLR7deficient mice. L-NMMA partially reversed R837-mediated relaxation of tracheas from both wildtype and TLR7-deficient mice to a similar extent (Figure 4.10). This suggests that unlike in guinea pig and human, both TLR7-dependent and – independent relaxant effects of R837 are mediated by nitric oxide in the mouse. FIGURE 4.1. The TLR7 antagonist, IRS661, partially reverses R837-mediated relaxation and completely reverses PolyUs- and PolyAs-mediated relaxations, but does not reverse β₂-AR mediated relaxation of isolated guinea pig trachea *in vitro*.



Figure 4.1. Trachea segments were preincubated with vehicle (open bars), IRS661 (black bars), or propranolol (grey bars). Contraction of tracheal segments was induced by methacholine and the effect of R837, PolyUs/As, or isoproterenol was measured. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. (*n*=3; maximum=1.49 \pm 0.10 g; R837 \pm IRS661 *P*≤0.01; PolyUs/As \pm IRS661 *P*≤0.001; isoproterenol \pm propranolol *P*≤0.001).

FIGURE 4.2. The MyD88 inhibitor peptide does not block R837-mediated relaxation of guinea pig trachea *in vitro*, but it also does not block R837-mediated NF-κB signaling *in vitro*.



Figure 4.2 (A) Trachea segments were incubated with a MyD88 inhibitor or control peptide, contraction was induced by methacholine, and the effect of R837 was measured. Data are expressed as the mean ± SEM. (*n*=4; maximum=1.21±0.41 g).
(B) Protein was extracted from trachea segments at end of organ bath experiment and NF-κB activation was measured by ELISA. Also included measurements from tissue pretreated with IRS661. Data are expressed as the mean ± SEM. (*n*=4).

FIGURE 4.3. R837-mediated relaxation of isolated guinea pig trachea *in vitro* is partially reversed by indomethacin, an inhibitor of prostaglandin synthesis.





FIGURE 4.4. R837-mediated relaxation of isolated guinea pig trachea *in vitro* is partially reversed by paxilline, a MaxiK potassium channel blocker.



Figure 4.4 Trachea segments were preincubated with vehicle, paxilline, or TEA, contraction was induced by methacholine, and the effect of R837 was measured. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. (*n*=3; maximum=1.22 \pm 0.09 g; 30 μ M R837 vs. paxilline *P*≤0.01, 30 μ M R837 vs. TEA *P*≤0.01; 100 μ M R837 vs. paxilline *P*≤0.01, 100 μ M R837 vs. TEA *P*≤0.05).

FIGURE 4.5. R837- but not PolyUs-mediated relaxation of isolated guinea pig trachea *in vitro* is partially reversed by L-NMMA, a nitric oxide synthase inhibitor.



Figure 4.5 (A) Trachea segments were preincubated with vehicle or L-NMMA, contraction was induced with methacholine, and the effect of R837 measured. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. (n=3; maximum=2.14\pm0.17g; $P\leq0.001$). (B) Trachea segments were preincubated with vehicle or L-NMMA, contraction was induced with methacholine, and the effect of PolyUs measured. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. (n=3; maximum=1.16\pm0.14g).

FIGURE 4.6. The effect of inhibition of prostaglandin synthesis or the MaxiK potassium channel, but not inhibition of nitric oxide synthesis, is additive with TLR7 blockade.



Figure 4.6 Trachea were preincubated with vehicle control or IRS661 in combination with vehicle control, indomethacin, paxilline, L-NMMA, indomethacin and paxilline together, or indomethacin and L-NMMA together. Contraction was induced by methacholine and the effect of R837 was measured. Data are expressed as the mean ± SEM. (*n*=3; maximum=1.93±0.15 g; *significantly different than R837 alone and R837 + IRS661).

FIGURE 4.7. Adenosine receptor antagonists do not induce relaxation and partially reverse the effect of R837-mediated relaxation of isolated guinea pig trachea *in vitro*, and adenosine agonist-mediated bronchodilation is not reversed by a TLR7 antagonist.


Figure 4.7 (A) Contraction of tracheal segments was induced by methacholine and the effect of cumulative increasing doses of R837 (circles), the adenosine A₁ receptor antagonist DPCPX (diamonds), or the adenosine A_{2A} receptor antagonist SCH58261 (triangles) was measured. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. (n=3; maximum=1.29±0.10 g; effect of dose of R837 $P \le 0.001$). (B) Contraction of tracheal segments was induced by methacholine, incubated in the absence or presence of SCH58261, DPCPX, or SCH58261 and DPCPX together, and the effect of R837 (left) or PolyUs (right) was measured. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. (R837 *n*=3, PolyUs n=1; maximum=1.3±0.16 g; R837 vs. 2 μ M DPCPX $P \le 0.05$). (C) Contraction of tracheal segments was induced by methacholine and the effect of cumulative increasing doses of the adenosine agonist NECA was measured. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. (*n*=3; maximum=0.95 \pm 0.31 g; effect of dose of NECA *P*≤0.01). (D) Trachea segments were preincubated with vehicle (open bars), IRS661 (black bars), or DPCPX and SCH58261 (grey bars). Contraction of trachea segments was induced by methacholine, and the effect of NECA was measured. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. (control *n*=3, IRS661 *n*=2, DPCPX/SCH58261 *n*=1; maximum=1.78±0.30 g; 1 µM NECA vs. 10 µM DPCPX/SCH58261 P≤0.05).

FIGURE 4.8. The TLR7 antagonist, IRS661, and the nitric oxide synthase inhibitor, L-NMMA, almost completely reverse R837-mediated relaxation of human trachea *in vitro*, but not PolyUs-mediated relaxation of human trachea.



Figure 4.8. (A) Human trachea segments were preincubated with vehicle (solid lines) or IRS661 (dashed lines). Contraction of tracheal segments was induced by methacholine and the effect of R837 (circles, squares) or PolyUs (triangles) was measured. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. (R837 *n*=3. PolyUs *n*=2; maximum=0.93 \pm 0.67g; R837 vs. R837 \pm IRS661 30 µM *P*≤0.05, 100 µM *P*≤0.001) (B) Human trachea segments were preincubated with vehicle (solid lines) or L-NMMA (dashed lines). Contraction of tracheal segments was induced by methacholine and the effect of R837 (circles, squares) or PolyUs (triangles) was measured. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. (*n*=1; maximum=1.02 \pm 0.72 g)

FIGURE 4.9. R837 and PolyUs relax contraction of tracheas from wildtype and TLR7-deficient mice, but the TLR7 antagonist, IRS661, only reverses relaxation of wildtype mouse tracheas *in vitro*.



Figure 4.9 (A) Contraction of trachea segments from wildtype (circles) and TLR7deficient (squares) mice was induced by methacholine and the effect of cumulative increasing doses of R837 was measured. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. (*n*=6; maximum wildtype=0.321 \pm 0.076 g; maximum TLR7-/-=0.304 \pm 0.105 g). (B) Contraction of trachea segments from wildtype (circles) and TLR7-deficient

(squares) mice was induced by methacholine and the effect of cumulative increasing doses of PolyUs was measured. Data are expressed as the mean ± SEM. (n=3; maximum wildtype=0.523±0.275 g; maximum TLR7-/-=0.280±0.045 g). (C) Trachea segments were preincubated with vehicle (open bars) or IRS661 (closed bars) and the effect of R837 (10 µM) was measured. Data are expressed as the mean ± SEM. (n=6; ***P≤0.001). (D) Trachea segments were preincubated with vehicle (open bars) or IRS661 (closed bars) and the effect of R8361 (closed bars) and the effect of PolyUs (300 µg/ml) was measured. Data are expressed as the mean ± SEM. Data are expressed as the mean ± SEM.

Figure 4.10. The nitric oxide synthase inhibitor L-NMMA reverses R837mediated relaxations in both wildtype and TLR7-deficient mouse tracheas *in*

vitro.



Figure 4.10 Contraction of trachea segments from wildtype (circles) and TLR7deficient (squares) mice was induced by methacholine and the effect of cumulative increasing doses of R837 was measured before (solid lines) and after (dashed lines) incubation with L-NMMA. (n=1; maximum wildtype=0.19±0.04g, maximum TLR7-/-=0.19±0.06g).

DISCUSSION

My surprising finding that TLR7 agonists caused rapid bronchodilation within minutes of administration in guinea pigs *in vivo* and in isolated guinea pig, human, and mouse tracheas *in vitro*, demonstrated that these ligands could potentially be used as therapies for disorders marked by bronchoconstriction. Their therapeutic potential lies in their bronchodilatory ability regardless of the receptor mediating the effect. Though one of these ligands, R837 (Imiquimod), is a commercially available therapeutic for virus induced lesions and tumors, it is currently approved for topical use with limited systemic exposure (Beutner et al., 1998; Harrison et al., 2004). It is unlikely that it would have access to the airways in sufficient concentrations to be efficacious, however experiments using oral administration of R837 for cancer therapy show promise for more extensive distribution of the drug (Dharmapuri et al., 2009). To further develop and improve drugs of this class for asthma therapies with an intelligent approach, more information is needed about the receptor mediating the bronchodilating effects as well as the mechanism.

Because multiple TLR7 ligands of two structural classes all exhibited a bronchodilatory effect, TLR7 remained a viable candidate as the receptor mediating that effect. It is still possible that all of these ligands share a common off target effect of bronchodilation not mediated by TLR7. I, therefore, undertook studies to determine the extent of the involvement of TLR7 in the observed relaxant effect. This was accomplished using multiple approaches, including pharmacological receptor blockade and genetic abrogation of TLR7 function.

A TLR7 antagonist, IRS661, partially reversed R837-mediated relaxation and completely reversed relaxation induced by PolyUs and PolyAs in guinea pigs. Though PolyAs is not reported to be a TLR7 agonist, the reversal of the relaxant effect by a TLR7 antagonist, suggests that this might depend on the system in which the ligand was tested. For example, maybe PolyAs fails to activate NF-κB, but succeeds at rapidly stimulating TLR7 for relaxation of airway smooth muscle. This might depend on the length of time of receptor occupancy by the ligand or how efficient the ligand is at inducing conformational changes in the receptor. More recently it was shown that PolyAs is a TLR8 agonist, so perhaps IRS661 acts as both a TLR7 and TLR8 antagonist in guinea pig (Demaria et al.; Martinez et al.).

The effect of R837 was almost completely reversed by a TLR7 antagonist in human tracheas, suggesting that the degree of TLR7-dependence is species-dependent. Another possibility is that IRS661 is a more efficient antagonist in humans than in guinea pigs. PolyUs-mediated relaxation, however, was not reversed by a TLR7 antagonist, suggesting that in humans PolyUs does not mediate bronchodilation through TLR7. It is reported that PolyUs does not activate human TLR7, but instead activates human TLR8 (Heil et al., 2004). It is interesting to consider TLR8 as the target mediating TLR7-independent effects, but TLR8-specific agonists, antagonists, as well as a TLR8-deficient strain of mice must be further developed to address this question. Together, that multiple TLR7 agonists are bronchodilators, and an antagonist reverses some or all of this bronchodilation, strongly suggests a role for TLR7 in mediating the bronchodilating effects. The fact that in humans a TLR8-

specific agonist induces bronchodilation that cannot be reversed by a TLR7 antagonist, suggests that perhaps TLR8 mediates the TLR7-independent relaxant effects.

The possibility of TLR7-dependent and -independent effects of R837 depending on the species as opposed to the complete TLR7-dependence or TLR8-dependence of PolyUs is an important distinction. Many groups currently use imidazoquinolines, rather than PolyUs, to study TLR7 and may be seeing off target effects with the R837-related imidazoquinolines. This could result in incorrectly attributing observed effects to TLR7 activation.

I also used a genetic approach to determine the involvement of TLR7 in TLR7 agonist-mediated bronchodilation using a TLR7-deficient strain of mice. I observed almost identical bronchodilation in wildtype compared to TLR7-deficient mice in response to both R837 and PolyUs. At first glance, this would seem to suggest that TLR7 plays no role in R837- or PolyUs-mediated bronchodilation in the mouse. Another possibility is the upregulation or already sufficient existence of a compensatory bronchodilating mechanism in response to TRL7 agonists. I next used a TLR7 antagonist and measured its ability to reverse TLR7 agonist-mediated relaxation in both wildtype and TLR7-deficient mice. The TLR7 antagonist could partially and significantly reverse both R837- and PolyUs-mediated relaxation in wildtype, but not in TLR7-deficient mice. This supports a TLR7-dependent and – independent bronchodilatory effect of R837 and PolyUs in mice, and further suggests that the two pathways have a very close effective dose range. When TLR7

is present in wildtype mice, it contributes to the bronchodilatory effect of TLR7 agonists as seen by partial reversal by the TLR7 antagonist. In the absence of TLR7 function in the TLR7-deficient mice, TLR7 agonists still bronchodilate through the TLR7-independent pathway, but the TLR7 antagonist has no effect due to the absence of a TLR7-dependent contribution. It is possible that TLR8 mediates a large portion of the bronchodilating effects of these ligands in mouse, or that TLR8 compensates for the loss of TLR7 function in the TLR7-deficient mice.

MyD88 is an adaptor molecule through which TLR7 signals to regulate gene expression (Hemmi et al., 2002). This canonical signaling results in the downstream activation of a number of transcription factors through NF-kB, MAPK, and interferon regulatory factor signaling (Diebold et al., 2004). To determine if the relaxant effect of TLR7 agonists is also MyD88-dependent, I measured the effect of a MyD88 inhibitor peptide. Blockade of MyD88 signaling with the inhibitor peptide had no effect on the relaxant effect of R837 in guinea pig trachea *in vitro*, initially suggesting that the rapid relaxation is not MyD88-dependent in guinea pig. However, by measuring NF-κB activation as a marker of canonical TLR7 signaling, I also found that the MyD88 inhibitor did not block R837-induced NF-κB activation. R837induced NF-kB activation was blocked by the TLR7 antagonist, so the lack of effect of the MyD88 inhibitor is not because I cannot measure inhibition of R837-induced NF-KB activation. This suggests either that the MyD88 inhibitor does not work in our system or that TLR7-signaling is not MyD88-dependent in the guinea pig. Even if the transcriptional components of TLR7-signaling are MyD88-dependent in guinea

pig, the fast relaxant effects of TLR7 ligands might be MyD88-independent. As of now, I have not been able to determine the role of MyD88 in the observed relaxant effect of TLR7 agonists.

To further understand the mechanism of TLR7-dependent and –independent bronchodilation in the guinea pig, I conducted mechanistic studies using pharmacological inhibitors of bronchodilating pathways. These signaling pathways were selected from those which have some reported association with TLR signaling, including prostaglandins, the large conductance calcium-activated potassium channel (MaxiK), and nitric oxide (Fedan et al., 1995; Balzary and Cocks, 2006; Scheel et al., 2006; Hattermann et al., 2007; Tumurkhuu et al., 2009). Though a specific connection between TLR7 ligands and MaxiK has not been directly shown, it is known that influenza activates the inflammasome through TLR7, and inflammasome activity is dependent on potassium efflux from the cell (Petrilli et al., 2007; Ichinohe et al., 2010). While this has been widely considered to be due to the activity of ATP at purinergic channels, it is interesting to consider a possible association with other potassium channels, such as MaxiK.

Inhibition of prostaglandin synthesis by indomethacin, MaxiK potassium channel blockade by paxilene, and inhibition of nitric oxide synthesis by L-NMMA, all partially and significantly reversed the relaxant effect of R837 in guinea pig trachea. To address whether any or all of these mechanisms are part of the TLR7-dependent or –independent pathways, I used various combinations of the inhibitors with a TLR7 antagonist. Both inhibition of prostaglandin synthesis and MaxiK blockade had

an additive reversal of R837-mediated relaxation in combination with the TLR7 antagonist, suggesting that they are part of separate TLR7-independent pathways. Combining inhibition of prostaglandin synthesis with MaxiK blockade did not have an additive reversal, suggesting they are part of a common TLR7-independent pathway. This is not surprising as prostanoid signaling is known to feed into MaxiK function (Yamaki et al., 2001). Inhibition of nitric oxide synthesis did not have a clear and significant additive reversal in combination with the TLR7 antagonist, suggesting that nitric oxide synthesis may be the mechanism of the TLR7-dependent bronchodilation.

Interestingly, in human tracheas, the nitric oxide synthase inhibitor completely reversed the relaxant effect of R837, but not that of PolyUs. This resembles the differential sensitivity to the TLR7 antagonist of these ligands in humans. If TLR7dependent relaxation involves nitric oxide, as determined in the guinea pig, then only the TLR7 ligand should be reversed both by a TLR7 antagonist or a nitric oxide synthase inhibitor, as is R837. As stated above, it has been shown that R837 activates human TLR7, but PolyUs does not. This further confirms that TLR7independent relaxation does not involve nitric oxide, as PolyUs is reversed neither by the TLR7 antagonist nor the nitric oxide synthase inhibitor.

If the TLR7-dependent component of R837-mediated bronchodilation is mediated by nitric oxide, then it would be expected that R837-mediated bronchodilation should be reversed in the wildtype, but not the knockout mouse. This, however, was not the case, as L-NMMA reversed R837-mediated relaxation of tracheas from both

wildtype and TKR7-deficient mice. This might suggest that in the mouse, both TLR7dependent and TLR7-independent relaxant effects of R837 are mediated by nitric oxide. Another possibility is that compensatory pathways, such as TLR8, might utilize the nitric oxide-mediated relaxant effects in TLR7-deficient animals, even if they do not normally do so in wildtype animals. More experiments with TLR7- and TLR8-specific ligands, as well as TLR8-deficient and TLR7/8-deficient mice are needed to further address the nitric oxide dependency of TLR7-mediated bronchodilation in the mouse.

R837 is reported as an antagonist at adenosine A₁ and A_{2a} receptors, so I tested the possibility that antagonism of adenosine receptors account for TLR7-independent bronchodilation in guinea pig tracheas *in vitro*. If R837 was acting as an adenosine A₁ or A_{2a} receptor antagonist to cause relaxation of airway smooth muscle, then it would be expected that other known antagonists would have a similar effect. Neither the adenosine A₁ receptor antagonist (DPCPX) nor the adenosine A_{2a} receptor antagonist (SCH58261) caused any relaxation of guinea pig trachea *in vitro*. Therefore, R837 does not act as an adenosine receptor antagonist to relax guinea pig tracheas. To further address this question, I coincubated R837 with the adenosine antagonists to determine if there is any competition at a common receptor. There was minimal though significant reversal of R837-mediated relaxation by the adenosine A₁ receptor antagonist DPCPX. It seems unlikely that this minimal reversal could account for the TLR7-independent pathway. The

adenosine antagonists did not reverse the relaxant effect of PolyUs, confirming that these relaxations are also not mediated by adenosine receptors.

A common problem in pharmacology is the misclassification of partial receptor agonists as antagonists, because they will inhibit the effect of a full agonist when coincubated. To address whether R837 acts as an adenosine receptor agonist, I measured the effect of a full adenosine receptor agonist (NECA). NECA dosedependently induced partial relaxation of guinea pig tracheas, leaving the possibility that R837 acts as an adenosine receptor agonist to account for the TLR7independent pathway. The effect of NECA was completely adenosine receptor mediated and blocked by the adenosine receptor antagonists. I once again tested the specificity of the TLR7 antagonist by measuring its effects on adenosine receptor agonist mediated relaxation. The TLR7 antagonist did not reverse the relaxant effect of the adenosine receptor agonist, showing again that the TLR7 antagonist is specific to and only reverses the effects of TLR7 agonists.

The question of what receptor is mediating the TLR7-independent effects in guinea pig and mouse remains unanswered. There are conflicting reports based on species and organ system as to whether existing TLR7 agonists also stimulate TLR8(Jurk et al., 2002; Heil et al., 2004; Spaner et al., 2005; Gorden et al., 2006; Lan et al., 2007; Zhu et al., 2008), leaving open the possibility that some bronchodilator effect is TLR8-mediated in guinea pig and mice. The lack of TLR8 antagonists or a TLR8deficient strain of mice makes this determination difficult. Recently, a TLR8deficient mouse was reported (Demaria et al.). It will be of great utility to test the

relaxant effect of TLR7/8 ligands in TLR8-deficient mice, as well as mice deficient in both TLR7 and TLR8.

The data suggest that in humans the relaxant effect of R837 is completely TLR7dependent and completely nitric oxide-dependent, whereas that of PolyUs is completely TLR7- and nitric oxide-independent. Because PolyUs is a TLR8 agonist in humans, I propose that the non-TLR7 mediated relaxant effects of TLR7/8 ligands are mediated by TLR8. Though, more experiments are needed in human tissue, based on the TLR7-independent effects in guinea pig, I propose that the TLR7independent TLR8-dependent relaxant effects are mediated by prostaglandins and the MaxiK potassium channel. A proposed model of TLR7-dependent and TLR8dependent effects of TLR7/8 ligands is shown in Figure 4.11. Also shown in the model is R848, which is reported to signal through both human TLR7 and TLR8, and therefore would be expected to have relaxant effects mediated by both pathways.

I have now shown that TLR7 agonists are potent bronchodilators and, depending on the drug and species tested, the effect is at least partially TLR7-mediated. This might be a protective mechanism to maintain normal breathing during the inflammation associated with a respiratory virus infection. The question remains of why humans with asthma suffer more severe effects of virus infections. One possibility is that this is a functional consequence of the reported TLR7 polymorphisms associated with asthma. Perhaps these patients do not have the bronchodilatory protection provided by TLR7. Beyond polymorphisms in TLR7, the allergic immune environment often associated with asthma or virus infection itself might change the

bronchodilatory potential of TLR7. The effect of TLR7 signaling on airway physiology in the asthmatic condition will be addressed in Chapter V, in which I test the effect of TLR7 ligands in animal models of asthma.

Data in this chapter have been published as:

Kaufman EH, Fryer AD, Jacoby DB. Toll-like receptor 7 agonists are potent and rapid bronchodilators in guinea pigs. *J. Allergy Clin Immunol*, 2010. Article in press. FIGURE 4.11. Proposed model of TLR7-dependent and TLR8-dependent airway smooth muscle relaxant effects of TLR7/8 agonists in humans.



Figure 4.11 My data suggest the pathway on the left for TLR7-dependent airway smooth muscle relaxation, and the pathway on the right for TLR8-dependent airway smooth muscle relaxation. R837 relaxes the airway smooth muscle through TLR7 signaling and nitric oxide production. PolyU relaxes the airway through TLR8, independently of nitric oxide. The TLR8 pathway may be responsible for non-TLR7 effects of R837 at high concentrations in other species, which are mediated via prostanoid production and opening of the MaxiK channel. The dual TLR7/8 agonist R848 would be expected to work through both relaxant pathways.

CHAPTER V.

THE EFFECT OF TOLL-LIKE RECEPTOR 7 AGONISTS ON BRONCHODILATION IN ANIMAL MODELS OF ASTHMA

ABSTRACT

Because of the association of asthma attacks with virus infections, I explored the effects of signaling through a virus-detecting receptor of the innate immune system on airway physiology. I showed that TLR7 agonists are rapid and potent bronchodilators in vivo and in vitro, by a mechanism involving prostaglandins, the MaxiK potassium channel, and nitric oxide. This bronchodilating pathway might maintain breathing during the airway occlusion brought on by inflammation associated with clearing a virus infection. Both healthy humans and those with asthma get respiratory virus infections, but the symptoms are more severe in humans with asthma. Because of TLR7 polymorphisms associated with asthma, as well as a Th2-dominated allergic immune environment in the lungs that may result in reduced TLR7 expression, perhaps humans with asthma have a deficiency in the described TLR7-mediated bronchodilating protective mechanism. To address the effects of TLR7 signaling on airway physiology in the asthmatic condition, I measured the effect of the TLR7 agonist, R837, in several animal models of asthma. These include allergen sensitization or virus infection in both guinea pig and mouse, as well as transgenic mouse models that have increased or decreased numbers of eosninophils in the lungs. I found that both allergen sensitization and Sendai virusinfection reduced the bronchodilating potency of R837 in guinea pigs in vivo. To determine if TLR7-mediated eosinophil activation is responsible for the reduced R837 potency, I depleted eosinophils with an antibody to IL-5, but was not able to rescue the potency. There was no difference in the relaxant potency of R837 in

tracheas from allergen sensitized, sensitized and challenged, and Sendai virusinfected mice *in vitro.* To determine whether these asthma models were insufficient to induce TLR7 dysfunction in mice, I also measured the effect of R837 in transgenic mice with and without eosinophils in the lung, but found no differences in the relaxant potency of R837. The data suggest that guinea pig models of asthma are better for measuring TLR7 dysfunction, and that eosinophils that can be depleted by an antibody to IL-5 are not responsible for dysfunction in the relaxant potency of TLR7.

INTRODUCTION

In the previous chapters I demonstrated that TLR7 agonists are potent and rapid bronchodilators within minutes of administration in guinea pigs, mice, and humans. Because of the inconsistency of the fast timing of the effect with known effects of TLR7 signaling, I undertook experiments to show that TLR7 does mediate some or all of the effects of TLR7 agonists depending on the species. The mechanism involves effectors known to have fast effects on airway smooth muscle physiology including prostaglandins, the MaxiK potassium channel, and nitric oxide.

This highly conserved mechanism might serve to maintain breathing by bronchodilating the airways during the obstruction associated with the clearance of the virus infection. While inflammation is beneficial for protection against pathogenic infections, there are numerous deleterious effects, and mechanisms evolved to limit these effects are very important. Both healthy humans and humans with asthma are subject to respiratory virus infections. While healthy humans experience symptoms consistent with inflammation to clear the infection, humans with asthma suffer more severe symptoms that present as asthma attacks that can result in hospital admissions or death. As TLR7 polymorphisms are associated with asthma, perhaps TLR7 dysfunction limits the bronchodilating effect of this protective mechanism. The result is more constriction and obstruction during the virus infection, hallmarks of the asthmatic condition. Because the asthmatic condition is often associated with allergy and a T_h2-skewed immune environment in the lung, another possibility could be reduced TLR7 expression or function. TLR7

signaling is associated with skewing towards a T_h1 immune environment characterized by antiviral cytokines like interferon- γ . Here I show, as others have (Nagase et al., 2003), that interferon- γ can potentiate TLR7 expression and function, so reduced interferon- γ production in a T_h2 environment might result in reduced function of a TLR7-mediated bronchodilating mechanism.

To address whether the TLR7-mediated bronchodilating protective mechanism is dysfunctional in the asthmatic condition, I measured the effect of the TLR7 agonist, R837, in several animal models of asthma. These include allergen sensitization models of allergic asthma and Sendai virus infection models in guinea pig and mouse. I found that allergen sensitization and Sendai virus-infection reduced the bronchodilating potency of R837 in guinea pigs *in vivo*. The reduced potency is the result of the loss of a high potency phase from a biphasic dose-response in control animals, leaving only the lower potency phase remaining. The results suggest that a reduction in TLR7 function might account for reduced bronchodilation in humans with asthma during a respiratory virus infection.

A hallmark of asthma is higher numbers of eosinophils in the airways, a characteristic shared by allergen-sensitized guinea pigs (Costello et al., 1997; Kay, 2005; Lemiere et al., 2006). Activation of these eosinophils by allergen challenge or virus infection results in the release of various inflammatory mediators, including major basic protein. Major basic protein is an allosteric antagonist of M2 muscarinic receptors. Prejunctional M2 muscarinic receptors on airway parasympathetic nerves limit acetylcholine release from the nerve terminal, a negative feedback

mechanism limiting bronchoconstriction. Antagonism of these M2 muscarinic receptors by major basic protein eliminates the negative feedback, increasing bronchoconstriction.

In this chapter, I show that human eosinophils express TLR7 and can be activated by TLR7 agonists. In allergen-sensitized guinea pigs, perhaps TLR7-mediated activation of eosinophils exerts a bronchoconstricting effects that opposes TLR7-mediated bronchodilation, accounting for the reduced potency of R837. To test this hypothesis, I depleted eosinophils from allergen-sensitized animals using a monoclonal antibody to IL-5, a cytokine that promotes eosinophil survival and maturation. This treatment did not rescue the potency of R837, suggesting that eosinophils are not responsible for the reduced potency in allergen-sensitized guinea pigs.

In mice, there was no effect of allergen sensitization, allergen challenge, or virus infection on the relaxant potency of R837 *in vitro*. Because mouse airway physiology is so different from guinea pigs and humans and not all characteristics of asthma are recapitulated in the allergic and virus-infected mouse models, I also used transgenic mouse lines. NJ1726 mice have IL-5 expressed under a Clara cell-specific promoter resulting in IL-5 overexpression in the lungs and increased eosinophil numbers in the lungs (Lee et al., 1997). Because increased eosinophil numbers have long been associated with asthma, this model allowed me to measure the effect of bronchodilating TLR7 signaling at the same time as that from TLR7 in eosinophils. The PHIL strain of mice, have the diphtheria toxin A chain expressed under the

control of the eosinophil-specific eosinophil peroxidase promoter, depleting eosinophils from these mice. The PHIL strain allows me to determine if the absence of eosinophils shows a different bronchodilator response to TLR7 signaling, suggesting a role for eosinophil activation. A third strain, NJ1726/PHIL, has IL-5 overexpression in the lungs, but no eosinophils, allowing me to determine whether IL-5 overexpression in the lungs itself has an effect regardless of the presence of eosinophils. A Th2 allergic immune environment is characterized by increased IL-5 expression, so non-eosinophilic IL-5 effects cannot be discounted. I observed no significant difference in the relaxant effect of R837 in any of these strains of mice from wildtype controls.

The data suggest that allergy and virus infection, often associated with asthma attacks, reduce the bronchodilating potency of TLR7 agonists in guinea pig. This might reflect a defect reducing bronchodilation in response to respiratory viruses in humans with asthma. The result could be more bronchoconstriction to equivalent stimuli during the respiratory virus infection, which presents as the airway hyperreactivity characteristic of the asthmatic condition. This might explain why humans with asthma suffer more severe obstructive respiratory symptoms, more hospitalizations, and more fatalities than healthy humans in response to respiratory virus infections. It also suggests that therapies that restore the bronchodilating effects of TLR7 signaling could be beneficial for asthma. The data also suggest that guinea pigs remain a better model of human airway physiology and pharmacology than mice.

EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN

In vivo measurements of bronchoconstriction

See Chapter II General Methods.

In vitro measurements of tracheal contraction

See Chapter II General Methods.

Guinea pig ovalbumin sensitization

Guinea pigs were sensitized by 0.5 ml intraperitoneal injections of Grade II chicken egg ovalbumin (6 mg/ml in PBS) every other day for 3 total injections. 3 weeks later guinea pigs were used for *in vivo* measurements of respiratory physiology. Some animals were administered monoclonal rat anti-mouse/human IL-5 (240 μ g/kg; BD Biosciences, San Diego, CA) 5 days before *in vivo* measurements.

Lungs were removed at the end of the experiment, fixed overnight at 4°C in zincbuffered formalin, and embedded in paraffin for transverse sectioning. Sections were dewaxed and stained for 60 seconds with Chromotrope 2R (Sigma Aldrich, St Louis, MO) to identify eosinophils in the tissue. Sections were rinsed in tap water and then counterstained for 30 seconds with methyl green (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA) to identify nuclei of cells in the tissue for orientation. 5 airways per animal were photographed by a digital camera attached to a Nikon upright microscope, and eosinophils in the epithelium and in the smooth muscle were counted and normalized to the area of the airway epithelium and smooth muscle using Metamorph imaging software.

Guinea pig Sendai virus infection

Guinea pigs were anaesthetized with ketamine (30 mg/kg intramuscular; JHP Pharmaceuticals LLC, Rochester MI) and xylazine (5 mg/kg intramuscular; Vedco Inc., St Joseph, MO) and infected by intranasal administration of 1×10^6 TCID₅₀ units (determined from dosage at which 50% of rhesus monkey kidney cells are infected by Sendai virus) in 250 µL PBS. 4 days later guinea pigs were used for *in vivo* measurements of respiratory physiology. Lungs were removed at the end of the experiment and virus titer was measured by PCR to confirm infection.

Mouse ovalbumin sensitization and challenge

Mice were sensitized by a single intraperitoneal injection of 100 µL. 3 weeks later the mice were anaesthetized with ketamine (100 mg/kg) and xylazine (5 mg/kg) and challenged by intratracheal administration of 100 µL of 2% ovalbumin (chicken egg ovalbumin (Grade II, Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) dissolved in PBS and emulsified in aluminum hydroxide/magnesium hydroxide (Pierce, Rockford, IL)). The challenge was repeated 3 times on alternating days. 24 hours later mice were used in *in vitro* experiments.

Mouse Sendai virus infection

Mice were anaesthetized with ketamine (100mg/kg) and xylazine (5mg/kg) and infected intranasally with Sendai virus (2.8 x 10^4 TCID₅₀ units). 4 days later mice were used in *in vitro* experiments. Lungs were removed at the end of the experiment and virus titer was measured by PCR to confirm infection.

Eosinophil isolation

Human eosinophils were isolated from human blood using a modified protocol from a commercially available kit (MACS Eosinophil Isolation Kit, Miltenyi Biotec, Auburn, CA). 180 ml of blood was collected in a syringe containing 0.5 M EDTA to prevent clotting and stored on ice. The blood was then diluted 1:1 with ice cold PBS. 20 ml of blood was layered over 20 ml cold sterile Ficoll in a 50 ml conical vial, and centrifuged in a tabletop centrifuge (600 x g for 30 minutes). This centrifugation separates the granulocytes and red blood cells from the mononuclear cells. Red blood cells were then hyptonically lysed in water. The cells were centrifuged again (300 x g for 30 minutes) and supernatant removed by aspiration. The cells were resuspended in dilution buffer (PBS, 2.5% BSA, 2mM EDTA; 40 µL per 10⁷ cells) and incubated with a biotin-conjugated antibody cocktail for 10 minutes on ice. This antibody cocktail is specific for markers on non-eosinophil cells, including neutrophils, T cells, B cells, NK cells, dendritic cells, and monocytes. After washing, the cells were incubated with a secondary antibody against biotin conjugated to magnetic microbeads for 15 minutes. The cells were washed and resuspended in

dilution buffer (500 μ L per 10⁸ cells). The suspension was run over a column filled with magnetic beads and held in a magnetic block, so that antibody labeled cells were retained in the column and unlabeled cells flowed through. The column was rinsed three times, and the eosinophil purity and viability was assessed by differential staining and Trypan blue exclusion of a sample of the effluent.

Eosinophil immunostaining

Eosinophils were treated overnight with or without interferon- γ (300 U/ml). The following day, eosinophils were cytofuged onto a glass slide (10K to 30K cells) and fixed in paraformaldehyde (4% for 10 minutes). Slides were washed 3 times for 5 minutes in 0.5% Triton-PBS for permeabilization, or just PBS for nonpermeabilized cells. The slides were then incubated in 0.1% trypsin for 10 minutes at 37°C for antigen unmasking. Hydrophobic barriers were drawn around cells. Slides were blocked in 10% normal goat serum and 10% fetal bovine serum for 60 minutes at 37°C in a humid chamber. Slides were incubated with rabbit anti-TLR7 primary antibody (0.125 µg/ml; Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) overnight at 4°C in a humid chamber. The following day slides were rinsed 5 times in PBS, then incubated with a fluorescent secondary goat anti-rabbit IgG antibody (1:1000; Alexafluor488; Invitrogen, Calrsbad, CA) at 37°C for 60 minutes in a humid chamber. Slides were washed 5 times in PBS and mounted with 4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) softset media (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA) to label the nuclei. Images were captured with a digital camera on a Nikon upright microscope, and analyzed with Metamorph imaging software.

Transgenic mice

See Chapter II General Methods.

RESULTS

R837 is less potent in allergen-sensitized guinea pigs *in vivo* due to the absence of a high-potency relaxant phase of the R837 dose-response.

Allergies are a common trigger of asthma, and ovalbumin sensitization of guinea pigs is a commonly used model of allergic asthma. To address whether allergy changes the acute bronchodilatory response to TLR7 agonists to explain the association of respiratory viruses with asthma, I measured the effect of R837 on bronchoconstriction in ovalbumin-sensitized guinea pigs in vivo. Because allergensensitization and challenge is associated with airway hyperreactivity mediated by M2 muscarinic receptor dysfunction on the prejunctional parasympathetic nerves (Fryer and Wills-Karp, 1991), bronchoconstriction was induced by electrical stimulation of the vagus nerve (10 V, 10 Hz, 0.2 msec pulse duration, 5 sec on, 60 sec off). This is opposed to direct stimulation of M3 muscarinic receptors on the smooth muscle by the exogenous administration of acetylcholine. R837 rapidly and dosedependently abolished bronchoconstriction in both control nonsensitized and ovalbumin-sensitized guinea pigs *in vivo*, however the bronchodilatory effect was significantly less potent in ovalbumin-sensitized guinea pigs (Figure 5.1A). Further analysis by curve fitting reveals a shallow Hill slope for the dose-response to R837 in control nonsensitized compared to that in sensitized guinea pigs (Figure 5.1B left; Nonsensitized Hill Slope=-0.52, Sensitized Hill Slope=-0.99), indicating a multiphasic fit (Figure 5.1B right). A comparison of monophasic and biphasic fits by hypothesis testing with a monophasic fit as the null hypothesis (Figure 5.1B bottom) concludes

that a biphasic fit is preferred for the R837 dose-response in nonsensitized controls and a monophasic fit for the R837 dose-response in ovalbumin-sensitized guinea pigs. There is a high potency phase in control animals ($IC_{50}=0.005 \text{ mg/kg}$) that is lost in the sensitized animals. The lower potency phase in control animals ($IC_{50}=0.48 \text{ mg/kg}$) is approximately equivalent to the potency of the monophasic dose-response in sensitized animals ($IC_{50}=0.41 \text{ mg/kg}$), and 100-fold less potent than the high potency phase.

Isolated human eosinophils express TLR7, and expression is potentiated by pretreatment with interferon-γ.

Among other symptoms, ovalbumin sensitization of guinea pigs results in eosinophil recruitment to the lungs . Activation of these eosinophils mediates airway hyperreactivity induced by allergen challenge, as well as virus infection of allergen sensitized animals (Fryer and Wills-Karp, 1991; Adamko et al., 1999). To address whether eosinophils could be activated by TLR7 ligands, I first stained isolated human eosinophils to determine if they expressed TLR7. By immunofluorescence, I found that isolated human eosinophils do express TLR7 (Figure 5.2A). The staining was more pronounced in permeabilized (Figure 5.2A left) compared to nonpermeabilized (Figure 5.2A right) eosinophils, possibly suggesting a predominantly intracellular localization. Because interferon- γ , a T_h1 cytokine, can upregulate TLR7 expression in some systems (Mohty et al., 2003; Nagase et al., 2003), I tested the effect of overnight pretreatment with interferon- γ (300 U/ml), on TLR7 expression in human eosinophils. Pretreatment with interferon- γ resulted in

an increase of TLR7 staining (Figure 5.2A bottom). This could be due to an increase in TLR7 expression, or a potential redistribution of TLR7 localization to the cell surface, as nonpermeabilized eosinophils have much higher staining with interferon- γ pretreatment (Figure 5.2A bottom right). A 55-fold increase in TLR7 mRNA expression in interferon- γ pretreated eosinophils was also detected by RT-PCR (Figure 5.2B). The increase in TLR7 expression following interferon- γ pretreatment corresponded functionally, with increased eosinophils activation in response to virus and synthetic TLR7 agonists.

Depletion of eosinophils with an antibody to IL-5 does not rescue the potency of R837-mediated bronchodilation in allergen-sensitized guinea pigs *in vivo*.

To address whether it is the eosinophils in the airways of ovalbumin-sensitized guinea pigs that cause the reduced bronchodilatory potency of R837, I tested the effect of R837 in allergen-sensitized animals *in vivo* in which the eosinophils have been depleted. To deplete eosinophils, I treated ovalbumin-sensitized animals with a monoclonal antibody to IL-5, a cytokine for eosinophil maturation and survival. Eosinophil depletion did not rescue the potency of R837 to control levels (Figure 5.3A), suggesting that eosinophils do not mediate the reduced bronchodilator potency of R837 in allergen-sensitized guinea pigs *in vivo*. To confirm that the eosinophils were depleted by the monoclonal antibody to IL-5, eosinophils around medium sized airways were counted in sections of guinea pig lungs. Though not statistically significant, there appears to be a reduction in eosinophil number around the airways of sensitized animals treated with the antibody to IL-5 (Figure

5.3B). This is not a complete depletion of eosinophils, however, so eosinophil activation could still be an explanation for the reduced potency of R837.

There is no difference in the relaxant potency of R837 in mouse tracheas *in vitro* from allergen sensitized, allergen sensitized and challenged, and transgenic models with overexpression of IL-5 or eosinophils in the lungs.

Because of the availability of TLR7-deficient mice, the mouse still remains an intriguing model for the possibility of complete abrogation of TLR7 function in a non-pharmacological manner, particularly in disease states in which TLR7 function might be changed. I described a reduction of TLR7-mediated bronchodilation in allergen-sensitized guinea pigs, and I wanted to determine whether this effect could be replicated in mouse to determine if the mouse model remains viable for detecting changes or deficiencies in a TLR7-mediated bronchodilatory response. There was no difference in the relaxant potency of R837 in tracheas from ovalbumin-sensitized and control nonsensitized mice (Figure 5.4A). As in the guinea pig, these mice were allergen sensitized, but not challenged. To determine if the mouse needs an additional hit from an allergen challenge following sensitization to detect changes in the relaxant potency of R837, I also tested the effect of R837 in allergen sensitized and challenged mouse tracheas *in vitro*, but again saw no difference from control nonsensitized mice (Figure 5.4A). Thus, unlike guinea pig, the allergen-sensitized mouse is not a suitable model for measuring changes in the relaxant ability of TLR7 signaling. Another possibility is that differences were not observed, because these

mouse experiments were done in an *in vitro* organ bath setup, while the guinea pig experiments were done *in vivo*.

Another mouse model of allergic or eosinophilic asthma that is available is a transgenic mouse model. In this model, NJ1726 mice express IL-5 under the control of the airway epithelium specific Clara cell promoter for increased numbers of eosinophils in the lungs (Lee et al., 1997). There is no need for allergen sensitization or challenge to recruit these eosinophils, as IL-5 is constitutively elevated in the lungs of these animals. If eosinophils play any role in changing the relaxant response to TLR7 agonists, then this model allows me to detect those changes while bypassing any problems with allergen sensitization and challenge in the mouse. There was no difference in the relaxant potency of R837 in tracheas from NJ1726 mice compared to control wildtype mice *in vitro* (Figure 5.4B). The PHIL strain of mice express the diptheria toxin A chain under the control of the eosinophil specific promoter for eosinophil peroxidase to kill all eosinophils. Perhaps the effects of eosinophils are already saturated between wildtype and NJ1726 mice, but the PHIL mice allow me to detect any changes in the relaxant potency of R837 when eosinophils are completely absent, if there is a contribution from eosinophils in wildtype control or NJ1726 mice. There was no difference in the relaxant potency of R837 in tracheas from PHIL mice compared to control wildtype mice *in vitro* (Figure 5.4B). I also tested the effect of R837 in tracheas from NJ1726/PHIL mice that have overexpression of IL-5 in the lungs but no eosinophils, in case IL-5 itself causes changes in the relaxant potency of R837. As expected from the single transgenic NJ1726 or PHIL mice, there was no difference in the relaxant potency of R837 in

tracheas from NJ1726/PHIL mice compared to control wildtype mice *in vitro* (Figure 5.4B). The data suggest that transgenic mouse models of asthma are not sufficient to detect changes in the relaxant potency of R837 *in vitro*. Again, another possibility is the failure of the *in vitro* system to detect the changes that were detected in the guinea pig *in vivo*.

The relaxant potency of R837 is reduced in Sendai virus-infected guinea pigs *in vivo*, but not Sendai virus-infected mouse tracheas *in vitro*.

Respiratory virus infections are associated with asthma attacks, regardless of the atopic status of the patient. To determine whether virus infection changes the bronchodilatory potency of TLR7 signaling, I measured the effect of R837 on bronchoconstriction *in vivo* 4 days after Sendai virus infection of guinea pigs. Virusinfection was confirmed by real time PCR on lung tissue after physiological measurements were taken (data not shown). The bronchodilatory potency of R837 was reduced in Sendai virus-infected guinea pigs compared to control uninfected guinea pigs (Figure 5.5A). The reduced potency was very close to the reduced potency observed upon allergen sensitization, perhaps also due to the loss of a high potency phase of a biphasic dose response. The data suggest that inflammation induced by virus infection, similar to allergic inflammation, changes the ability of TLR7 agonists to relax guinea pig airways. Another possibility is that the Sendai virus ssRNA genome is occupying TLR7 receptors, so the starting bronchoconstriction is already partially bronchodilated by TLR7 occupancy, the hypothesized endogenous protective mechanism against these respiratory virus

infections. Low doses of R837 will occupy only the fraction of receptors dictated by the inherent affinity of R837, but if these are already occupied by virus ssRNA, then no further bronchodilation will be observed. Further bronchodilation will only be observed at higher concentrations of R837, as R837 begins to occupy more receptors left available. Consistent with this hypothesis, the average baseline bronchoconstriction induced by electrical stimulation of the vagus nerve (10 V, 10 Hz, 0.2 msec pulse duration, 5 sec on, 60 sec off) was 97 mm H₂O for control guinea pigs compared to 53 mm H₂O for virus-infected guinea pigs, suggesting that the virus-infected guinea pigs start out partially bronchodilated by the virus.

Though neither allergic inflammation nor transgenic models of eosinophil presence and absence changed the relaxant potency of R837 in mouse tracheas *in vitro*, I wanted to determine whether differences could be detected upon respiratory virus infection in the mouse. I measured the relaxant effect of R837 *in vitro* in tracheas from uninfected control mice and mice 4 days after Sendai virus infection. Virus infection was confirmed by real time PCR on lung tissue (data not shown). I observed no differences in the relaxant potency of R837 in tracheas from uninfected control and Sendai virus-infected mice (Figure 5.5B). This suggests that the mouse airway is not a good model for virus-induced changes in rapid TLR7 signaling. The expression of TLR7 was measured in these mice by quantitative real time PCR, and I observed a 5-fold increase in TLR7 mRNA in Sendai-virus infected mice (Figure 5.4C). Another explanation is that any changes in TLR7 signaling are overcome by the increased TLR7 expression, so that overall no differences are detected. Yet

another possibility is that changes observed in the guinea pig *in vivo* are not detectable in the *in vitro* organ bath experimental system.
FIGURE 5.1. R837 is less potent in allergen-sensitized guinea pigs *in vivo* due to the absence of a high-potency relaxant phase of the R837 dose-response.



Figure 5.1 (A) Bronchoconstrictions were induced by electrical stimulation of the vagus nerves in nonsensitized control (circle) and ovalbumin-sensitized (square) guinea pigs *in vivo*, and the effect of cumulative increasing doses of R837 administered i.v. was measured. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. (*n*=5 for vagal stimulation, maximum nonsensitized=93.0 \pm 21.5 mm H₂O, maximum sensitized=68.5 \pm 11.8 mm H₂O; nonsensitized vs. sensitized p<0.05 at 0.01 and 0.03 mg/kg). (B) Monophasic (left) and biphasic (right) nonlinear regression analysis were used to fit the R837 dose-response curves. The Hill slope and monophasic IC50 is shown below the graph on the left, while the IC50 for each phase of the biphasic fit is shown below the graph on the right. A comparison of fits is reported, and the preferred (green) and rejected (red) model is indicated on the graph.

FIGURE 5.2. Isolated human eosinophils express TLR7, and expression is potentiated by pretreatment with interferon-γ.



Figure 5.2 (A) Permeabilized or nonpermeabilized isolated human eosinophils were pretreated overnight with vehicle or interferon- γ , stained for TLR7 (green), and mounted in DAPI containing media to label nuclei (blue). (B) TLR7 mRNA expression in human eosinophils pretreated overnight with vehicle or interferon- γ was measured by quantitative real time PCR and normalized to expression in vehicle treated eosinophils (*n*=3).

FIGURE 5.3. Depletion of eosinophils with an antibody to IL-5 does not rescue the potency of R837-mediated bronchodilation in allergen-sensitized guinea pigs *in vivo*.



Figure 5.3 (A) Bronchoconstrictions were induced by electrical stimulation of the vagus nerves in nonsensitized control (circles), ovalbumin-sensitized (squares), and ovalbumin-sensitized with anti-IL-5 treatment (red triangles) guinea pigs *in vivo*, and the effect of cumulative increasing doses of R837 administered i.v. was measured. Data are expressed as the mean ± SEM. Data previously shown in Figure 5.1 are redisplayed in black with new data in red. (*n*=5; maximum nonsensitized=93.0±21.5 mm H₂O, maximum sensitized=68.5±11.8 mm H₂O, maximum Anti-IL-5=94.0±55.9 mm H₂O). (B) Average number of eosinophils per area of 4 individual airways per section of guinea pig lung (*n*=5).

FIGURE 5.4. There is no difference in the relaxant potency of R837 in mouse tracheas *in vitro* from allergen sensitized, allergen sensitized and challenged, and transgenic models with overexpression of IL-5 or eosinophils in the lungs.



Figure 5.4 (A) Trachea segments were preincubated with vehicle (solid lines) or IRS661 (dashed lines). Contraction was induced by methacholine and the effect of cumulative increasing doses of R837 was measured in tracheas from nonsensitized control (circles), ovalbumin-sensitized but not challenged (squares), and ovalbumin-sensitized and challenged (triangles) mice. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. (nonsensitized control *n*=3, sensitized *n*=2, sensitized and challenged *n*=6; maximum nonsensitized control=0.32 \pm 0.06 g, maximum sensitized=0.33 \pm 0.03 g, maximum sensitized and challenged=0.28 \pm 0.06 g). (B) Contraction was induced by methacholine and the effect of cumulative increasing doses of R837 was measured in tracheas from wildtype (circles), NJ1726 (squares), PHIL (triangles), and NJ1726/PHIL (diamonds) mice. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. (wildtype *n*=1, NJ1726 *n*=2, PHIL *n*=2, NJ1726/PHIL *n*=2).







guinea pigs *in vivo*, and the effect of cumulative increasing doses of R837 administered i.v. was measured. Data are expressed as the mean ± SEM. (uninfected control *n*=2, Sendai virus-infected *n*=3; maximum uninfected control=97±36 mm H₂O, maximum Sendai virus-infected=53±10 mm H₂O; effect of Sendai virus infection on R837-dose response p<0.05). (B) Contraction was induced by methacholine and the effect of cumulative increasing doses of R837 was measured in tracheas from uninfected controls (circles) and Sendai virus-infected (squares) mice. Data are expressed as the mean ± SEM. (*n*=4; maximum uninfected control=0.42±0.07 g, maximum virus-infected=0.36±0.09 g). (C) TLR7 mRNA expression was measured by quantitative real time PCR and normalized to expression in uninfected control mice (*n*=5).

DISCUSSION

In the previous 2 chapters I described my initial observation of a bronchodilatory effect of TLR7 agonists *in vivo* and *in vitro*. The bronchodilatory effect is conserved across three mammalian species, suggesting an important mechanism that has been maintained with evolution. The reason for its importance might be to relax and open the airways to maintain breathing during a respiratory virus infection, the clearance of which involves inflammation that is obstructive and constrictive to the airways.

TLR7 was initially selected as a target that might affect airway physiology, because of the close association of respiratory ssRNA viruses with asthma attacks, and because TLR7 polymorphisms are associated with asthma. I was expecting to measure differences in TLR7 signaling in animal models of asthma to account for the more severe symptoms of respiratory virus infections in humans with asthma. The initial bronchodilatory observations were made in healthy animals, but were unexpected. The question remains why are the symptoms of respiratory virus infections more severe in humans with asthma?

One possibility is that described TLR7 polymorphisms associated with asthma result in a defective bronchodilator response in the presence of respiratory viruses. This could manifest as more bronchoconstriction to equivalent stimuli during the virus infection, the definition of airway hyperreactivity. In the absence of TLR7 polymorphisms, perhaps some other aspect of the asthmatic condition affects TLR7 signaling.

As allergy is also associated with asthma, the allergic immune environment of the lung could also contribute to a defective TLR7 bronchodilator response. The allergic immune environment in the lung is characterized by T_h2 cytokines like IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13. TLR7 signaling promotes a T_h1 immune environment characterized by cytokines like IL-10 and interferon- γ . T_h1 cytokines like interferon- γ have been shown to promote TLR7 signaling. Here, I show corroborating data that interferon- γ potentiates TLR7 expression and function in isolated human eosinophils. In the absence of T_h1 cytokines, as in allergic airways, TLR7 expression and bronchodilating function might be decreased, accounting for the more severe effects of respiratory virus infection.

To address whether there is dysfunction in the TLR7-mediated bronchodilating mechanism in a model of allergic asthma, I tested the effect of R837 on bronchoconstriction in ovalbumin-sensitized guinea pigs *in vivo*. I found in these animals that the bronchodilating potency of R837 is significantly reduced. By curve-fitting analysis, it seems that the loss of potency is due specifically to the loss of a high-potency bronchodilating phase of the dose-response that is present in control nonsensitized animals, leaving a lower potency bronchodilating phase intact. These results confirm that allergic inflammation reduces the protective effect of TLR7 signaling in the airways, possibly explaining the more severe symptoms of respiratory virus infections in humans with asthma.

A hallmark of lung inflammation is the influx of immune cells. Multiple immune cells are known to express TLR7 (Nagase et al., 2003; Kulka et al., 2004; Demedts et al.,

2006), and perhaps TLR7 signaling in these cells can modulate the bronchodilating effects of TLR7 signaling in the airways. Here, I show that isolated human eosinophils express TLR7 and are activated in response to TLR7 agonists, both virus ssRNA and synthetic. Eosinophils have long been associated with asthma. The activation of eosinophils around airway parasympathetic nerves results in the release of major basic protein, an allosteric M2 muscarinic antagonist (Jacoby et al., 1993). Prejunctional inhibitory M2 muscarinic receptors on parasympathetic nerve terminals limit acetylcholine release onto smooth muscle, limiting bronchoconstriction under healthy conditions (Figure 1.4A). The functional consequence of major basic protein release from activated eosinophils is that blockade of prejunctional inhibitory M2 muscarinic receptors results in more acetylcholine release from the nerve terminals and more bronchoconstriction mediated by M3 muscarinic receptors on the airway smooth muscle (Figure 1.4B). This airway hyperreactivity can be reversed by depleting eosinophils with an antibody to IL-5 or with a neutralizing antibody against major basic protein.

In allergen-sensitized guinea pigs, eosinophil activation can be accomplished by allergen challenge or by respiratory virus infection (Fryer and Wills-Karp, 1991; Adamko et al., 1999), both resulting in airway hyperreactivity. As I show here that eosinophils can be activated by respiratory viruses or R837, perhaps TLR7 mediates this eosinophil activation and airway hyperreactivity in allergen sensitized guinea pigs. Even if there is a bronchodilating effect of TLR7 signaling in the airways as I have described in healthy animals, an opposing bronchoconstrictive effect from

TLR7-mediated eosinophil activation would limit the overall bronchodilating effect (Figure 5.6). In this way, eosinophils or other TLR7-expressing immune cells might limit the bronchodilating protective mechanism of TLR7 signaling during allergic inflammation.

To address whether eosinophils mediate the dysfunction in the TLR7-mediated bronchodilating mechanism in allergen-sensitized guinea pigs in vivo, I attempted to deplete eosinophils in allergen-sensitized guinea pigs using a monoclonal antibody to IL-5, a cytokine for eosinophil maturation and survival. Complete eosinophil depletion was not accomplished, but I did observe a statistically insignificant reduction in eosinophils around airways in guinea pig lung sections. Treatment with the antibody against IL-5 did not rescue the bronchodilating potency of R837 *in vivo*, This might suggest that eosinophils do not mediate the reduced potency of R837, but the data are inconclusive as complete depletion of eosinophils was not accomplished. Furthermore, the changes in potency could be due to IL-5 insensitive eosinophils. There are many changes from allergic inflammation, beyond influx of eosinophils, and other immune cell types as well as tissue remodeling can not be ruled out either. It has been shown that ovalbumin sensitization and challenge of guinea pigs results in decreased nitric oxide synthase activity in tracheal smooth muscle (Samb et al., 2001). As I have determined that nitric oxide synthase mediates some of the relaxant effects of TLR7 agonists *in vitro*, perhaps a reduction in nitric oxide production results in the decreased sensitivity to R837 in ovalbumin sensitized guinea pigs *in vivo*. This is one of many possible changes that could

explain changes in the relaxant potency of R837 upon allergen sensitization.

Figure 5.6. Hypothesized effect of TLR7-mediated bronchodilation in the presence of TLR7-mediated eosinophil activation by the agonist R837.



Figure5.6. This schematic shows the activation of bronchodilatory mechanisms in nonsensitized guinea pigs (top) and the activation of both bronchodilatory mechanisms and bronchoconstrictive eosinophil-mediated mechanisms in ovalbumin-sensitized guinea pigs (bottom). This is a possible explanation for the reduced relaxant potency of R837 in ovalbumin-sensitized guinea pigs *in vivo*.

CHAPTER VI.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Exacerbations of asthma, a disease characterized by airway inflammation and hyperreactivity, are associated with respiratory virus infections (Nicholson et al., 1993; Johnston et al., 1995). While healthy individuals and patients with asthma are susceptible to the same respiratory virus infections, the symptoms are more severe and last longer in humans with asthma. As respiratory viruses induce an inflammatory response to clear the infection and protect the host, perhaps it is this inflammatory response that is defective in humans with asthma. Indeed, asthma and allergy have been associated with a defective adaptive immune response described by the predominance of helper T lymphocytes of the T_h2 subtype, which produce cytokines such as IL4, IL-5, and IL-13, and results in IgE antibody class switching, mucus hypersecretion, airway remodeling, and airway hyperreactivity (Anderson, 2002; Larche et al., 2003; Bradding et al., 2006; Holgate, 2008). This immune response is not purely pathological, and is appropriate for the clearance of extracellular parasitic infections, such as helminth worm infections (Kariyawasam and Robinson, 2006; Paul and Zhu, 2010). For the clearance of respiratory virus infections, however, the healthy human airways mount an adaptive immune response characterized by helper T lymphocytes of the T_h1 subtype, which produce cytokines such as IL-10 and interferon- γ , effectively clearing the virus infection while limiting the deleterious effects of the immune system on the airway environment (Papadopoulos et al., 2007). While a misdirected T_h2 adaptive immune response is associated with asthma, the adaptive immune response is determined

by the initial recognition of the respiratory virus by the innate immune system. It might be the innate recognition of the virus that is defective, resulting in the mounting of an inappropriate adaptive immune response. Viruses are recognized by receptors of the innate immune system that recognize conserved molecular patterns characteristic of viruses, particularly their genomes. Most respiratory viruses have a ssRNA genome that can be recognized by TLR7 and TLR8 (Diebold, 2008). TLR7 and TLR8 are expressed at the highest levels in the lung, and polymorphisms in these receptors are associated with asthma (Roponen et al.; Chuang and Ulevitch, 2000; Nishimura and Naito, 2005; Moller-Larsen et al., 2008). It could be inferred, therefore, that a defective innate immune response to respiratory viruses mediated by TLR7 or TLR8 could result in an inappropriate immune environment that is inefficient at clearing virus infections and is characterized by the inflammation associated with asthma. Drugs that can skew the lung immune environment towards T_h1 away from T_h2 have been proposed as a prophylactic therapy for asthma. In particular, TLR7 agonists have been proposed for this role, as their recognition mounts an antiviral immune response, which itself skews the environment away from T_h2 and towards T_h1 inflammation (Stokes et al., 1998; Quarcoo et al., 2004; Napolitani et al., 2005; Moisan et al., 2006; Camateros et al., 2007; Sel et al., 2007; Xirakia et al., 2010).

Eosinophils, immune effector cells associated with T_h2-type immunity and asthma, can be activated in the lungs of humans with asthma to mediate airway hyperreactivity characteristic of asthma (Costello et al., 1997). These cells can be

activated by allergen exposure, pollutants, and respiratory viruses (Evans et al., 1997; Adamko et al., 1999; Yost et al., 2005; Proskocil et al., 2008). Eosinophils express TLR7 that can mediate eosinophil activation in response to both virus ssRNA and synthetic TLR7 agonists (Nagase et al., 2003; Mansson and Cardell, 2009). The early goal of my research was to reproduce the airway hyperreactivity in response to a respiratory virus infection by activating eosinophils in allergen sensitized guinea pigs using a synthetic TLR7 agonist. Upon administration of the TLR7 agonist R837 *in vivo*, I instead found the drug rapidly and completely abolished bronchoconstriction within minutes of administration. Not only could I not replicate the airway hyperreactivity characterized by increased bronchoconstriction, but I found a bronchodilatory role for this drug. Furthermore, this bronchodilation occurred in minutes, which is inconsistent with the timeframe of transcriptional regulation associated with canonical TLR signaling. This rapid bronchodilation is the primary characteristic of a rescue therapy for the ongoing bronchoconstriction of an asthma attack. Combined with the T_h1-skewing potential of TLR7 agonists, this single drug holds the unique potential for both chronic prophylactic therapy and acute rescue therapy. Currently standard asthma therapy consists of anti-inflammatory steroids for prophylaxis in combination with betaagonists for acute bronchodilatory rescue. Both of these drugs are associated with a number of side effects. A TLR7 agonist has the potential to do both.

If the relaxant effect of R837 is indeed mediated by TLR7 itself, it suggests a mechanism that evolved to bronchodilate the airways during a respiratory virus

infection. Respiratory virus infections are associated with inflammation, which clears the infection but can also obstruct the airways and breathing. It is reasonable that the airways may have also developed a mechanism to bronchodilate in response to respiratory virus infections, to increase the diameter of the airway lumen, and maintain the passage of air and effective breathing. Defects in this bronchoprotective mechanism, perhaps associated with TLR7 polymorphisms or Th2 cytokine-mediated downregulation of TLR7 expression or function, could explain the more severe effects of respiratory virus infections in humans with asthma. While they experience inflammation that is necessary to clear the virus infection, they may not experience the beneficial bronchodilation to maintain breathing.

Because of interest in both the therapeutic potential and a possible endogenous protective mechanism, I shifted the focus of my research to the bronchodilatory effects of TLR7 agonists. As this was a novel finding, it required extensive characterization. I was interested in determining whether TLR7 itself mediated the bronchodilating effects of the drug or whether off target effects were responsible. Because of the fast timeframe inconsistent with canonical TLR7 signaling, I wanted to determine what intracellular signaling mechanisms could mediate this effect. Because of its obvious therapeutic potential, I wanted to determine if the effect was conserved in human airway tissue. Finally, I wanted to determine whether the

some of the more severe effects of respiratory virus infections in asthma and in part to determine if the therapeutic potential carries over to asthma.

In Chapter III, I demonstrate that the TLR7 agonist relaxed bronchoconstriction in guinea pigs in vivo and in vitro. The mechanism used to induce contraction in vitro gave me information about the location of action of the relaxant effects of the drug. R837 reversed contractions induced by electrical field stimulation of the nerves in the trachea as well as by administering acetylcholine directly to the bath, with identical dose responses. As electrical field stimulation induces acetylcholine release from nerve terminals, these are both cholinergic mechanisms of contraction. It seems unlikely then that R837 would act at the nerve upstream from the muscle, when R837 had an identical dose response of relaxation when stimulating the downstream muscle directly with acetylcholine. Reversal of histamine-induced contractions demonstrated that the relaxant effect of R837 was not specific to cholinergic contractions. It suggests that R837 is not disrupting muscarinic receptor function or signaling specifically. Histamine receptors, like muscarinic receptors, are G_q -coupled receptors, so the possibility existed that R837 interfered specifically with G_a-mediated calcium signaling. The reversal of KCl-induced contractions by R837, suggests that this is not the case. KCl induces contraction of airway smooth muscle by depolarizing the smooth muscle membrane and opening cell-surface voltage-gated calcium channels (Mitchell, 1987). Though, this calcium also causes contraction of the smooth muscle, it is a global increase in calcium from the extracellular environment, rather than smaller release of calcium from the

sarcoplasmic reticulum. This suggests that the effect is not specific to G_q-mediated increases in intracellular calcium, and rather acts further downstream to general mechanisms of smooth muscle contraction beyond the specific stimulus. The increased potency of R837-mediated relaxation of contractions induced by 20 mM KCl compared to 100 mM KCl, was an early indication of sensitivity of the mechanism to potassium concentration and that potassium channels might be involved in the relaxant mechanism. When I removed the epithelium from the guinea pig trachea segments, there was no difference in the relaxant potential of R837, so I was also able to rule out the epithelium as a site of action. With the nerves and epithelium ruled out, it seems most likely that the relaxant effects of R837 occur directly at the airway smooth muscle, but other immune cells and endothelial cells resident in the lungs cannot be ruled out at this time. In preliminary experiments not shown here, I measured the effect of R837 on intracellular calcium release in cultured airway smooth muscle cells and saw both inhibition of calcium transients as well as induction of calcium transients. Though the effect with regards to increasing or decreasing calcium transients is unclear, the ability to modulate calcium in airway smooth muscle cells, suggests that the relaxant mechanism of R837 may occur in these cells.

Using multiple TLR7 agonists of two structural classes, I showed that all of these agonists had a bronchodilating effect *in vitro*. While it remains possible that all of the TLR7 agonists relax airway smooth muscle through a non-TLR7 target, the fact

that this property is shared by TLR7 agonists of different structural classes supports TLR7 as the target.

An important finding in Chapter III is that TLR7 agonists could relax trachea from guinea pigs, mouse, and human. The conservation of the relaxant mechanism across all species through evolution, suggests an important mechanism that is necessary to protect the airways during respiratory virus infection.

I also showed that the bronchodilating effect of TLR7 agonists is not replicated by the TLR2 agonist, peptidoglycan, or the TLR5 agonist, flagellin. One possible interpretation is that the bronchodilator effect is specific to virus pattern recognition receptors and not bacterial pattern receptors. At first glance, this is not consistent with reports of acute relaxation of airway smooth muscle induced by lipopolysaccharide, a TLR4 ligand (Fedan et al., 1995; Balzary and Cocks, 2006). Although more appreciated for its role in detecting bacterial lipopolysaccharide, TLR4 mediates recognition of respiratory syncytial virus, a ssRNA virus highly associated with asthma (Haynes et al., 2001; Tal et al., 2004; Cyr et al., 2009). It is possible, therefore, that TLR-mediated bronchodilation is a bronchoprotective mechanism in response to respiratory viruses and not bacteria. Consistent with this interpretation, bitter taste receptors that can respond to bacterial components also induce acute bronchodilation, and therefore TLR contribution may not be necessary (Deshpande et al., 2010). Future experiments should include a comprehensive measurement of the effects of a wide range of TLR ligands, spanning all mammalian

TLRs with known ligands (TLR1 – TLR9), on airway smooth muscle contraction to determine if this effect is specific to TLRs responsible for virus detection.

An important finding in Chapter III is that TLR7 agonists relax trachea from guinea pigs, mice, and humans. Though these are all mammalian species, the conservation of the relaxant mechanism across three distantly related species suggests it is of great importance and has been maintained throughout evolution. If this represents a bronchoprotective mechanism, it makes sense that it would be conserved across species that are susceptible to respiratory virus infections.

In Chapter IV, I showed that the relaxant effects of TLR7 agonists are partially or completely reversed by a TLR7 antagonist *in vitro*, lending further support to TLR7 as the target mediating the relaxant effects of the agonists. A Schild analysis would be useful to determine whether there is competition at the same binding site on the same receptor for the TLR7 antagonist and agonists. The original compounds I tested in guinea pig tracheas *in vitro* were the imidazoquinolines, which seem to have TLR7-dependent as well as TLR7-independent effects. Because of the lack of competition at a single site, the assumptions of the Schild analysis were violated and could not be completed. The Schild analysis assumes perfect competition such that no matter what concentration of agonist is used, it should be overcome by a high enough concentration of antagonist, and no matter what antagonist concentration is used it should be overcome by a high enough concentration of agonist. The TLR7 antagonist could only reverse the TLR7-dependent effects at lower doses of the agonist, but at higher concentrations of agonist, the antagonist could no longer

reverse the effects as they are TLR7-independent, no matter how high of the concentration of the antagonist. I was able to completely reverse the relaxant effects of PolyUs *in vitro*, but this compound was available in limited quantities, due to custom synthesis, and a Schild analysis fell to lower priority amongst the other experiments I wanted to perform. It would be useful in the future to complete a Schild analysis with PolyUs to demonstrate competition with the TLR7 antagonist at the same ligand binding site and to determine if TLR7 mediates the effects. When I conducted the experiments in human trachea for translational purposes, I was surprised to find that R837 was completely reversed by the TLR7 antagonist, suggesting complete TLR7-dependence in humans. Furthermore, PolyUs, which is reported as a TLR8 agonist in humans, was not reversed at all by the TLR7 antagonist (Diebold et al., 2006). This gives support to the specificity of the TLR7 antagonist. It also suggests that the closely related TLR8 mediates the TLR7independent relaxant effects of ligands with mixed reports of TLR7 versus TLR8 selectivity. In this case, even though there is complete reversal of the relaxant effects of R837, a Schild analysis was not carried out due to limitations in the availability of human tracheas. Again, this would be a useful experiment to complete in the future as definitive proof of the TLR7-dependence of the relaxant effects of TLR7 agonists in human tissue.

Because the fast timeframe of TLR7-mediated bronchodilation, it seems unlikely that the relaxation occurs through canonical TLR7 signaling, which involves changes in gene expression. I, therefore, conducted mechanistic studies to determine how

TLR7 could mediate fast effects on airway smooth muscle in minutes, as opposed to long-term effects of TLR7 signaling. As opposed to a fishing expedition, I narrowed my search to signaling pathways associated with some form of TLR signaling and pathways that can have rapid effects on airway smooth muscle physiology. These pathways include nitric oxide, prostaglandins, and the large-conductance calciumgated potassium channel (MaxiK) (Fedan et al., 1995; Balzary and Cocks, 2006; Scheel et al., 2006; Hattermann et al., 2007; Tumurkhuu et al., 2009). Of these pathways it appears as though TLR7-mediated mechanisms involve nitric oxide, whereas TLR7-independent relaxant mechanisms involve prostaglandins and MaxiK. This was most clearly demonstrated in human tracheas in which R837 induced relaxation is both completely TLR7-dependent and completely nitric oxidedependent, whereas PolyUs-induced relaxation is both completely TLR7independent and nitric oxide-independent. This is consistent with the reported selectivity of human TLR7 for these ligands, as R837 is reported as TLR7-selective, whereas PolyUs is reported as TLR8 selective in humans (Heil et al., 2004).

Questions of ligand-selectivity make mechanistic studies in the guinea pig difficult to interpret. For example, the TLR7 antagonist almost completely blocked the relaxant effects of PolyUs, but the nitric oxide synthase inhibitor had no effect. One interpretation is that the TLR7 antagonist blocks TLR8-mediated effects in guinea pigs rather than TLR7. Therefore, the TLR7 antagonist partially blocks the relaxant effects of R837 and completely blocks the relaxant effects of PolyUs, both mediated by TLR8. This is not consistent with the absence of an additive effect in blocking R837-mediated relaxations when using the TLR7 antagonist and the nitric oxide synthase inhibitor together.

It is tempting to speculate about heterodimerization when observing strange selectivity effects as described above. Fore example TLR2 herterodimerizes with TLR1 and TLR6 to distinguish between diacyl and triacyl bacterial lipopeptides respectively (Takeuchi et al., 2001; Takeuchi et al., 2002). Furthermore, physical interactions cross-regulating function have been shown amongst TLR7, TLR8, and TLR9 (Wang et al., 2006a). Perhaps PolyUs is recognized by a TLR7/TLR8 heterodimer that is sensitive to the TLR7 antagonist but does not signal through nitric oxide. Therefore, PolyUs should be sensitive to inhibitors of prostaglandin synthesis or MaxiK. The next experiments should measure the relaxant effects of PolyUs in combination with inhibitors of prostaglandin synthesis and MaxiK to determine if this is a common or independent pathway with a TLR7/TLR8 heterodimer. Though the guinea pig is an excellent model for human airway physiology, the lack of anecdotal evidence of ligand selectivity in the literature, let alone a binding assay, highlights one of the difficulties in using this species.

The mouse provided me with a different airway physiology from human and the availability of abrogation of TLR7 function without pharmacological intervention in a TLR7-deficient mouse strain. R837 and PolyUs induced relaxation of both the wildtype and TLR7-deficient mouse tracheas *in vitro*. The TLR7 antagonist partially reversed the relaxant effect of R837 and almost completely reversed the effect of PolyUs in the wildtype, but not the TLR7-deficient mouse tracheas. These data

indicate that relaxation induced by PolyUs is more TLR7-dependent than R837 in mouse. The near equivalent relaxation in TLR7-deficient and wildtype mice suggests that, when TLR7 is available in the mouse, it is the dominant mediator of relaxations induced by PolyUs, but in the absence of TLR7, TLR8 can mediate relaxant effects of PolyUs as a form of compensation. The reversal of R837-mediated relaxation by the nitric oxide synthase inhibitor in both the TLR7-deficient and wildtype mouse strains suggests that the TLR8-dependent relaxations are mediated by nitric oxide in mouse. The next experiments need to measure the relaxant effect of PolyUs in the presence of a nitric oxide synthase inhibitor in the wildtype mouse to determine if a ligand that is predominantly TLR7- and minimally TLR8-dependent is only minimally nitric oxide-dependent. Again, confounding data due to lack of heterodimerization in a TLR7-deficient strain make results difficult to interpret. Experiments in TLR8-deficient mice and TLR7/TLR8 double-deficient mice are needed to determine if these are the receptors mediating effects in mouse.

Having identified a bronchoprotective mechanism of relaxation in the presence of respiratory virus infection, I next wanted to determine if these pathways function in models of asthma. The purpose of this approach is two-fold. First, for therapeutic potential, the TLR7 agonists must be bronchodilators in asthmatic as well as healthy airways. Second, I wanted to determine if this bronchoprotective pathway is defective in models of asthma to explain the more severe effects of respiratory viruses in humans with asthma. In Chapter V, I used respiratory virus infection and allergen-sensitization models of asthma in both guinea pigs and mice. In mice, in

which conventional models of asthma are of limited utility, I also used a transgenic strain with eosinophils localized in the lungs.

In ovalbumin-sensitized guinea pigs that were not challenged with ovalbumin, eosinophils are recruited to the lungs. I measured the bronchodilating effect of R837 in these animals *in vivo*. R837 was still able to completely and rapidly abolish bronchoconstriction induced by electrical stimulation of the vagus nerve. This observation is important because it suggests that R837 could have therapeutic benefit even in a dysfunctional airway representative of the asthmatic condition. Compared to control nonsensitized animals, however, the bronchodilating potency of R837 was reduced. In addition, the R837 dose-response curve had a biphasic fit in control nonsensitized guinea pigs, suggesting activity at multiple sites or receptors. In allergen-sensitized guinea pigs, there is a monophasic dose response curve with a loss of the higher potency phase, and correlating with the lower potency phase of the control biphasic curve. One proposed mechanism is that TLR7-mediated eosinophil activation exerts an opposing bronchoconstrictive effect on TLR7mediated bronchodilation. Eosinophil depletion with an antibody to IL-5 did not rescue the potency of R837 *in vivo*. The eosinophil depletion may not have been successful, as even though there are a reduced number of eosinophils in the airway tissue, there was not a complete depletion. Another possibility is that the antibody to IL-5 mediates other effects that also reduce the bronchodilating potency of R837, so that contributions from eosinophil-depletion are masked by the anti-IL-5

contributions. Yet another possibility is different subpopulations of eosinophils with differential sensitivities to the effects of IL-5.

If eosinophils are not responsible for the reduce potency of R837 in allergensensitized guinea pigs, other explanations are still available. Reduction in TLR7 or TLR8 expression in a T_h2 cytokine dominated allergic environment, might reduce the bronchodilating contribution of either of these receptors. Changes in any of the components of the TLR7 signaling pathway might change the potency of the response. Other possibilities include changes in calcium sensitivity, so that the same intracellular calcium levels in control and allergen-sensitized guinea pigs correspond to different amounts of airway smooth muscle contraction. Focusing on the nitric oxide-dependent component of the relaxant mechanism, dysfunction could occur at multiple points relevant to nitric oxide signaling. Upstream of nitric oxide production, loss of nitric oxide synthase, the enzyme responsible for generating nitric oxide from L-arginine, could reduce relaxant nitric oxide production (Samb et al., 2001). Instead of affecting enzyme function, reduced availability of the substrate arginine by increased arginase activity is an alternative explanation for reduced nitric oxide production (Meurs et al., 2002; Zimmermann et al., 2003). Downstream of nitric oxide production, nitric oxide activates guanylyl cyclase for the production of cGMP. cGMP is a relaxant second messenger that is broken down by phosphodiesterase 5 (PDE5). The relaxant effect of nitric oxide could be reduced by increased PDE5 activity, limiting cGMP (Mullershausen et al., 2006).

The bronchodilating potency was also reduced in Sendai virus-infected guinea pigs *in vivo*. These data suggest that the reduced potency is not a characteristic of allergic inflammation, but rather of general inflammation. Another possible interpretation, however, involves receptor occupancy. If TLR7 is already occupied by virus ssRNA in the virus-infected animals, then the baseline bronchoconstriction measured might be one with TLR7-mediated bronchodilation already integrated into the overall response. Further bronchodilating effects of R837 would not be observed until higher doses, when TLR7 occupancy by R837 can overcome that already accomplished by the virus ssRNA. This would be consistent with the endogenous bronchoprotective mechanism I have hypothesized, that respiratory viruses relax the airways. If the airways are already partially relaxed relative to the intrinsic maximum bronchoconstriction, relaxation at sub-maximal occupancy doses of R837 will be masked.

The next experiments should include the effects of PolyUs in control, sensitized, and virus-infected guinea pigs *in vivo*. I have proposed that R837 has multiple targets, as evidenced by the biphasic dose-response curve, the incomplete reversal by the TLR7 antagonist in guinea pigs, and the fact that PolyUs seems to have one target, as it is almost completely reversed by the TLR7 antagonist. If the loss of the high potency phase of R837-mediated bronchodilation in ovalbumin-sensitized guinea pigs reflects the loss of either TLR7 or TLR8 function, the relaxant effect of PolyUs, which is specific to only one of these targets, should be either unaffected or nonexistent, depending on which target is being affected by the sensitization protocol. It will also

be interesting to test these ligands in an allergen sensitization and challenge model of asthma, as well as a virus infection in an allergen sensitization model. This would determine if hyperreactive bronchoconstriction induced by eosinophil activation can also be reversed by TLR7 agonists.

Differences in the bronchodilatory potency of R837 were not observed in any of the mouse models of asthma, including allergen sensitization with and without challenge, Sendai virus infection, and transgenic over-expression of IL-5 in the lungs. The mouse airway is different from those of the guinea pig and human airways, in terms of both airway smooth muscle physiology and airway inflammation. Though the guinea pig does not necessarily reflect changes in the human, the mouse is historically less predictive. Another difference is that the asthma model mouse experiments were done *in vitro* whereas those in guinea pig were done *in vivo*. The guinea pig experiments should be done *in vitro* to confirm whether the reduced potency of R837 is maintained. Alternately, we now have the capability of performing *in vivo* measurements of airway pressure, so measuring the effect of R837 in mouse models of asthma *in vivo* are among the next experiments to be conducted.

Currently, I have not conducted any asthma model studies in human tissue. Clearly, the long-term goal is to test TLR7 agonists in humans with asthma in clinical trials. The human tissue I used in the study was donated from Pacific Northwest Transplant bank and was not selected for an asthma phenotype. If possible, a very useful experiment would be to compare the response to R837 in both healthy and

asthmatic human airway tissue. If this type of segregation is not possible, a useful experiment would be to culture human tracheas in allergic or asthmatic serum or with T_h2 cytokines. Another possibility would be to express the various identified human polymorphisms in cell lines and measure their function in the canonical TLR7 signaling pathway, as well as faster signaling mechanisms like intracellular calcium or nitric oxide production. It will be interesting to determine if these polymorphisms affect the TLR7 response so that the bronchoprotective mechanism is defective.

Regardless of the effects in models of asthma, the bronchodilating effect of TLR7 agonists is maintained, and the therapeutic potential is clear for this class of drugs as acute rescue medications for asthma attacks. Along with the acute bronchodilating effect, these drugs may provide chronic anti-inflammatory and antihyperreactivity properties in the airways. The combination of prophylaxis and rescue in one medication holds potential as an alternative to the current standard of a steroid for anti-inflammation combined with a beta-agonist for bronchodilation. Side effects could include fever and acute inflammation due to the induction of interferon and tumor necrosis factor- α production. Another side effect could be increased susceptibility to virus infection due to desensitization of TLR7 by persistent stimulation. Further animal studies are needed for this determination. That being said, TLR7 agonists have been well tolerated in clinical trials, with minimal side effects (Witt et al., 1993; Savage et al., 1996). Furthermore masked prodrugs are being developed to limit systemic toxicity. For example by the

generation of TLR7 agonist esters that are inactivated by esterases in the blood, these immunomodulators can be inactivated systemically, while remaining active at specific locations (Fletcher et al., 2006).

The work in this thesis contributes a novel bronchodilatory mechanism to the field of airway physiology. It also contributes a possible explanation for virus-related airway pathophysiology, such as in asthma. It will be interesting to see if TLR7 remains a viable drug target for asthma therapy in the coming years with a rapidly expanding body of TLR research. As the TLR field grows, it is my opinion that research needs to consider effects beyond those of canonical pathways involving upregulation of inflammatory cytokines. Canonical functions of a receptor are generally assigned based on the initial discovery. The pitfalls are that many important effects may be missed. More kinetic studies with shorter time points are needed in all experimental systems considering TLRs, rather than relying strictly on assays measuring gene effects 24 hours later. The rapid protective mechanism I describe in this thesis suggests the possibility that other TLRs can affect physiological systems in a rapid time frame. These effects might reflect potent homeostatic mechanisms needed during the many changes associated with inflammation. While they might not be considered traditional effects of the immune system, these effects would suggest that the immune system plays a role beyond protection of infection to maintain physiological functions. The need to consider non-canonical effects of these receptors extends to determination of ligand selectivity. Claims of ligand recognition by a receptor need to be tempered based on

the experimental system used. If only measuring the effect of a ligand on canonical TLR-mediated gene regulation, it is not possible to claim that a ligand is not recognized by the receptor if this has not been determined in other functional assays or shorter time frames. It further emphasizes the need for more binding assays to conclusively determine whether ligands bind to TLRs regardless of functional effects. It is exciting to consider the rapid effects of TLR signaling that might be discovered with further research in the coming years.

In summary, the TLR7 agonist R837 has TLR7-dependent and TLR7-independent bronchodilatory effects in guinea pig in vivo and in vitro and in mouse in vitro. R837 has only TLR7-dependent bronchodilatory effects in human trachea in vitro. PolyUs has almost completely TLR7-dependent bronchodilatory effects in guinea pig in vitro, but is of mixed TLR7-dependence and TLR7-independence in the mouse in vitro. Consistent with reports that PolyUs is a TLR8 agonist in human, PolyUs has completely TLR7-independent bronchodilatory effects. Based on the possible TLR8dependence of PolyUs in the humans, and the strong sequence conservation across species, I suggest that TLR8 mediates the TLR7-independent relaxant contributions of these ligands in all three species tested. Depending on species, the TLR7dependent and -independent relaxant mechanisms involve prostaglandins, MaxiK, and nitric oxide. In guinea pig models of asthma including allergen sensitization and virus infection, the bronchodilatory potency of R837 is reduced in vivo, whereas there is no effect *in vitro* in similar mouse models of asthma. The TLR7/8-mediated bronchodilatory mechanism is highly conserved across three species suggesting

importance in protecting the airways from excessive obstruction during virus infection. The translation of the bronchodilatory effect to human tissue combined with the T_h1-skewing properties suggests TLR7/8 agonists represent a novel class of both acute rescue and chronic prophylactic asthma therapeutics.

REFERENCES

- Abela A, Daniel EE (1994) Neural and myogenic effects of leukotrienes C4, D4, and E4 on canine bronchial smooth muscle. Am J Physiol 266:L414-425.
- Adamko DJ, Yost BL, Gleich GJ, Fryer AD, Jacoby DB (1999) Ovalbumin sensitization changes the inflammatory response to subsequent parainfluenza infection.
 Eosinophils mediate airway hyperresponsiveness, m(2) muscarinic receptor dysfunction, and antiviral effects. J Exp Med 190:1465-1478.
- Agnese DM, Calvano JE, Hahm SJ, Coyle SM, Corbett SA, Calvano SE, Lowry SF (2002) Human toll-like receptor 4 mutations but not CD14 polymorphisms are associated with an increased risk of gram-negative infections. J Infect Dis 186:1522-1525.
- Agrawal S, Kandimalla ER (2002) Medicinal chemistry and therapeutic potential of CpG DNA. Trends Mol Med 8:114-121.
- Ahmad-Nejad P, Hacker H, Rutz M, Bauer S, Vabulas RM, Wagner H (2002) Bacterial CpG-DNA and lipopolysaccharides activate Toll-like receptors at distinct cellular compartments. Eur J Immunol 32:1958-1968.
- Akira S, Takeda K, Kaisho T (2001) Toll-like receptors: critical proteins linking innate and acquired immunity. Nat Immunol 2:675-680.
- Ali S, Mustafa SJ, Metzger WJ (1992) Adenosine-induced bronchoconstriction in an allergic rabbit model: antagonism by theophylline aerosol. Agents Actions 37:165-167.

- Amrani Y, Lazaar AL, Panettieri RA, Jr. (1999) Up-regulation of ICAM-1 by cytokines in human tracheal smooth muscle cells involves an NF-kappa B-dependent signaling pathway that is only partially sensitive to dexamethasone. J Immunol 163:2128-2134.
- Anderson GP (2002) The immunobiology of early asthma. Med J Aust 177 Suppl:S47-49.
- Anderson GP (2006) Current issues with beta2-adrenoceptor agonists: pharmacology and molecular and cellular mechanisms. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 31:119-130.
- Andreakos E, Foxwell B, Feldmann M (2004) Is targeting Toll-like receptors and their signaling pathway a useful therapeutic approach to modulating cytokine-driven inflammation? Immunol Rev 202:250-265.
- Ashitani J, Mukae H, Hiratsuka T, Nakazato M, Kumamoto K, Matsukura S (2002) Elevated levels of alpha-defensins in plasma and BAL fluid of patients with active pulmonary tuberculosis. Chest 121:519-526.
- Atmar RL, Guy E, Guntupalli KK, Zimmerman JL, Bandi VD, Baxter BD, Greenberg SB (1998) Respiratory tract viral infections in inner-city asthmatic adults. Arch Intern Med 158:2453-2459.
- Baba K, Baron CB, Coburn RF (1989) Phorbol ester effects on coupling mechanisms during cholinergic contraction of swine tracheal smooth muscle. J Physiol 412:23-42.
- Bai Y, Sanderson MJ (2006) Modulation of the Ca2+ sensitivity of airway smooth muscle cells in murine lung slices. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 291:L208-221.
- Bals R, Hiemstra PS (2004) Innate immunity in the lung: how epithelial cells fight against respiratory pathogens. Eur Respir J 23:327-333.
- Balzary RW, Cocks TM (2006) Lipopolysaccharide induces epithelium- and prostaglandin E(2)-dependent relaxation of mouse isolated trachea through activation of cyclooxygenase (COX)-1 and COX-2. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 317:806-812.
- Bardin PG, Sanderson G, Robinson BS, Holgate ST, Tyrrell DA (1996) Experimental rhinovirus infection in volunteers. Eur Respir J 9:2250-2255.
- Bardin PG, Fraenkel DJ, Sanderson G, van Schalkwyk EM, Holgate ST, Johnston SL (2000) Peak expiratory flow changes during experimental rhinovirus infection. Eur Respir J 16:980-985.
- Barnes PJ (2001) Neurogenic inflammation in the airways. Respir Physiol 125:145-154.
- Barnes PJ (2004) New drugs for asthma. Nat Rev Drug Discov 3:831-844.
- Baron CB, Pring M, Coburn RF (1989) Inositol lipid turnover and compartmentation in canine trachealis smooth muscle. Am J Physiol 256:C375-383.
- Barrat FJ, Meeker T, Gregorio J, Chan JH, Uematsu S, Akira S, Chang B, Duramad O, Coffman RL (2005) Nucleic acids of mammalian origin can act as endogenous ligands for Toll-like receptors and may promote systemic lupus erythematosus. J Exp Med 202:1131-1139.

- Barton GM, Kagan JC, Medzhitov R (2006) Intracellular localization of Toll-like receptor 9 prevents recognition of self DNA but facilitates access to viral DNA. Nat Immunol 7:49-56.
- Bateman ED, Hurd SS, Barnes PJ, Bousquet J, Drazen JM, FitzGerald M, Gibson P, Ohta K, O'Byrne P, Pedersen SE, Pizzichini E, Sullivan SD, Wenzel SE, Zar HJ (2008) Global strategy for asthma management and prevention: GINA executive summary. Eur Respir J 31:143-178.
- Belvin MP, Anderson KV (1996) A conserved signaling pathway: the Drosophila tolldorsal pathway. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 12:393-416.
- Belvisi MG (2002) Overview of the innervation of the lung. Curr Opin Pharmacol 2:211-215.
- Belvisi MG, Stretton CD, Yacoub M, Barnes PJ (1992) Nitric oxide is the endogenous neurotransmitter of bronchodilator nerves in humans. Eur J Pharmacol 210:221-222.
- Belvisi MG, Saunders MA, Haddad el B, Hirst SJ, Yacoub MH, Barnes PJ, Mitchell JA (1997) Induction of cyclo-oxygenase-2 by cytokines in human cultured airway smooth muscle cells: novel inflammatory role of this cell type. Br J Pharmacol 120:910-916.
- Ben-Ali M, Barbouche MR, Bousnina S, Chabbou A, Dellagi K (2004) Toll-like receptor 2 Arg677Trp polymorphism is associated with susceptibility to tuberculosis in Tunisian patients. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol 11:625-626.

- Bergner A, Sanderson MJ (2002) ATP stimulates Ca2+ oscillations and contraction in airway smooth muscle cells of mouse lung slices. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 283:L1271-1279.
- Bergstroem S, Danielsson H, Samuelsson B (1964) The Enzymatic Formation of
 Prostaglandin E2 from Arachidonic Acid Prostaglandins and Related Factors
 32. Biochim Biophys Acta 90:207-210.
- Bernstein JA, Alexis N, Barnes C, Bernstein IL, Nel A, Peden D, Diaz-Sanchez D, Tarlo SM, Williams PB (2004) Health effects of air pollution. J Allergy Clin Immunol 114:1116-1123.
- Berridge MJ (2008) Smooth muscle cell calcium activation mechanisms. J Physiol 586:5047-5061.
- Beutner KR, Tyring SK, Trofatter KF, Jr., Douglas JM, Jr., Spruance S, Owens ML, Fox TL, Hougham AJ, Schmitt KA (1998) Imiquimod, a patient-applied immuneresponse modifier for treatment of external genital warts. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 42:789-794.
- Bienenstock J, Johnston N, Perey DY (1973) Bronchial lymphoid tissue. I. Morphologic characteristics. Lab Invest 28:686-692.
- Bjorck T, Dahlen SE (1993) Leukotrienes and histamine mediate IgE-dependent contractions of human bronchi: pharmacological evidence obtained with tissues from asthmatic and non-asthmatic subjects. Pulm Pharmacol 6:87-96.
- Black JL (2004) Asthma--more muscle cells or more muscular cells? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 169:980-981.

- Boyle JP, Tomasic M, Kotlikoff MI (1992) Delayed rectifier potassium channels in canine and porcine airway smooth muscle cells. J Physiol 447:329-350.
- Bradding P, Walls AF, Holgate ST (2006) The role of the mast cell in the pathophysiology of asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 117:1277-1284.
- Braun-Fahrlander C, Riedler J, Herz U, Eder W, Waser M, Grize L, Maisch S, Carr D,
 Gerlach F, Bufe A, Lauener RP, Schierl R, Renz H, Nowak D, von Mutius E
 (2002) Environmental exposure to endotoxin and its relation to asthma in
 school-age children. N Engl J Med 347:869-877.
- Bridges CB, Fukuda K, Cox NJ, Singleton JA (2001) Prevention and control of influenza. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep 50:1-44.
- Brims F, Chauhan AJ (2005) Air quality, tobacco smoke, urban crowding and day care: modern menaces and their effects on health. Pediatr Infect Dis J 24:S152-156, discussion S156-157.
- Brophy C, Ahmed B, Bayston S, Arnold A, McGivern D, Greenstone M (1998) How long should Atrovent be given in acute asthma? Thorax 53:363-367.
- Brusasco V, Crimi E, Pellegrino R (1998) Airway hyperresponsiveness in asthma: not just a matter of airway inflammation. Thorax 53:992-998.
- Bsibsi M, Persoon-Deen C, Verwer RW, Meeuwsen S, Ravid R, Van Noort JM (2006) Toll-like receptor 3 on adult human astrocytes triggers production of neuroprotective mediators. Glia 53:688-695.

- Bumbacea D, Campbell D, Nguyen L, Carr D, Barnes PJ, Robinson D, Chung KF (2004) Parameters associated with persistent airflow obstruction in chronic severe asthma. Eur Respir J 24:122-128.
- Butchi NB, Du M, Peterson KE (2010) Interactions between TLR7 and TLR9 agonists and receptors regulate innate immune responses by astrocytes and microglia. Glia 58:650-664.
- Camargo CA, Jr., Smithline HA, Malice MP, Green SA, Reiss TF (2003) A randomized controlled trial of intravenous montelukast in acute asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 167:528-533.
- Camateros P, Kanagaratham C, Henri J, Sladek R, Hudson TJ, Radzioch D (2009) Modulation of the allergic asthma transcriptome following resiquimod treatment. Physiol Genomics 38:303-318.
- Camateros P, Tamaoka M, Hassan M, Marino R, Moisan J, Marion D, Guiot MC, Martin JG, Radzioch D (2007) Chronic asthma-induced airway remodeling is prevented by toll-like receptor-7/8 ligand S28463. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 175:1241-1249.
- Canning BJ (2006) Reflex regulation of airway smooth muscle tone. J Appl Physiol 101:971-985.
- Canning BJ, Chou Y (2008) Using guinea pigs in studies relevant to asthma and COPD. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 21:702-720.
- Canning BJ, Mori N, Mazzone SB (2006) Vagal afferent nerves regulating the cough reflex. Respir Physiol Neurobiol 152:223-242.

Caparrotta L, Cillo F, Fassina G, Gaion RM (1984) Dual effect of (-)-N6-

phenylisopropyl adenosine on guinea-pig trachea. Br J Pharmacol 83:23-29.

- Carpentier A, Laigle-Donadey F, Zohar S, Capelle L, Behin A, Tibi A, Martin-Duverneuil N, Sanson M, Lacomblez L, Taillibert S, Puybasset L, Van Effenterre R, Delattre JY, Carpentier AF (2006) Phase 1 trial of a CpG oligodeoxynucleotide for patients with recurrent glioblastoma. Neuro Oncol 8:60-66.
- Carroll N, Elliot J, Morton A, James A (1993) The structure of large and small airways in nonfatal and fatal asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 147:405-410.
- Chang YC, Madkan V, Cook-Norris R, Sra K, Tyring S (2005) Current and potential uses of imiquimod. South Med J 98:914-920.
- Chauhan AJ, Inskip HM, Linaker CH, Smith S, Schreiber J, Johnston SL, Holgate ST (2003) Personal exposure to nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and the severity of virus-induced asthma in children. Lancet 361:1939-1944.
- Cheung PF, Wong CK, Ip WK, Lam CW (2008) FAK-mediated activation of ERK for eosinophil migration: a novel mechanism for infection-induced allergic inflammation. Int Immunol 20:353-363.
- Chiba Y, Misawa M (2004) The role of RhoA-mediated Ca2+ sensitization of bronchial smooth muscle contraction in airway hyperresponsiveness. J Smooth Muscle Res 40:155-167.
- Child NJ, Yang IA, Pulletz MC, de Courcy-Golder K, Andrews AL, Pappachan VJ, Holloway JW (2003) Polymorphisms in Toll-like receptor 4 and the systemic inflammatory response syndrome. Biochem Soc Trans 31:652-653.

- Choi HK, Finkbeiner WE, Widdicombe JH (2000) A comparative study of mammalian tracheal mucous glands. J Anat 197 Pt 3:361-372.
- Chuang TH, Ulevitch RJ (2000) Cloning and characterization of a sub-family of human toll-like receptors: hTLR7, hTLR8 and hTLR9. Eur Cytokine Netw 11:372-378.
- Chung KF (2005) The role of airway smooth muscle in the pathogenesis of airway wall remodeling in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Proc Am Thorac Soc 2:347-354; discussion 371-342.
- Cirino NM, Panuska JR, Villani A, Taraf H, Rebert NA, Merolla R, Tsivitse P, Gilbert IA (1993) Restricted replication of respiratory syncytial virus in human alveolar macrophages. J Gen Virol 74 (Pt 8):1527-1537.
- Clarke DL, Dakshinamurti S, Larsson AK, Ward JE, Yamasaki A (2009) Lipid metabolites as regulators of airway smooth muscle function. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 22:426-435.
- Clementsen P, Kristensen KS, Norn S (1991) Virus, bacteria and lipopolysaccharide increase basophil cell response to histamine releasing stimulators and calcium. Examination of allergic and normal individuals. Allergy 46:135-141.
- Coburn RF, Tomita T (1973) Evidence for nonadrenergic inhibitory nerves in the guinea pig trachealis muscle. Am J Physiol 224:1072-1080.
- Coburn RF, Yamaguchi T (1977) Membrane potential-dependent and-independent tension in the canine tracheal muscle. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 201:276-284.

- Coleman RA, Smith WL, Narumiya S (1994) International Union of Pharmacology classification of prostanoid receptors: properties, distribution, and structure of the receptors and their subtypes. Pharmacol Rev 46:205-229.
- Coleridge HM, Coleridge JC (1994) Pulmonary reflexes: neural mechanisms of pulmonary defense. Annu Rev Physiol 56:69-91.
- Coleridge JC, Coleridge HM, Schelegle ES, Green JF (1993) Acute inhalation of ozone stimulates bronchial C-fibers and rapidly adapting receptors in dogs. J Appl Physiol 74:2345-2352.
- Collier ML, Ji G, Wang Y, Kotlikoff MI (2000) Calcium-induced calcium release in smooth muscle: loose coupling between the action potential and calcium release. J Gen Physiol 115:653-662.
- Contoli M, Message SD, Laza-Stanca V, Edwards MR, Wark PA, Bartlett NW, Kebadze T, Mallia P, Stanciu LA, Parker HL, Slater L, Lewis-Antes A, Kon OM, Holgate ST, Davies DE, Kotenko SV, Papi A, Johnston SL (2006) Role of deficient type III interferon-lambda production in asthma exacerbations. Nat Med 12:1023-1026.
- Costello RW, Schofield BH, Kephart GM, Gleich GJ, Jacoby DB, Fryer AD (1997) Localization of eosinophils to airway nerves and effect on neuronal M2 muscarinic receptor function. Am J Physiol 273:L93-103.
- Crimi E, Spanevello A, Neri M, Ind PW, Rossi GA, Brusasco V (1998) Dissociation between airway inflammation and airway hyperresponsiveness in allergic asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 157:4-9.

- Curran DR, Cohn L (2009) Advances in mucous cell metaplasia: a plug for mucus as a therapeutic focus in chronic airway disease. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 42:268-275.
- Cyr SL, Angers I, Guillot L, Stoica-Popescu I, Lussier M, Qureshi S, Burt DS, Ward BJ (2009) TLR4 and MyD88 control protection and pulmonary granulocytic recruitment in a murine intranasal RSV immunization and challenge model. Vaccine 27:421-430.
- Daniel EE, Kannan M, Davis C, Posey-Daniel V (1986) Ultrastructural studies on the neuromuscular control of human tracheal and bronchial muscle. Respir Physiol 63:109-128.
- Delamere F, Holland E, Patel S, Bennett J, Pavord I, Knox A (1994) Production of PGE2 by bovine cultured airway smooth muscle cells and its inhibition by cyclo-oxygenase inhibitors. Br J Pharmacol 111:983-988.
- Demaria O, Pagni PP, Traub S, de Gassart A, Branzk N, Murphy AJ, Valenzuela DM, Yancopoulos GD, Flavell RA, Alexopoulou L TLR8 deficiency leads to autoimmunity in mice. J Clin Invest 120:3651-3662.
- Demaria O, Pagni PP, Traub S, de Gassart A, Branzk N, Murphy AJ, Valenzuela DM, Yancopoulos GD, Flavell RA, Alexopoulou L (2010) TLR8 deficiency leads to autoimmunity in mice. J Clin Invest 120:3651-3662.
- Demedts IK, Bracke KR, Maes T, Joos GF, Brusselle GG (2006) Different roles for human lung dendritic cell subsets in pulmonary immune defense mechanisms. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 35:387-393.

- Deshpande DA, Wang WC, McIlmoyle EL, Robinett KS, Schillinger RM, An SS, Sham JS, Liggett SB (2010) Bitter taste receptors on airway smooth muscle bronchodilate by localized calcium signaling and reverse obstruction. Nat Med 16:1299-1304.
- Dharmapuri S, Aurisicchio L, Neuner P, Verdirame M, Ciliberto G, La Monica N (2009) An oral TLR7 agonist is a potent adjuvant of DNA vaccination in transgenic mouse tumor models. Cancer Gene Ther 16:462-472.
- Diebold SS (2008) Recognition of viral single-stranded RNA by Toll-like receptors. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 60:813-823.
- Diebold SS, Kaisho T, Hemmi H, Akira S, Reis e Sousa C (2004) Innate antiviral responses by means of TLR7-mediated recognition of single-stranded RNA. Science 303:1529-1531.
- Diebold SS, Massacrier C, Akira S, Paturel C, Morel Y, Reis e Sousa C (2006) Nucleic acid agonists for Toll-like receptor 7 are defined by the presence of uridine ribonucleotides. Eur J Immunol 36:3256-3267.
- Diebold SS, Montoya M, Unger H, Alexopoulou L, Roy P, Haswell LE, Al-Shamkhani A, Flavell R, Borrow P, Reis e Sousa C (2003) Viral infection switches nonplasmacytoid dendritic cells into high interferon producers. Nature 424:324-328.
- Drazen JM, Israel E, O'Byrne PM (1999) Treatment of asthma with drugs modifying the leukotriene pathway. N Engl J Med 340:197-206.
- Drazen JM, Silverman EK, Lee TH (2000) Heterogeneity of therapeutic responses in asthma. Br Med Bull 56:1054-1070.

- Dusser DJ, Jacoby DB, Djokic TD, Rubinstein I, Borson DB, Nadel JA (1989) Virus induces airway hyperresponsiveness to tachykinins: role of neutral endopeptidase. J Appl Physiol 67:1504-1511.
- Ebina M, Takahashi T, Chiba T, Motomiya M (1993) Cellular hypertrophy and hyperplasia of airway smooth muscles underlying bronchial asthma. A 3-D morphometric study. Am Rev Respir Dis 148:720-726.
- Edwards MR, Johnson MW, Johnston SL (2006) Combination therapy: Synergistic suppression of virus-induced chemokines in airway epithelial cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 34:616-624.
- Ellis JL, Undem BJ (1994) Role of cysteinyl-leukotrienes and histamine in mediating intrinsic tone in isolated human bronchi. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 149:118-122.
- Ethier MF, Madison JM (2006) Adenosine A1 receptors mediate mobilization of calcium in human bronchial smooth muscle cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 35:496-502.
- Evans CM, Fryer AD, Jacoby DB, Gleich GJ, Costello RW (1997) Pretreatment with antibody to eosinophil major basic protein prevents hyperresponsiveness by protecting neuronal M2 muscarinic receptors in antigen-challenged guinea pigs. J Clin Invest 100:2254-2262.
- Farmer SG, Canning BJ, Wilkins DE (1988) Adenosine receptor-mediated contraction and relaxation of guinea-pig isolated tracheal smooth muscle: effects of adenosine antagonists. Br J Pharmacol 95:371-378.

- Farmer SG, Ensor JE, Burch RM (1991) Evidence that cultured airway smooth muscle cells contain bradykinin B2 and B3 receptors. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 4:273-277.
- Fedan JS, Warner TE, Yuan LX, Robinson V, Frazer DG (1995) Nitric oxide synthase inhibitor and lipopolysaccharide effects on reactivity of guinea pig airways. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 272:1141-1150.
- Fischer A, Mundel P, Mayer B, Preissler U, Philippin B, Kummer W (1993) Nitric oxide synthase in guinea pig lower airway innervation. Neurosci Lett 149:157-160.
- Fletcher S, Steffy K, Averett D (2006) Masked oral prodrugs of toll-like receptor 7 agonists: a new approach for the treatment of infectious disease. Curr Opin Investig Drugs 7:702-708.
- Flood-Page P, Swenson C, Faiferman I, Matthews J, Williams M, Brannick L, Robinson D, Wenzel S, Busse W, Hansel TT, Barnes NC (2007) A study to evaluate safety and efficacy of mepolizumab in patients with moderate persistent asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 176:1062-1071.
- Fogel M, Long JA, Thompson PJ, Upham JW (2002) Dendritic cell maturation and IL-12 synthesis induced by the synthetic immune-response modifier S-28463. J Leukoc Biol 72:932-938.
- Folkerts G, Busse WW, Nijkamp FP, Sorkness R, Gern JE (1998) Virus-induced airway hyperresponsiveness and asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 157:1708-1720.

- Francois S, El Benna J, Dang PM, Pedruzzi E, Gougerot-Pocidalo MA, Elbim C (2005) Inhibition of neutrophil apoptosis by TLR agonists in whole blood: involvement of the phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt and NF-kappaB signaling pathways, leading to increased levels of Mcl-1, A1, and phosphorylated Bad. J Immunol 174:3633-3642.
- Freed AN, Peters SP, Menkes HA (1987) Airflow-induced bronchoconstriction: role of epithelium and eicosanoid mediators. J Appl Physiol 62:574-581.
- Fryer AD (1986) Pharmacology of Pulmonary Muscarinic Receptors in Cats and Guinea-Pigs. University of London, London.
- Fryer AD, Maclagan J (1984) Muscarinic inhibitory receptors in pulmonary parasympathetic nerves in the guinea-pig. Br J Pharmacol 83:973-978.
- Fryer AD, Maclagan J (1987a) Pancuronium and gallamine are antagonists for preand post-junctional muscarinic receptors in the guinea-pig lung. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 335:367-371.
- Fryer AD, Maclagan J (1987b) Ipratropium bromide potentiates bronchoconstriction induced by vagal nerve stimulation in the guinea-pig. Eur J Pharmacol 139:187-191.
- Fryer AD, Wills-Karp M (1991) Dysfunction of M2-muscarinic receptors in pulmonary parasympathetic nerves after antigen challenge. J Appl Physiol 71:2255-2261.
- Fryer AD, Jacoby DB (1991) Parainfluenza virus infection damages inhibitory M2 muscarinic receptors on pulmonary parasympathetic nerves in the guineapig. Br J Pharmacol 102:267-271.

212

- Fryer AD, Jacoby DB (1992) Function of pulmonary M2 muscarinic receptors in antigen-challenged guinea pigs is restored by heparin and poly-L-glutamate. J Clin Invest 90:2292-2298.
- Fryer AD, Jacoby DB (2002) Plasticity of cholinergic and tachykinergic nerves: the convergence of the twain. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 283:L907-908.
- Fryer AD, el-Fakahany EE, Jacoby DB (1990) Parainfluenza virus type 1 reduces the affinity of agonists for muscarinic receptors in guinea-pig lung and heart. Eur J Pharmacol 181:51-58.
- Fryer AD, Stein LH, Nie Z, Curtis DE, Evans CM, Hodgson ST, Jose PJ, Belmonte KE, Fitch E, Jacoby DB (2006) Neuronal eotaxin and the effects of CCR3 antagonist on airway hyperreactivity and M2 receptor dysfunction. J Clin Invest 116:228-236.
- Funami K, Matsumoto M, Oshiumi H, Akazawa T, Yamamoto A, Seya T (2004) The cytoplasmic 'linker region' in Toll-like receptor 3 controls receptor localization and signaling. Int Immunol 16:1143-1154.
- Funk CD (2001) Prostaglandins and leukotrienes: advances in eicosanoid biology. Science 294:1871-1875.
- Gabella G (1984) Structural apparatus for force transmission in smooth muscles. Physiol Rev 64:455-477.
- Gern JE, Vrtis R, Grindle KA, Swenson C, Busse WW (2000) Relationship of upper and lower airway cytokines to outcome of experimental rhinovirus infection. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 162:2226-2231.

- Ghaffar O, Hamid Q, Renzi PM, Allakhverdi Z, Molet S, Hogg JC, Shore SA, Luster AD, Lamkhioued B (1999) Constitutive and cytokine-stimulated expression of eotaxin by human airway smooth muscle cells. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 159:1933-1942.
- Ghatta S, Nimmagadda D, Xu X, O'Rourke ST (2006) Large-conductance, calciumactivated potassium channels: structural and functional implications. Pharmacol Ther 110:103-116.
- Giesbrecht GG, Pisarri TE, Coleridge JC, Coleridge HM (1993) Cooling the pulmonary blood in dogs alters activity of pulmonary vagal afferents. J Appl Physiol 74:24-30.
- Gizycki MJ, Adelroth E, Rogers AV, O'Byrne PM, Jeffery PK (1997) Myofibroblast involvement in the allergen-induced late response in mild atopic asthma. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 16:664-673.
- Goethals S, Ydens E, Timmerman V, Janssens S (2010) Toll-like receptor expression in the peripheral nerve. Glia 58:1701-1709.
- Gorden KK, Qiu XX, Binsfeld CC, Vasilakos JP, Alkan SS (2006) Cutting edge: activation of murine TLR8 by a combination of imidazoquinoline immune response modifiers and polyT oligodeoxynucleotides. J Immunol 177:6584-6587.
- Gounni AS, Wellemans V, Yang J, Bellesort F, Kassiri K, Gangloff S, Guenounou M, Halayko AJ, Hamid Q, Lamkhioued B (2005) Human airway smooth muscle cells express the high affinity receptor for IgE (Fc epsilon RI): a critical role of

Fc epsilon RI in human airway smooth muscle cell function. J Immunol 175:2613-2621.

- Graham MB, Braciale VL, Braciale TJ (1994) Influenza virus-specific CD4+ T helper type 2 T lymphocytes do not promote recovery from experimental virus infection. J Exp Med 180:1273-1282.
- Grunberg K, Sharon RF, Hiltermann TJ, Brahim JJ, Dick EC, Sterk PJ, Van Krieken JH (2000) Experimental rhinovirus 16 infection increases intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression in bronchial epithelium of asthmatics regardless of inhaled steroid treatment. Clin Exp Allergy 30:1015-1023.
- Gunst SJ, Tang DD, Opazo Saez A (2003) Cytoskeletal remodeling of the airway smooth muscle cell: a mechanism for adaptation to mechanical forces in the lung. Respir Physiol Neurobiol 137:151-168.
- Gunzer M, Riemann H, Basoglu Y, Hillmer A, Weishaupt C, Balkow S, Benninghoff B, Ernst B, Steinert M, Scholzen T, Sunderkotter C, Grabbe S (2005) Systemic administration of a TLR7 ligand leads to transient immune incompetence due to peripheral-blood leukocyte depletion. Blood 106:2424-2432.
- Gupta AK, Browne M, Bluhm R (2002) Imiquimod: a review. J Cutan Med Surg 6:554-560.
- Halayko AJ, Amrani Y (2003) Mechanisms of inflammation-mediated airway smooth muscle plasticity and airways remodeling in asthma. Respir Physiol Neurobiol 137:209-222.

- Haldar P, Brightling CE, Hargadon B, Gupta S, Monteiro W, Sousa A, Marshall RP, Bradding P, Green RH, Wardlaw AJ, Pavord ID (2009) Mepolizumab and exacerbations of refractory eosinophilic asthma. N Engl J Med 360:973-984.
- Hall IP, Hill SJ (1988) Beta-adrenoceptor stimulation inhibits histamine-stimulated inositol phospholipid hydrolysis in bovine tracheal smooth muscle. Br J Pharmacol 95:1204-1212.
- Hall IP, Widdop S, Townsend P, Daykin K (1992) Control of cyclic AMP levels in primary cultures of human tracheal smooth muscle cells. Br J Pharmacol 107:422-428.
- Hamad AM, Clayton A, Islam B, Knox AJ (2003) Guanylyl cyclases, nitric oxide, natriuretic peptides, and airway smooth muscle function. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 285:L973-983.
- Hammadi A, Billard C, Faussat AM, Kolb JP (2008) Stimulation of iNOS expression and apoptosis resistance in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B-CLL) cells through engagement of Toll-like receptor 7 (TLR-7) and NF-kappaB activation. Nitric Oxide 19:138-145.
- Harrison LI, Skinner SL, Marbury TC, Owens ML, Kurup S, McKane S, Greene RJ (2004) Pharmacokinetics and safety of imiquimod 5% cream in the treatment of actinic keratoses of the face, scalp, or hands and arms. Arch Dermatol Res 296:6-11.
- Hartney JM, Coggins KG, Tilley SL, Jania LA, Lovgren AK, Audoly LP, Koller BH
 (2006) Prostaglandin E2 protects lower airways against bronchoconstriction.
 Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 290:L105-113.

- Hashimoto C, Hudson KL, Anderson KV (1988) The Toll gene of Drosophila, required for dorsal-ventral embryonic polarity, appears to encode a transmembrane protein. Cell 52:269-279.
- Hattermann K, Picard S, Borgeat M, Leclerc P, Pouliot M, Borgeat P (2007) The Tolllike receptor 7/8-ligand resiquimod (R-848) primes human neutrophils for leukotriene B4, prostaglandin E2 and platelet-activating factor biosynthesis.
 FASEB J 21:1575-1585.
- Haughney J, Price D, Kaplan A, Chrystyn H, Horne R, May N, Moffat M, Versnel J, Shanahan ER, Hillyer EV, Tunsater A, Bjermer L (2008) Achieving asthma control in practice: understanding the reasons for poor control. Respir Med 102:1681-1693.
- Haynes LM, Moore DD, Kurt-Jones EA, Finberg RW, Anderson LJ, Tripp RA (2001) Involvement of toll-like receptor 4 in innate immunity to respiratory syncytial virus. J Virol 75:10730-10737.
- Hazeki K, Nigorikawa K, Hazeki O (2007) Role of phosphoinositide 3-kinase in innate immunity. Biol Pharm Bull 30:1617-1623.
- Heer AK, Shamshiev A, Donda A, Uematsu S, Akira S, Kopf M, Marsland BJ (2007) TLR signaling fine-tunes anti-influenza B cell responses without regulating effector T cell responses. J Immunol 178:2182-2191.
- Heib V, Becker M, Warger T, Rechtsteiner G, Tertilt C, Klein M, Bopp T, Taube C,
 Schild H, Schmitt E, Stassen M (2007) Mast cells are crucial for early
 inflammation, migration of Langerhans cells, and CTL responses following
 topical application of TLR7 ligand in mice. Blood 110:946-953.

- Heil F, Hemmi H, Hochrein H, Ampenberger F, Kirschning C, Akira S, Lipford G,
 Wagner H, Bauer S (2004) Species-specific recognition of single-stranded
 RNA via toll-like receptor 7 and 8. Science 303:1526-1529.
- Heil F, Ahmad-Nejad P, Hemmi H, Hochrein H, Ampenberger F, Gellert T, Dietrich H,
 Lipford G, Takeda K, Akira S, Wagner H, Bauer S (2003) The Toll-like receptor
 7 (TLR7)-specific stimulus loxoribine uncovers a strong relationship within
 the TLR7, 8 and 9 subfamily. Eur J Immunol 33:2987-2997.
- Hemmi H, Kaisho T, Takeda K, Akira S (2003) The roles of Toll-like receptor 9, MyD88, and DNA-dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit in the effects of two distinct CpG DNAs on dendritic cell subsets. J Immunol 170:3059-3064.
- Hemmi H, Kaisho T, Takeuchi O, Sato S, Sanjo H, Hoshino K, Horiuchi T, Tomizawa H, Takeda K, Akira S (2002) Small anti-viral compounds activate immune cells via the TLR7 MyD88-dependent signaling pathway. Nat Immunol 3:196-200.
- Hertzen LC (1998) The hygiene hypothesis in the development of atopy and asthma--still a matter of controversy? QJM 91:767-771.
- Hiemstra PS (2001) Epithelial antimicrobial peptides and proteins: their role in host defence and inflammation. Paediatr Respir Rev 2:306-310.
- Hiratsuka T, Nakazato M, Date Y, Ashitani J, Minematsu T, Chino N, Matsukura S (1998) Identification of human beta-defensin-2 in respiratory tract and plasma and its increase in bacterial pneumonia. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 249:943-947.
- Hirshman CA, Emala CW (1999) Actin reorganization in airway smooth muscle cells involves Gq and Gi-2 activation of Rho. Am J Physiol 277:L653-661.

218

Hirst SJ (2003) Regulation of airway smooth muscle cell immunomodulatory

function: role in asthma. Respir Physiol Neurobiol 137:309-326.

Holgate ST (2008) Pathogenesis of asthma. Clin Exp Allergy 38:872-897.

- Holgate ST, Lackie PM, Howarth PH, Roche WR, Puddicombe SM, Richter A, Wilson SJ, Holloway JW, Davies DE (2001) Invited lecture: activation of the epithelial mesenchymal trophic unit in the pathogenesis of asthma. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 124:253-258.
- Horne R, Price D, Cleland J, Costa R, Covey D, Gruffydd-Jones K, Haughney J, Henrichsen SH, Kaplan A, Langhammer A, Ostrem A, Thomas M, van der Molen T, Virchow JC, Williams S (2007) Can asthma control be improved by understanding the patient's perspective? BMC Pulm Med 7:8.
- Hornung V, Guenthner-Biller M, Bourquin C, Ablasser A, Schlee M, Uematsu S,
 Noronha A, Manoharan M, Akira S, de Fougerolles A, Endres S, Hartmann G
 (2005) Sequence-specific potent induction of IFN-alpha by short interfering
 RNA in plasmacytoid dendritic cells through TLR7. Nat Med 11:263-270.
- Hoshino K, Kaisho T, Iwabe T, Takeuchi O, Akira S (2002) Differential involvement of IFN-beta in Toll-like receptor-stimulated dendritic cell activation. Int Immunol 14:1225-1231.
- Ichinohe T, Pang IK, Iwasaki A (2010) Influenza virus activates inflammasomes via its intracellular M2 ion channel. Nat Immunol 11:404-410.
- Iwasaki A, Medzhitov R (2004) Toll-like receptor control of the adaptive immune responses. Nat Immunol 5:987-995.

Jacoby DB (2002) Virus-induced asthma attacks. JAMA 287:755-761.

- Jacoby DB, Fryer AD (2001) Anticholinergic therapy for airway diseases. Life Sci 68:2565-2572.
- Jacoby DB, Gleich GJ, Fryer AD (1993) Human eosinophil major basic protein is an endogenous allosteric antagonist at the inhibitory muscarinic M2 receptor. J Clin Invest 91:1314-1318.
- Jacoby DB, Tamaoki J, Borson DB, Nadel JA (1988) Influenza infection causes airway hyperresponsiveness by decreasing enkephalinase. J Appl Physiol 64:2653-2658.
- Jacoby DB, Xiao HQ, Lee NH, Chan-Li Y, Fryer AD (1998) Virus- and interferoninduced loss of inhibitory M2 muscarinic receptor function and gene expression in cultured airway parasympathetic neurons. J Clin Invest 102:242-248.
- Jacoby DB, Yost BL, Kumaravel B, Chan-Li Y, Xiao HQ, Kawashima K, Fryer AD (2001) Glucocorticoid treatment increases inhibitory m(2) muscarinic receptor expression and function in the airways. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 24:485-491.
- Janeway CA, Jr., Medzhitov R (2002) Innate immune recognition. Annu Rev Immunol 20:197-216.
- Janke M, Poth J, Wimmenauer V, Giese T, Coch C, Barchet W, Schlee M, Hartmann G (2009) Selective and direct activation of human neutrophils but not eosinophils by Toll-like receptor 8. J Allergy Clin Immunol 123:1026-1033.
- Jeffery PK (1995) Structural, immunologic, and neural elements if the normal human airway wall. Boston: Blackwell Scientific Publications.

- Jeffery PK (2001) Remodeling in asthma and chronic obstructive lung disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 164:S28-38.
- Johnston SL, Martin RJ (2005) Chlamydophila pneumoniae and Mycoplasma pneumoniae: a role in asthma pathogenesis? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 172:1078-1089.
- Johnston SL, Pattemore PK, Sanderson G, Smith S, Lampe F, Josephs L, Symington P, O'Toole S, Myint SH, Tyrrell DA, et al. (1995) Community study of role of viral infections in exacerbations of asthma in 9-11 year old children. BMJ 310:1225-1229.
- Johnston SL, Pattemore PK, Sanderson G, Smith S, Campbell MJ, Josephs LK, Cunningham A, Robinson BS, Myint SH, Ward ME, Tyrrell DA, Holgate ST (1996) The relationship between upper respiratory infections and hospital admissions for asthma: a time-trend analysis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 154:654-660.
- Jurk M, Kritzler A, Schulte B, Tluk S, Schetter C, Krieg AM, Vollmer J (2006) Modulating responsiveness of human TLR7 and 8 to small molecule ligands with T-rich phosphorothiate oligodeoxynucleotides. Eur J Immunol 36:1815-1826.
- Jurk M, Heil F, Vollmer J, Schetter C, Krieg AM, Wagner H, Lipford G, Bauer S (2002) Human TLR7 or TLR8 independently confer responsiveness to the antiviral compound R-848. Nat Immunol 3:499.
- Kadowaki N, Ho S, Antonenko S, Malefyt RW, Kastelein RA, Bazan F, Liu YJ (2001) Subsets of human dendritic cell precursors express different toll-like

receptors and respond to different microbial antigens. J Exp Med 194:863-869.

- Kalia MP (1987) Organization of central control of airways. Annu Rev Physiol 49:595-609.
- Kamm KE, Stull JT (1985) Myosin phosphorylation, force, and maximal shortening velocity in neurally stimulated tracheal smooth muscle. Am J Physiol 249:C238-247.
- Kamm KE, Stull JT (1986) Activation of smooth muscle contraction: relation between myosin phosphorylation and stiffness. Science 232:80-82.
- Kang TJ, Chae GT (2001) Detection of Toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) mutation in the lepromatous leprosy patients. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 31:53-58.
- Kariyawasam HH, Robinson DS (2006) The eosinophil: the cell and its weapons, the cytokines, its locations. Semin Respir Crit Care Med 27:117-127.
- Kawai T, Akira S (2006) Innate immune recognition of viral infection. Nat Immunol 7:131-137.
- Kawai T, Akira S (2010) The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on Toll-like receptors. Nat Immunol 11:373-384.
- Kay AB (2005) The role of eosinophils in the pathogenesis of asthma. Trends Mol Med 11:148-152.
- Kesler BS, Canning BJ (1999) Regulation of baseline cholinergic tone in guinea-pig airway smooth muscle. J Physiol 518 (Pt 3):843-855.

- Kesler BS, Mazzone SB, Canning BJ (2002) Nitric oxide-dependent modulation of smooth-muscle tone by airway parasympathetic nerves. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 165:481-488.
- Kim HY, DeKruyff RH, Umetsu DT (2010) The many paths to asthma: phenotype shaped by innate and adaptive immunity. Nat Immunol 11:577-584.
- Kim YM, Brinkmann MM, Paquet ME, Ploegh HL (2008) UNC93B1 delivers nucleotide-sensing toll-like receptors to endolysosomes. Nature 452:234-238.
- Knaus HG, McManus OB, Lee SH, Schmalhofer WA, Garcia-Calvo M, Helms LM,
 Sanchez M, Giangiacomo K, Reuben JP, Smith AB, 3rd, et al. (1994)
 Tremorgenic indole alkaloids potently inhibit smooth muscle highconductance calcium-activated potassium channels. Biochemistry 33:58195828.
- Kono T, Kondo S, Pastore S, Shivji GM, Tomai MA, McKenzie RC, Sauder DN (1994) Effects of a novel topical immunomodulator, imiquimod, on keratinocyte cytokine gene expression. Lymphokine Cytokine Res 13:71-76.
- Korsgren M, Erjefalt JS, Korsgren O, Sundler F, Persson CG (1997) Allergic eosinophil-rich inflammation develops in lungs and airways of B celldeficient mice. J Exp Med 185:885-892.
- Krug A, Luker GD, Barchet W, Leib DA, Akira S, Colonna M (2004) Herpes simplex virus type 1 activates murine natural interferon-producing cells through tolllike receptor 9. Blood 103:1433-1437.

- Krzanowski JJ, Urdaneta-Bohorquez A, Polson JB, Sakamoto Y, Szentivanyi A (1987) Effects of adenosine and theophylline on canine tracheal smooth muscle tone. Arch Int Pharmacodyn Ther 287:224-236.
- Kulka M, Alexopoulou L, Flavell RA, Metcalfe DD (2004) Activation of mast cells by double-stranded RNA: evidence for activation through Toll-like receptor 3. J Allergy Clin Immunol 114:174-182.
- Kumar RK, Foster PS (2002) Modeling allergic asthma in mice: pitfalls and opportunities. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 27:267-272.
- Kume H, Graziano MP, Kotlikoff MI (1992) Stimulatory and inhibitory regulation of calcium-activated potassium channels by guanine nucleotide-binding proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89:11051-11055.
- Kume H, Takai A, Tokuno H, Tomita T (1989) Regulation of Ca2+-dependent K+channel activity in tracheal myocytes by phosphorylation. Nature 341:152-154.
- Kume H, Hall IP, Washabau RJ, Takagi K, Kotlikoff MI (1994) Beta-adrenergic agonists regulate KCa channels in airway smooth muscle by cAMP-dependent and -independent mechanisms. J Clin Invest 93:371-379.
- Lambley JE, Smith AP (1975) The effects of arachidonic acid, indomethacin and SC-19220 on guinea-pig tracheal muscle tone. Eur J Pharmacol 30:148-153.
- Lan T, Kandimalla ER, Yu D, Bhagat L, Li Y, Wang D, Zhu F, Tang JX, Putta MR, Cong Y, Trombino AF, Sullivan T, Agrawal S (2007) Stabilized immune modulatory RNA compounds as agonists of Toll-like receptors 7 and 8. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:13750-13755.

- Larche M, Robinson DS, Kay AB (2003) The role of T lymphocytes in the pathogenesis of asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 111:450-463; quiz 464.
- Leckie MJ, ten Brinke A, Khan J, Diamant Z, O'Connor BJ, Walls CM, Mathur AK, Cowley HC, Chung KF, Djukanovic R, Hansel TT, Holgate ST, Sterk PJ, Barnes PJ (2000) Effects of an interleukin-5 blocking monoclonal antibody on eosinophils, airway hyper-responsiveness, and the late asthmatic response. Lancet 356:2144-2148.
- Lee J, Chuang TH, Redecke V, She L, Pitha PM, Carson DA, Raz E, Cottam HB (2003) Molecular basis for the immunostimulatory activity of guanine nucleoside analogs: activation of Toll-like receptor 7. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:6646-6651.
- Lee JJ, McGarry MP, Farmer SC, Denzler KL, Larson KA, Carrigan PE, Brenneise IE, Horton MA, Haczku A, Gelfand EW, Leikauf GD, Lee NA (1997) Interleukin-5 expression in the lung epithelium of transgenic mice leads to pulmonary changes pathognomonic of asthma. J Exp Med 185:2143-2156.
- Lee JJ, Dimina D, Macias MP, Ochkur SI, McGarry MP, O'Neill KR, Protheroe C, Pero R, Nguyen T, Cormier SA, Lenkiewicz E, Colbert D, Rinaldi L, Ackerman SJ, Irvin CG, Lee NA (2004) Defining a link with asthma in mice congenitally deficient in eosinophils. Science 305:1773-1776.
- Lee LY, Kou YR, Frazier DT, Beck ER, Pisarri TE, Coleridge HM, Coleridge JC (1989) Stimulation of vagal pulmonary C-fibers by a single breath of cigarette smoke in dogs. J Appl Physiol 66:2032-2038.

- Lee SW, Wang HZ, Zhao W, Ney P, Brink PR, Christ GJ (1999) Prostaglandin E1 activates the large-conductance KCa channel in human corporal smooth muscle cells. Int J Impot Res 11:189-199.
- Lemaitre B, Nicolas E, Michaut L, Reichhart JM, Hoffmann JA (1996) The dorsoventral regulatory gene cassette spatzle/Toll/cactus controls the potent antifungal response in Drosophila adults. Cell 86:973-983.
- Lemanske RF, Jr., Dick EC, Swenson CA, Vrtis RF, Busse WW (1989) Rhinovirus upper respiratory infection increases airway hyperreactivity and late asthmatic reactions. J Clin Invest 83:1-10.
- Lemiere C, Ernst P, Olivenstein R, Yamauchi Y, Govindaraju K, Ludwig MS, Martin JG, Hamid Q (2006) Airway inflammation assessed by invasive and noninvasive means in severe asthma: eosinophilic and noneosinophilic phenotypes. J Allergy Clin Immunol 118:1033-1039.
- Li CG, Rand MJ (1991) Evidence that part of the NANC relaxant response of guineapig trachea to electrical field stimulation is mediated by nitric oxide. Br J Pharmacol 102:91-94.
- Li D, Wang D, Griffiths-Johnson DA, Wells TN, Williams TJ, Jose PJ, Jeffery PK (1997) Eotaxin protein and gene expression in guinea-pig lungs: constitutive expression and upregulation after allergen challenge. Eur Respir J 10:1946-1954.
- Liu T, Xu ZZ, Park CK, Berta T, Ji RR (2010) Toll-like receptor 7 mediates pruritus. Nat Neurosci 13:1460-1462.

- Lorenz E, Mira JP, Frees KL, Schwartz DA (2002) Relevance of mutations in the TLR4 receptor in patients with gram-negative septic shock. Arch Intern Med 162:1028-1032.
- Lou YP, Lee LY, Satoh H, Lundberg JM (1993) Postjunctional inhibitory effect of the NK2 receptor antagonist, SR 48968, on sensory NANC bronchoconstriction in the guinea-pig. Br J Pharmacol 109:765-773.
- Lund J, Sato A, Akira S, Medzhitov R, Iwasaki A (2003) Toll-like receptor 9-mediated recognition of Herpes simplex virus-2 by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J Exp Med 198:513-520.
- Lund JM, Alexopoulou L, Sato A, Karow M, Adams NC, Gale NW, Iwasaki A, Flavell RA (2004) Recognition of single-stranded RNA viruses by Toll-like receptor 7. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:5598-5603.
- Lundberg JM, Saria A, Brodin E, Rosell S, Folkers K (1983) A substance P antagonist inhibits vagally induced increase in vascular permeability and bronchial smooth muscle contraction in the guinea pig. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 80:1120-1124.
- Ma Y, Li J, Chiu I, Wang Y, Sloane JA, Lu J, Kosaras B, Sidman RL, Volpe JJ, Vartanian T (2006) Toll-like receptor 8 functions as a negative regulator of neurite outgrowth and inducer of neuronal apoptosis. J Cell Biol 175:209-215.
- Maggi CA, Patacchini R, Rovero P, Santicioli P (1991) Tachykinin receptors and noncholinergic bronchoconstriction in the guinea-pig isolated bronchi. Am Rev Respir Dis 144:363-367.

- Mallia P, Johnston SL (2002) Respiratory viruses: do they protect from or induce asthma? Allergy 57:1118-1129.
- Mallia P, Contoli M, Caramori G, Pandit A, Johnston SL, Papi A (2007) Exacerbations of asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD): focus on virus induced exacerbations. Curr Pharm Des 13:73-97.
- Malm-Erjefalt M, Persson CG, Erjefalt JS (2001) Degranulation status of airway tissue eosinophils in mouse models of allergic airway inflammation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 24:352-359.
- Mansson A, Cardell LO (2009) Role of atopic status in Toll-like receptor (TLR)7- and TLR9-mediated activation of human eosinophils. J Leukoc Biol 85:719-727.
- Mapp CE, Boschetto P, Maestrelli P, Fabbri LM (2005) Occupational asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 172:280-305.
- Marsh BJ, Stenzel-Poore MP (2008) Toll-like receptors: novel pharmacological targets for the treatment of neurological diseases. Curr Opin Pharmacol 8:8-13.
- Martin JG, Ramos-Barbon D (2003) Airway smooth muscle growth from the perspective of animal models. Respir Physiol Neurobiol 137:251-261.
- Martin TR, Gerard NP, Galli SJ, Drazen JM (1988) Pulmonary responses to bronchoconstrictor agonists in the mouse. J Appl Physiol 64:2318-2323.
- Martinez J, Huang X, Yang Y Toll-like receptor 8-mediated activation of murine plasmacytoid dendritic cells by vaccinia viral DNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:6442-6447.

- Martinez J, Huang X, Yang Y (2010) Toll-like receptor 8-mediated activation of murine plasmacytoid dendritic cells by vaccinia viral DNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:6442-6447.
- Maruno K, Absood A, Said SI (1995) VIP inhibits basal and histamine-stimulated proliferation of human airway smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol 268:L1047-1051.
- Masoli M, Fabian D, Holt S, Beasley R (2004) The global burden of asthma: executive summary of the GINA Dissemination Committee report. Allergy 59:469-478.
- Matsumoto M, Funami K, Tanabe M, Oshiumi H, Shingai M, Seto Y, Yamamoto A, Seya T (2003) Subcellular localization of Toll-like receptor 3 in human dendritic cells. J Immunol 171:3154-3162.
- Matsuzaki Y, Hamasaki Y, Said SI (1980) Vasoactive intestinal peptide: a possible transmitter of nonadrenergic relaxation of guinea pig airways. Science 210:1252-1253.
- McParland BE, Macklem PT, Pare PD (2003) Airway wall remodeling: friend or foe? J Appl Physiol 95:426-434.

Medzhitov R (2010) Innate immunity: quo vadis? Nat Immunol 11:551-553.

- Medzhitov R, Preston-Hurlburt P, Janeway CA, Jr. (1997) A human homologue of the Drosophila Toll protein signals activation of adaptive immunity. Nature 388:394-397.
- Meier A, Alter G, Frahm N, Sidhu H, Li B, Bagchi A, Teigen N, Streeck H, Stellbrink HJ, Hellman J, van Lunzen J, Altfeld M (2007) MyD88-dependent immune

activation mediated by human immunodeficiency virus type 1-encoded Tolllike receptor ligands. J Virol 81:8180-8191.

- Mendis S, Fukino K, Cameron A, Laing R, Filipe A, Jr., Khatib O, Leowski J, Ewen M (2007) The availability and affordability of selected essential medicines for chronic diseases in six low- and middle-income countries. Bull World Health Organ 85:279-288.
- Meurs H, McKay S, Maarsingh H, Hamer MA, Macic L, Molendijk N, Zaagsma J (2002) Increased arginase activity underlies allergen-induced deficiency of cNOSderived nitric oxide and airway hyperresponsiveness. Br J Pharmacol 136:391-398.
- Michel O, Kips J, Duchateau J, Vertongen F, Robert L, Collet H, Pauwels R, Sergysels R (1996) Severity of asthma is related to endotoxin in house dust. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 154:1641-1646.
- Minor TE, Dick EC, Baker JW, Ouellette JJ, Cohen M, Reed CE (1976) Rhinovirus and influenza type A infections as precipitants of asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 113:149-153.
- Mitchell HW (1987) Electromechanical effects of tetraethylammonium and K+ on histamine-induced contraction in pig isolated tracheal smooth muscle. Lung 165:129-142.
- Mohty M, Vialle-Castellano A, Nunes JA, Isnardon D, Olive D, Gaugler B (2003) IFNalpha skews monocyte differentiation into Toll-like receptor 7-expressing dendritic cells with potent functional activities. J Immunol 171:3385-3393.

- Moisan J, Camateros P, Thuraisingam T, Marion D, Koohsari H, Martin P, Boghdady ML, Ding A, Gaestel M, Guiot MC, Martin JG, Radzioch D (2006) TLR7 ligand prevents allergen-induced airway hyperresponsiveness and eosinophilia in allergic asthma by a MYD88-dependent and MK2-independent pathway. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 290:L987-995.
- Moller-Larsen S, Nyegaard M, Haagerup A, Vestbo J, Kruse TA, Borglum AD (2008) Association analysis identifies TLR7 and TLR8 as novel risk genes in asthma and related disorders. Thorax 63:1064-1069.
- Moreau R, Hurst AM, Lapointe JY, Lajeunesse D (1996) Activation of maxi-K channels by parathyroid hormone and prostaglandin E2 in human osteoblast bone cells. J Membr Biol 150:175-184.
- Mosser AG, Brockman-Schneider R, Amineva S, Burchell L, Sedgwick JB, Busse WW, Gern JE (2002) Similar frequency of rhinovirus-infectible cells in upper and lower airway epithelium. J Infect Dis 185:734-743.
- Mounkaila B, Marthan R, Roux E (2005) Biphasic effect of extracellular ATP on human and rat airways is due to multiple P2 purinoceptor activation. Respir Res 6:143.
- Mullershausen F, Lange A, Mergia E, Friebe A, Koesling D (2006) Desensitization of NO/cGMP signaling in smooth muscle: blood vessels versus airways. Mol Pharmacol 69:1969-1974.
- Mundell SJ, Olah ME, Panettieri RA, Benovic JL, Penn RB (2001) Regulation of G protein-coupled receptor-adenylyl cyclase responsiveness in human airway

smooth muscle by exogenous and autocrine adenosine. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 24:155-163.

- Murray RK, Kotlikoff MI (1991) Receptor-activated calcium influx in human airway smooth muscle cells. J Physiol 435:123-144.
- Murray RK, Fleischmann BK, Kotlikoff MI (1993) Receptor-activated Ca influx in human airway smooth muscle: use of Ca imaging and perforated patch-clamp techniques. Am J Physiol 264:C485-490.
- Murray TC, Jacoby DB (1992) Viral infection increases contractile but not secretory responses to substance P in ferret trachea. J Appl Physiol 72:608-611.
- Nagase H, Okugawa S, Ota Y, Yamaguchi M, Tomizawa H, Matsushima K, Ohta K, Yamamoto K, Hirai K (2003) Expression and function of Toll-like receptors in eosinophils: activation by Toll-like receptor 7 ligand. J Immunol 171:3977-3982.
- Nair P, Pizzichini MM, Kjarsgaard M, Inman MD, Efthimiadis A, Pizzichini E, Hargreave FE, O'Byrne PM (2009) Mepolizumab for prednisone-dependent asthma with sputum eosinophilia. N Engl J Med 360:985-993.
- Nakajima S (1966) Analysis of K inactivation and TEA action in the supramedullary cells of puffer. J Gen Physiol 49:629-640.

Nakazawa H, Sekizawa K, Morikawa M, Yamauchi K, Satoh M, Maeyama K, Watanabe T, Sasaki H (1994) Viral respiratory infection causes airway hyperresponsiveness and decreases histamine N-methyltransferase activity in guinea pigs. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 149:1180-1185.

- Napolitani G, Rinaldi A, Bertoni F, Sallusto F, Lanzavecchia A (2005) Selected Tolllike receptor agonist combinations synergistically trigger a T helper type 1polarizing program in dendritic cells. Nat Immunol 6:769-776.
- Nassenstein C, Schulte-Herbruggen O, Renz H, Braun A (2006) Nerve growth factor: the central hub in the development of allergic asthma? Eur J Pharmacol 533:195-206.
- Nicholson KG, Kent J, Ireland DC (1993) Respiratory viruses and exacerbations of asthma in adults. BMJ 307:982-986.
- Nie Z, Nelson CS, Jacoby DB, Fryer AD (2007) Expression and regulation of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 on airway parasympathetic nerves. J Allergy Clin Immunol 119:1415-1422.
- Nishimura M, Naito S (2005) Tissue-specific mRNA expression profiles of human toll-like receptors and related genes. Biol Pharm Bull 28:886-892.
- Nishimura M, Naito S (2007) Tissue-specific mRNA expression profiles of human carbohydrate sulfotransferase and tyrosylprotein sulfotransferase. Biol Pharm Bull 30:821-825.
- O'Donnell SR, Saar N, Wood LJ (1978) The density of adrenergic nerves at various levels in the guinea-pig lung. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 5:325-332.
- O'Sullivan SM (2005) Asthma death, CD8+ T cells, and viruses. Proc Am Thorac Soc 2:162-165.
- Ogunbiyi PO, Black WD, Eyre P (1988) Parainfluenza-3 virus-induced enhancement of histamine release from calf lung mast cells--effect of levamisole. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 11:338-344.

- Oh EJ, Mazzone SB, Canning BJ, Weinreich D (2006) Reflex regulation of airway sympathetic nerves in guinea-pigs. J Physiol 573:549-564.
- Ollerenshaw SL, Jarvis D, Sullivan CE, Woolcock AJ (1991) Substance P immunoreactive nerves in airways from asthmatics and nonasthmatics. Eur Respir J 4:673-682.
- Olson JK, Miller SD (2004) Microglia initiate central nervous system innate and adaptive immune responses through multiple TLRs. J Immunol 173:3916-3924.
- Palladino MA, Bahjat FR, Theodorakis EA, Moldawer LL (2003) Anti-TNF-alpha therapies: the next generation. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2:736-746.
- Panettieri RA, Murray RK, DePalo LR, Yadvish PA, Kotlikoff MI (1989) A human airway smooth muscle cell line that retains physiological responsiveness. Am J Physiol 256:C329-335.
- Papadopoulos NG, Bates PJ, Bardin PG, Papi A, Leir SH, Fraenkel DJ, Meyer J, Lackie PM, Sanderson G, Holgate ST, Johnston SL (2000) Rhinoviruses infect the lower airways. J Infect Dis 181:1875-1884.
- Papadopoulos NG et al. (2007) Mechanisms of virus-induced asthma exacerbations: state-of-the-art. A GA2LEN and InterAirways document. Allergy 62:457-470.
- Papi A, Johnston SL (1999) Respiratory epithelial cell expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and its up-regulation by rhinovirus infection via NFkappaB and GATA transcription factors. J Biol Chem 274:30041-30051.

- Parry DE, Busse WW, Sukow KA, Dick CR, Swenson C, Gern JE (2000) Rhinovirusinduced PBMC responses and outcome of experimental infection in allergic subjects. J Allergy Clin Immunol 105:692-698.
- Paul WE, Zhu J (2010) How are T(H)2-type immune responses initiated and amplified? Nat Rev Immunol 10:225-235.
- Pauwels RA, Pedersen S, Busse WW, Tan WC, Chen YZ, Ohlsson SV, Ullman A, Lamm CJ, O'Byrne PM (2003) Early intervention with budesonide in mild persistent asthma: a randomised, double-blind trial. Lancet 361:1071-1076.
- Peden DB (2001) Air pollution in asthma: effect of pollutants on airway inflammation. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 87:12-17.
- Penn RB, Pascual RM, Kim YM, Mundell SJ, Krymskaya VP, Panettieri RA, Jr., Benovic JL (2001) Arrestin specificity for G protein-coupled receptors in human airway smooth muscle. J Biol Chem 276:32648-32656.
- Perez JF, Sanderson MJ (2005) The frequency of calcium oscillations induced by 5-HT, ACH, and KCl determine the contraction of smooth muscle cells of intrapulmonary bronchioles. J Gen Physiol 125:535-553.
- Petrilli V, Papin S, Dostert C, Mayor A, Martinon F, Tschopp J (2007) Activation of the NALP3 inflammasome is triggered by low intracellular potassium concentration. Cell Death Differ 14:1583-1589.
- Phipps S, Lam CE, Mahalingam S, Newhouse M, Ramirez R, Rosenberg HF, Foster PS, Matthaei KI (2007) Eosinophils contribute to innate antiviral immunity and promote clearance of respiratory syncytial virus. Blood 110:1578-1586.
Pinhal-Enfield G, Ramanathan M, Hasko G, Vogel SN, Salzman AL, Boons GJ,

Leibovich SJ (2003) An angiogenic switch in macrophages involving synergy between Toll-like receptors 2, 4, 7, and 9 and adenosine A(2A) receptors. Am J Pathol 163:711-721.

- Preuss JM, Goldie RG (1999) Muscarinic cholinoceptor subtypes mediating tracheal smooth muscle contraction and inositol phosphate generation in guinea pig and rat. Eur J Pharmacol 372:269-277.
- Proskocil BJ, Bruun DA, Lorton JK, Blensly KC, Jacoby DB, Lein PJ, Fryer AD (2008) Antigen sensitization influences organophosphorus pesticide-induced airway hyperreactivity. Environ Health Perspect 116:381-388.
- Quarcoo D, Weixler S, Joachim RA, Stock P, Kallinich T, Ahrens B, Hamelmann E (2004) Resiquimod, a new immune response modifier from the family of imidazoquinolinamines, inhibits allergen-induced Th2 responses, airway inflammation and airway hyper-reactivity in mice. Clin Exp Allergy 34:1314-1320.
- Quirk C, Gebauer K, De'Ambrosis B, Slade HB, Meng TC (2010) Sustained clearance of superficial basal cell carcinomas treated with imiquimod cream 5%: results of a prospective 5-year study. Cutis 85:318-324.
- Reiter MJ, Testerman TL, Miller RL, Weeks CE, Tomai MA (1994) Cytokine induction in mice by the immunomodulator imiquimod. J Leukoc Biol 55:234-240.
- Richardson J, Beland J (1976) Nonadrenergic inhibitory nervous system in human airways. J Appl Physiol 41:764-771.

- Robinson DS, North J, Zeibecoglou K, Ying S, Meng Q, Rankin S, Hamid Q, Tavernier J, Kay AB (1999) Eosinophil development and bone marrow and tissue eosinophils in atopic asthma. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 118:98-100.
- Rodrigo GJ, Rodrigo C (2000) First-line therapy for adult patients with acute asthma receiving a multiple-dose protocol of ipratropium bromide plus albuterol in the emergency department. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 161:1862-1868.
- Roffel AF, Elzinga CR, Zaagsma J (1990) Muscarinic M3 receptors mediate contraction of human central and peripheral airway smooth muscle. Pulm Pharmacol 3:47-51.
- Roponen M, Yerkovich ST, Hollams E, Sly PD, Holt PG, Upham JW Toll-like receptor 7 function is reduced in adolescents with asthma. Eur Respir J 35:64-71.
- Roponen M, Yerkovich ST, Hollams E, Sly PD, Holt PG, Upham JW (2010) Toll-like receptor 7 function is reduced in adolescents with asthma. Eur Respir J 35:64-71.
- Salerno L, Sorrenti V, Di Giacomo C, Romeo G, Siracusa MA (2002) Progress in the development of selective nitric oxide synthase (NOS) inhibitors. Curr Pharm Des 8:177-200.
- Samb A, Pretolani M, Dinh-Xuan AT, Ouksel H, Callebert J, Lisdero C, Aubier M, Boczkowski J (2001) Decreased pulmonary and tracheal smooth muscle expression and activity of type 1 nitric oxide synthase (nNOS) after ovalbumin immunization and multiple aerosol challenge in guinea pigs. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 164:149-154.

- Sanderson MJ, Delmotte P, Bai Y, Perez-Zogbhi JF (2008) Regulation of airway smooth muscle cell contractility by Ca2+ signaling and sensitivity. Proc Am Thorac Soc 5:23-31.
- Savage P, Horton V, Moore J, Owens M, Witt P, Gore ME (1996) A phase I clinical trial of imiquimod, an oral interferon inducer, administered daily. Br J Cancer 74:1482-1486.
- Sawatzky DA, Kingham PJ, Court E, Kumaravel B, Fryer AD, Jacoby DB, McLean WG, Costello RW (2002) Eosinophil adhesion to cholinergic nerves via ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 and associated eosinophil degranulation. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 282:L1279-1288.
- Scheel O, Papavlassopoulos M, Blunck R, Gebert A, Hartung T, Zahringer U, Seydel U, Schromm AB (2006) Cell activation by ligands of the toll-like receptor and interleukin-1 receptor family depends on the function of the largeconductance potassium channel MaxiK in human macrophages. Infect Immun 74:4354-4356.
- Scheinfeld N (2005) Omalizumab: a recombinant humanized monoclonal IgEblocking antibody. Dermatol Online J 11:2.
- Schon MP, Schon M, Klotz KN (2006) The small antitumoral immune response modifier imiquimod interacts with adenosine receptor signaling in a TLR7and TLR8-independent fashion. J Invest Dermatol 126:1338-1347.
- Sears MR, Greene JM, Willan AR, Wiecek EM, Taylor DR, Flannery EM, Cowan JO, Herbison GP, Silva PA, Poulton R (2003) A longitudinal, population-based,

cohort study of childhood asthma followed to adulthood. N Engl J Med 349:1414-1422.

- Sel S, Wegmann M, Bauer S, Garn H, Alber G, Renz H (2007) Immunomodulatory effects of viral TLR ligands on experimental asthma depend on the additive effects of IL-12 and IL-10. J Immunol 178:7805-7813.
- Seymour ML, Gilby N, Bardin PG, Fraenkel DJ, Sanderson G, Penrose JF, Holgate ST, Johnston SL, Sampson AP (2002) Rhinovirus infection increases 5lipoxygenase and cyclooxygenase-2 in bronchial biopsy specimens from nonatopic subjects. J Infect Dis 185:540-544.
- Sharma S, Sharma SC (1997) An update on eicosanoids and inhibitors of cyclooxygenase enzyme systems. Indian J Exp Biol 35:1025-1031.
- Sin DD, Man J, Sharpe H, Gan WQ, Man SF (2004) Pharmacological management to reduce exacerbations in adults with asthma: a systematic review and metaanalysis. JAMA 292:367-376.
- Singh AM, Busse WW (2006) Asthma exacerbations. 2: aetiology. Thorax 61:809-816.
- Sly PD, Boner AL, Bjorksten B, Bush A, Custovic A, Eigenmann PA, Gern JE, Gerritsen J, Hamelmann E, Helms PJ, Lemanske RF, Martinez F, Pedersen S, Renz H, Sampson H, von Mutius E, Wahn U, Holt PG (2008) Early identification of atopy in the prediction of persistent asthma in children. Lancet 372:1100-1106.

- Smith N, Broadley KJ (2008) Adenosine receptor subtypes in the airways responses to 5'-adenosine monophosphate inhalation of sensitized guinea-pigs. Clin Exp Allergy 38:1536-1547.
- Smith PG, Garcia R, Kogerman L (1997) Strain reorganizes focal adhesions and cytoskeleton in cultured airway smooth muscle cells. Exp Cell Res 232:127-136.
- Sokol CL, Barton GM, Farr AG, Medzhitov R (2008) A mechanism for the initiation of allergen-induced T helper type 2 responses. Nat Immunol 9:310-318.
- Somlyo AP, Somlyo AV (2003) Ca2+ sensitivity of smooth muscle and nonmuscle myosin II: modulated by G proteins, kinases, and myosin phosphatase. Physiol Rev 83:1325-1358.
- Spaner DE, Miller RL, Mena J, Grossman L, Sorrenti V, Shi Y (2005) Regression of lymphomatous skin deposits in a chronic lymphocytic leukemia patient treated with the Toll-like receptor-7/8 agonist, imiquimod. Leuk Lymphoma 46:935-939.

Stephens NL (2001) Airway smooth muscle. Lung 179:333-373.

- Stewart AG, Fennessy MR (1986) Characterization of substance P-induced bronchoconstriction in the guinea-pig: a comparison with acetylcholine. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 13:223-232.
- Stokes JR, Sorkness RL, Kaplan MR, Castleman WL, Tomai MA, Miller RL, Lemanske RF, Jr. (1998) Attenuation of virus-induced airway dysfunction in rats treated with imiquimod. Eur Respir J 11:324-329.

- Su Y, Zhang Z, Trautmann K, Xu S, Schluesener HJ (2005) TLR and NOD2 ligands induce cell proliferation in the rat intact spinal cord. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 64:991-997.
- Sukkar MB, Xie S, Khorasani NM, Kon OM, Stanbridge R, Issa R, Chung KF (2006) Toll-like receptor 2, 3, and 4 expression and function in human airway smooth muscle. J Allergy Clin Immunol 118:641-648.
- Takeuchi O, Kawai T, Muhlradt PF, Morr M, Radolf JD, Zychlinsky A, Takeda K, Akira S (2001) Discrimination of bacterial lipoproteins by Toll-like receptor 6. Int Immunol 13:933-940.
- Takeuchi O, Sato S, Horiuchi T, Hoshino K, Takeda K, Dong Z, Modlin RL, Akira S (2002) Cutting edge: role of Toll-like receptor 1 in mediating immune response to microbial lipoproteins. J Immunol 169:10-14.
- Tal G, Mandelberg A, Dalal I, Cesar K, Somekh E, Tal A, Oron A, Itskovich S, Ballin A, Houri S, Beigelman A, Lider O, Rechavi G, Amariglio N (2004) Association between common Toll-like receptor 4 mutations and severe respiratory syncytial virus disease. J Infect Dis 189:2057-2063.
- Tamaoki J, Chiyotani A, Takeyama K, Yamauchi F, Tagaya E, Konno K (1993) Relaxation and inhibition of contractile response to electrical field stimulation by Beraprost sodium in canine airway smooth muscle. Prostaglandins 45:363-373.
- Theofilopoulos AN, Baccala R, Beutler B, Kono DH (2005) Type I interferons (alpha/beta) in immunity and autoimmunity. Annu Rev Immunol 23:307-336.

- Tliba O, Amrani Y (2008) Airway smooth muscle cell as an inflammatory cell: lessons learned from interferon signaling pathways. Proc Am Thorac Soc 5:106-112.
- Tomai MA, Gibson SJ, Imbertson LM, Miller RL, Myhre PE, Reiter MJ, Wagner TL, Tamulinas CB, Beaurline JM, Gerster JF, et al. (1995) Immunomodulating and antiviral activities of the imidazoquinoline S-28463. Antiviral Res 28:253-264.
- Triantafilou K, Orthopoulos G, Vakakis E, Ahmed MA, Golenbock DT, Lepper PM, Triantafilou M (2005) Human cardiac inflammatory responses triggered by Coxsackie B viruses are mainly Toll-like receptor (TLR) 8-dependent. Cell Microbiol 7:1117-1126.
- Tumurkhuu G, Koide N, Dagvadorj J, Noman AS, Khuda, II, Naiki Y, Komatsu T, Yoshida T, Yokochi T (2009) B1 cells produce nitric oxide in response to a series of toll-like receptor ligands. Cell Immunol 261:122-127.
- Uehara A, Fujimoto Y, Fukase K, Takada H (2007) Various human epithelial cells express functional Toll-like receptors, NOD1 and NOD2 to produce antimicrobial peptides, but not proinflammatory cytokines. Mol Immunol 44:3100-3111.
- Vandenbulcke L, Bachert C, Van Cauwenberge P, Claeys S (2006) The innate immune system and its role in allergic disorders. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 139:159-165.
- Verbout NG, Lorton JK, Jacoby DB, Fryer AD (2007) Atropine pretreatment enhances airway hyperreactivity in antigen-challenged guinea pigs through an

242

eosinophil-dependent mechanism. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 292:L1126-1135.

- Verbout NG, Jacoby DB, Gleich GJ, Fryer AD (2009) Atropine-enhanced, antigen challenge-induced airway hyperreactivity in guinea pigs is mediated by eosinophils and nerve growth factor. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 297:L228-237.
- Volpe P, Alderson-Lang BH (1990) Regulation of inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphateinduced Ca2+ release. II. Effect of cAMP-dependent protein kinase. Am J Physiol 258:C1086-1091.
- Wang J, Shao Y, Bennett TA, Shankar RA, Wightman PD, Reddy LG (2006a) The functional effects of physical interactions among Toll-like receptors 7, 8, and
 9. J Biol Chem 281:37427-37434.
- Wang JP, Bowen GN, Padden C, Cerny A, Finberg RW, Newburger PE, Kurt-Jones EA (2008) Toll-like receptor-mediated activation of neutrophils by influenza A virus. Blood 112:2028-2034.
- Wang L, McParland BE, Pare PD (2003) The functional consequences of structural changes in the airways: implications for airway hyperresponsiveness in asthma. Chest 123:356S-362S.
- Wang R, Town T, Gokarn V, Flavell RA, Chandawarkar RY (2006b) HSP70 enhances macrophage phagocytosis by interaction with lipid raft-associated TLR-7 and upregulating p38 MAPK and PI3K pathways. J Surg Res 136:58-69.

Ward JK, Barnes PJ, Springall DR, Abelli L, Tadjkarimi S, Yacoub MH, Polak JM, Belvisi MG (1995) Distribution of human i-NANC bronchodilator and nitric oxide-immunoreactive nerves. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 13:175-184.

- Wark PA, Johnston SL, Bucchieri F, Powell R, Puddicombe S, Laza-Stanca V, Holgate
 ST, Davies DE (2005) Asthmatic bronchial epithelial cells have a deficient
 innate immune response to infection with rhinovirus. J Exp Med 201:937947.
- West JB (2000) Respiratory physiology : the essentials, 6th Edition. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Widdop S, Daykin K, Hall IP (1993) Expression of muscarinic M2 receptors in cultured human airway smooth muscle cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 9:541-546.
- Wilson CN (2008) Adenosine receptors and asthma in humans. Br J Pharmacol 155:475-486.
- Witt PL, Ritch PS, Reding D, McAuliffe TL, Westrick L, Grossberg SE, Borden EC (1993) Phase I trial of an oral immunomodulator and interferon inducer in cancer patients. Cancer Res 53:5176-5180.
- Wong CK, Cheung PF, Ip WK, Lam CW (2007) Intracellular signaling mechanisms regulating toll-like receptor-mediated activation of eosinophils. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 37:85-96.
- Word RA, Tang DC, Kamm KE (1994) Activation properties of myosin light chain kinase during contraction/relaxation cycles of tonic and phasic smooth muscles. J Biol Chem 269:21596-21602.

- Xirakia C, Koltsida O, Stavropoulos A, Thanassopoulou A, Aidinis V, Sideras P,
 Andreakos E (2010) Toll-like receptor 7-triggered immune response in the
 lung mediates acute and long-lasting suppression of experimental asthma.
 Am J Respir Crit Care Med 181:1207-1216.
- Yamaki F, Kaga M, Horinouchi T, Tanaka H, Koike K, Shigenobu K, Toro L, Tanaka Y (2001) MaxiK channel-mediated relaxation of guinea-pig aorta following stimulation of IP receptor with beraprost via cyclic AMP-dependent and independent mechanisms. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 364:538-550.
- Yamamoto M, Sato S, Hemmi H, Hoshino K, Kaisho T, Sanjo H, Takeuchi O, Sugiyama M, Okabe M, Takeda K, Akira S (2003) Role of adaptor TRIF in the MyD88independent toll-like receptor signaling pathway. Science 301:640-643.
- Yang CM, Yo YL, Hsieh JT, Ong R (1994) 5-Hydroxytryptamine receptor-mediated phosphoinositide hydrolysis in canine cultured tracheal smooth muscle cells. Br J Pharmacol 111:777-786.
- Yoshihara S, Nadel JA, Figini M, Emanueli C, Pradelles P, Geppetti P (1998) Endogenous nitric oxide inhibits bronchoconstriction induced by cold-air inhalation in guinea pigs: role of kinins. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 157:547-552.
- Yost BL, Gleich GJ, Jacoby DB, Fryer AD (2005) The changing role of eosinophils in long-term hyperreactivity following a single ozone exposure. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 289:L627-635.

- Zarember KA, Godowski PJ (2002) Tissue expression of human Toll-like receptors and differential regulation of Toll-like receptor mRNAs in leukocytes in response to microbes, their products, and cytokines. J Immunol 168:554-561.
- Zhu J, Lai K, Brownile R, Babiuk LA, Mutwiri GK (2008) Porcine TLR8 and TLR7 are both activated by a selective TLR7 ligand, imiquimod. Mol Immunol 45:3238-3243.
- Zimmermann N, King NE, Laporte J, Yang M, Mishra A, Pope SM, Muntel EE, Witte DP, Pegg AA, Foster PS, Hamid Q, Rothenberg ME (2003) Dissection of experimental asthma with DNA microarray analysis identifies arginase in asthma pathogenesis. J Clin Invest 111:1863-1874.